
OPERATIONS & ADMINISTRATIVE 
COMMITTEE AGENDA 

Called by:  Paul Arena, Chairman 
Members:  John Butitta, Valerie 
Hanserd, Joe Hoffman, Keith McDonald 

DATE: THURSDAY, NOVEMBER 20, 2025 
TIME: 5:30 PM 

Michael Thompson, Christina Valdez LOCATION:   ROOM 303 
COUNTY ADMINISTRATION BLDG 
404 ELM STREET 
ROCKFORD, IL 61101 

AGENDA: 

A. Call to Order

B. Roll Call

C. Approval of Minutes – November 6, 2025

D. Public Comment – This is the time we invite the public to address the Operations and
Administrative Committee with issues and concerns.  We ask you to limit your comments to
three minutes.  Personal attacks or inappropriate language of any sort will not be tolerated.  We
will allow a maximum of five speakers on a first come basis with sign up at the meeting.
Speakers may not address zoning matters which are pending before the ZBA, the Zoning
Committee or the County Board.  Personnel matters or pending or threatened litigation may not
be addressed in open session.  An individual may speak a maximum of three times per calendar
year on the same topic.  This prohibition shall include the repetition of the same topic in a
statement on what is purported to be a different topic.  After acknowledgment by the chair,
please stand and state your name.  Thank you.

E. Resolution Awarding Renewal with Tokio Marine HCC for Stop-Loss Insurance Coverage on
the Group Medical Plans

F. Resolution Awarding Renewal Agreement with Arthur J. Gallagher for the Property and
Casualty Coverage

G. Resolution Awarding Purchase of Recorder’s Office Remodel Using Fee Funds

H. Resolution Awarding IT Ticketing and Patch Management 3 Year Renewal

I. Ordinance Amending Section 62-242 (Claim Settlement Policies) of the Winnebago County
Code of Ordinances

J. Discussion Item: Regional Board of Education

K. Update: Rural Transit



L. Discussion Item: Raffle

M. Other Matters

N. Future Agenda Items

O. Adjournment



 

 Page 1  
  

Winnebago County Board 
Operations and Administrative Committee Meeting 

County Administration Building 
404 Elm Street, Room 303 

Rockford, IL 61101 
 

Thursday, November 6, 2025 
5:30 PM 

 
Present: Others Present: 
Paul Arena, Chairperson 
Valerie Hanserd, Vice Chairperson (via Zoom) 
Michael Thompson  
Ray Thompson (Sub for John Butitta) 
Christina Valdez 
 
Absent: 
John Butitta 
Joe Hoffman 
Keith McDonald  

Patrick Thompson, County Administrator 
Steve Schultz, Chief Financial Officer 
Lafakeria Reuter, State’s Attorney’s Office 
Chris Dornbush, Chief Operations Officer 
Dan Magers, Chief Information Officer 
Tom Lawson, Chief Deputy Circuit Clerk 
Gus Gentner, August Consulting Company 
John Giliberti, State’s Attorney’s Office 
Chris Petrus, PC/Server Specialist, IT Dept. 
Slade Berry, ESDA Coordinator, (arrived at 5:50 pm) 
Steven McMaster, Resident of Winnebago County 

  
AGENDA:   

A. Call to Order  
B. Roll Call 
C. Approval of Minutes –October 23, 2025 
D. Public Comment – This is the time we invite the public to address the Operations and 

Administrative Committee with issues and concerns.  We ask you to limit your comments 
to three minutes.  Personal attacks or inappropriate language of any sort will not be tolerated.  
We will allow a maximum of five speakers on a first-come basis with sign-up at the meeting.  
Speakers may not address zoning matters which are pending before the ZBA, the Zoning 
Committee, or the County Board.  Personnel matters or pending or threatened litigation may 
not be addressed in open session.  An individual may speak a maximum of three times per 
calendar year on the same topic. This prohibition shall include the repetition of the same 
topic in a statement on what is purported to be a different topic.  After acknowledgment by 
the chair, please stand and state your name.  Thank you.  

E. Resolution Awarding Bids for Paper Goods, Liners & Chemical Products Countywide    
F. Resolution Awarding Purchase of Two Replacement Vehicles for the Winnebago County 

Sheriff’s Department using CIP 2026 Funds  
      Cost: $101,903 
G. Resolution Awarding Replacement of Current E-Citation Software  
H. Resolution Authorizing the Winnebago County Board Chairman to Execute An 

Intergovernmental Agreement For A Communication Tower By and Between The County 
Of Winnebago And The City of Rockford 

I. Resolution Authorizing a Space Needs Analysis for Winnebago County Governmental 
Operations 

J. Resolution Authorizing the County Board Chairman to Execute a Release of Lien for the 
Property Located at 5343 Cunningham Rd., Rockford, IL 

K. Discussion Item: Countywide Siren Program 
L. Other Matters  
M. Future Agenda Items 



 

 Page 2  
  

N. Adjournment 
 

Chairperson Arena called the meeting to order at 5:30 PM. 
 

Roll Call 
Chairperson Arena, yes; Dr. Thompson, yes; Ms. Valdez, yes; Mr. Thompson, yes. (Sub for Mr. 
Butitta)   
 
Chairperson Arena called for a motion to include board member Ms. Hanserd in the meeting via 
Zoom. 
Motion: Ms. Valdez.  Second: Dr. Thompson. 
Chairperson Arena called for a vote to include Ms. Hanserd in the meeting. 
The motion was passed by a unanimous voice vote. 
Ms. Hanserd was welcomed to the meeting. 
 
A quorum is present. 
 
Approval of Minutes – October 23, 2025 
Chairperson Arena called for a motion to approve the minutes of October 23, 2025. 
Motion: Ms. Valdez.  Second: Dr. Thompson. 
Chairperson Arena called for a vote to approve the minutes. 
The motion was passed by a unanimous voice vote. 
 
Public Comment 
Chairperson Arena read the Public Comment Section of the Agenda.  Mr. McMaster, a resident of 
Winnebago County, was present and introduced himself to address the committee on the importance 
of the First Amendment.  
 

Resolution Awarding Bids for Paper Goods, Liners & Chemical Products Countywide  
Motion: Chairperson Arena.  Second: Ms. Valdez. 
Mr. Patrick Thompson reviewed the details of the resolution. 
Chairperson Arena called for any questions or concerns. 

• A discussion followed. 
Chairperson Arena called for any other questions. 
Chairperson Arena called for a vote to approve the resolution. 
The motion to approve the resolution was passed by a unanimous voice vote. 
 

Resolution Awarding Purchase of Two Replacement Vehicles for the Winnebago County 
Sheriff’s Department using CIP 2026 Funds  
Cost: $101,903 
Motion: Chairperson Arena.  Second: Dr. Thompson. 
Mr. Patrick Thompson reviewed the resolution and called for any questions. 

• A discussion followed. 
Chairperson Arena called for any further discussion. 
Chairperson Arena called for a vote to approve the resolution.  
The motion to approve the resolution was passed by a unanimous voice vote. 
 
Resolution Awarding Replacement of Current E-Citation Software 
Motion: Chairperson Arena.  Second: Ms. Valdez. 
Mr. Patrick Thompson reviewed the resolution.  Mr. Lawson provided an overview of the E-
Citation software. 



 

 Page 3  
  

Chairperson Arena called for any questions or concerns. 
• A discussion followed. 

Chairperson Arena called for any other questions. 
Chairperson Arena called for a vote to approve the resolution.  
The motion to approve the resolution was passed by a unanimous voice vote. 
 
Resolution Authorizing the Winnebago County Board Chairman to Execute An 
Intergovernmental Agreement For A Communication Tower By and Between The County Of 
Winnebago And The City of Rockford 
Motion: Chairperson Arena.  Second: Ms. Valdez. 
Mr. Patrick Thompson provided details about the resolution. 
Chairperson Arena called for any questions or concerns. 

• A discussion followed. 
Chairperson Arena called for any other questions. 
Chairperson Arena called for a vote to approve the resolution.  
The motion to approve the resolution was passed by a unanimous voice vote. 
 
Resolution Authorizing a Space Needs Analysis for Winnebago County Governmental 
Operations 
Motion: Chairperson Arena.  Second: Ms. Valdez. 
Mr. Patrick Thompson provided details about the resolution.  Chairperson Arena shared additional 
information. 
Chairperson Arena called for any questions or concerns. 

• A discussion followed. 
Chairperson Arena called for a vote to approve the resolution.  
The motion to approve the resolution was passed by a unanimous voice vote. 
 
Resolution Authorizing the County Board Chairman to Execute a Release of Lien for the 
Property Located at 5343 Cunningham Rd., Rockford, IL 
Motion: Chairperson Arena.  Second: Ms. Valdez. 
Mr. Patrick Thompson provided details about the resolution.  Mr. Giliberti shared additional 
information. 
Chairperson Arena called for any questions or concerns. 
Chairperson Arena called for a vote to approve the resolution.  
The motion to approve the resolution was passed by a unanimous voice vote. 
 
Discussion Item: Countywide Siren Program 
Mr. Thompson directed committee members to the summary of siren locations. Additional 
documentation was provided to the committee. Mr. Berry and Mr. Dornbush reviewed the 
documentation of the siren program. 

• A discussion followed. 
Mr. Patrick Thompson will follow up with Chairman Chiarelli about cost-sharing with municipal 
partners. 
Chairperson Arena called for any other discussion.  
 
Other Matters 

• Capital Projects  
 
Future Agenda Items 
None reported. 
 



 

 Page 4  
  

Motion to Adjourn   
Chairperson Arena called for a motion to adjourn the meeting.   
Motion: Ms. Valdez.  Second: Dr. Thompson. 
A unanimous voice vote passed the motion to adjourn. 
The meeting was adjourned at 6:28 PM. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Nancy Bleile 
Executive Assistant 



Resolution Executive Summary

Human Resources  |  404 Elm St, Rm 220, Rockford, IL 61101  

Phone: (815) 319- 4285  |  Fax: (815) 319-4286   

Prepared By: Human Resources Department 

Committee: Operations and Administration 

Committee Date: November 20, 2025 

Resolution Title: Resolution Awarding Renewal with Tokio Marine HCC for Stop-Loss Insurance
Coverage on the Group Medical Plans 

Board Meeting Date:  November 25, 2025 

Budget Information: 

Was item budgeted?  Yes  Appropriation Amount:  Approx. $1,745,0000 

If not, explain funding source: 

ORG/OBJ/Project Code:  48500  43171  Budget Impact:  $263,876 

Background Information:  Stop-loss insurance, also referred to as excess insurance, is a type of 
coverage purchased by employers that are self-insured to limit their liability in the event of large, 
unpredictable, or catastrophic health claims. 

Winnebago County purchases stop-loss coverage to limit the County’s risk on the group insurance 
plan, on a specific/individual basis.  We are increasing our specific/individual deductible from 
$200,000 to $225,000.  We are increasing the deductible to reduce the annual stop-loss premium 
cost.   

2026 Renewal:   The specific/individual premium is increasing to $61.96/month, the specific family 
premium is increasing to $226.54.  This is a 15.89% increase from the 2025 rates.   We currently 
have 7 stop loss claimants that have exceeded the $200,000 limit.     

Recommendation:  County Administrator, Patrick Thompson, Chief Financial Officer, Steve Schultz 
and Human Resources Director, Debbie Crozier, have reviewed the Stop Loss Renewal Offer 
(Resolution Exhibit A) and recommend approval. 

Contract/Agreement:   January 1, 2026 – December 31, 2026 

Follow-Up:   N/A 



County Board:  November 25, 2025 

R E S O L U T I O N 
of the 

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

Sponsored by:   Paul Arena  
Submitted by:   Operations and Administrative Committee 

2025 CR 

RESOLUTION AWARDING RENEWAL WITH TOKIO MARINE HCC FOR STOP-LOSS INSURANCE COVERAGE 
ON THE GROUP MEDICAL PLANS.  

WHEREAS, the County of Winnebago, Illinois, offers employees 2 self-funded group 
insurance options, a Co-Pay/POS plan and a High Deductible PPO plan; the County purchases a stop-
loss insurance plan to reinsure the County for medical claims which exceed the deductible amount 
on a specific (individual) basis; the County’s Benefit Consultant recommends continuation of Tokio 
Marine HCC (TMHCC) for 2026; and, 

WHEREAS, TMHCC has proposed the following rates to Winnebago County for the 
administration of the stop-loss coverage for 2026, see Resolution Exhibit A; and, 

Increasing the specific deductible from $200,000 to $225,000 
$61.96 for the Specific individual premium per month 

$226.54 for the Specific family premium per month 
This is a 15.89% increase from the 2025 rates. 

WHEREAS, the Operations and Administrative Committee of the County Board for the 
County of Winnebago, Illinois has reviewed the renewal and recommends that the County Board 
authorize execution of an agreement with TMHCC for the stop-loss coverage for the self-insured Co-
Pay/POS and HDHP medical plans for the year January 1, 2026 through December 31, 2026.  

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, by the County Board of the County of Winnebago, 
Illinois that the Winnebago County Board Chairman is hereby authorized to execute an agreement 
attached hereto as Resolution Exhibit A with Tokio Marine HCC, 11100 Wayzata Blvd., Suite 350, 
Minnetonka, MN 55305, for administration of the stop-loss coverage.   

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this Resolution shall be in full force and effective immediately 
upon its adoption and the Clerk of the County Board is hereby authorized to prepare and deliver 
certified copies of this Resolution to the Director of Purchasing, Director of Human Resources, 
County Auditor and the County Board Office. 



 

 

    Respectfully Submitted, 
OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 

AGREE  DISAGREE 
 
 
 

  

PAUL ARENA, CHAIR 
 
 

 PAUL ARENA, CHAIR 
 
 

VALERIE HANSERD 
 
 

 VALERIE HANSERD 
 

 
JOHN BUTITTA 
 
 

 JOHN BUTITTA 
 

JOE HOFFMAN 
 
 

 JOE HOFFMAN 
 

KEITH MCDONALD 
 
 

 KEITH MCDONALD 
 

MICHAEL THOMPSON 
 
 

 MICHAEL THOMPSON 
 

CHRISTINA VALDEZ  CHRISTINA VALDEZ 
 
The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this _____day of ___________________________2025. 

 
 

 
 
ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH CHIARELLI 
CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 

 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 
 
 

 



Resolution Exhibit A 

 
 

 
Stop Loss Analysis 

 

 
Winnebago County 

 
Jeanette Rowan | November 5, 2025 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 
$200,000 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Current Specific Stop Loss Deductible 



Current Deductible: Specific Stop Loss Marketing 
 

  Illustrative Quote Firm Quote Firm Quote Firm Quote Firm Quote 

  Expires No Date shown Expires 11/04/25 Expires 11/04/25 Expires 11/14/25 Expires 11/03/25 

Winnebago County (1101 Employees) Current Initial Renewal Renewal Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 

12 Month Policy Duration TMHCC TMHCC TMHCC TMHCC Sun Life (36/12) Voya (24/12) 

Specific Individual Stop Loss       

Contract Basis Paid Paid Paid Paid 36/12 24/12 

Run-in Limit No No No No No No 

Contract Includes Medical & Rx Medical & Rx Medical & Rx Medical & Rx Medical & Rx Medical & Rx 

Specific Deductible $200,000 $200,000 $200,000 $200,000 $200,000 $200,000 

Renewal Rate Cap 50% 50% 50% Yes 50% 50% 

No New Laser Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 

Proposed Lasers No No No Yes No Yes 

Laser 1    $450,000  $500,000 

Specific Annual Maximum Unlimited Unlimited Unlimited Unlimited Unlimited Unlimited 

Specific Lifetime Maximum Liability Unlimited Unlimited Unlimited Unlimited Unlimited Unlimited 

Aggregating Specific Stop Loss ($) $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

REINSURANCE COSTS 
      

Specific Premium       

Employee Only (541) $55.69 $79.62 $73.93 $69.06 $81.12 $70.47 

Employee + 1 (217) $193.33 $278.97 $259.02 $241.98 $237.64 $203.18 

Employee + 2 (or more) (343) $193.33 $278.97 $259.02 $241.98 $237.64 $203.18 

Monthly Reinsurance Total $138,393 $199,298 $185,047 $172,870 $176,964 $151,905 

Annual Reinsurance Total $1,660,717 $2,391,571 $2,220,568 $2,074,443 $2,123,572 $1,822,861 

Dollar Increase From Current N/A $730,854 $559,851 $413,726 $462,855 $162,144 

Percentage Increase From Current N/A 44.01% 33.71% 24.91% 27.87% 9.76% 

ADDITIONAL CLAIMS RISK 
      

Additional Laser Liability and Agg Spec $0 $0 $0 $250,000 $0 $300,000 

Total Dollar Increase From Current N/A $730,854 $559,851 $663,726 $462,855 $462,144 

Percentage Increase From Current N/A 44.01% 33.71% 39.97% 27.87% 27.83% 

©2025 ARTHUR J. GALLAGHER & CO. Initial Renewal 1/1/2026  Revised Renewal 1/1/2026 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 
From $200,000 To $225,000 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Alternate Specific Stop Loss Deductible 



Alternative Deductible: Specific Stop Loss Marketing 
 

  Firm Quote Firm Quote Firm Quote Firm Quote Firm Quote 

  Expires 11/04/25 Expires 11/04/25 Expires 11/04/25 Expires 11/14/25 Expires 11/03/25 

Winnebago County (1101 Employees) Current Renewal Alternate 1 Alternate 2 Alternate 3 Alternate 4 

12 Month Policy Duration TMHCC TMHCC TMHCC TMHCC Sun Life (36/12) Voya (24/12) 

Specific Individual Stop Loss       

Contract Basis Paid Paid Paid Paid 36/12 24/12 

Run-in Limit No No No No No No 

Contract Includes Medical & Rx Medical & Rx Medical & Rx Medical & Rx Medical & Rx Medical & Rx 

Specific Deductible $200,000 $200,000 $225,000 $225,000 $225,000 $225,000 

Renewal Rate Cap 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 

No New Laser Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 

Proposed Lasers No No No Yes No Yes 

Laser 1    $450,000  $500,000 

Specific Annual Maximum Unlimited Unlimited Unlimited Unlimited Unlimited Unlimited 

Specific Lifetime Maximum Liability Unlimited Unlimited Unlimited Unlimited Unlimited Unlimited 

Aggregating Specific Stop Loss ($) $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

REINSURANCE COSTS 
      

Specific Premium       

Employee Only (541) $55.69 $73.93 $61.96 $57.99 $72.69 $62.46 

Employee + 1 (217) $193.33 $259.02 $226.54 $212.02 $222.52 $180.31 

Employee + 2 (or more) (343) $193.33 $259.02 $226.54 $212.02 $222.52 $180.31 

Monthly Reinsurance Total $138,393 $185,047 $160,383 $150,104 $163,936 $134,764 

Annual Reinsurance Total $1,660,717 $2,220,568 $1,924,593 $1,801,245 $1,967,238 $1,617,174 

Dollar Increase From Current N/A $559,851 $263,876 $140,528 $306,521 -$43,544 

Percentage Increase From Current N/A 33.71% 15.89% 8.46% 18.46% -2.62% 

ADDITIONAL CLAIMS RISK 
      

Additional Laser Liability and Agg Spec $0 $0 $0 $225,000 $0 $275,000 

Total Dollar Increase From Current N/A $559,851 $263,876 $365,528 $306,521 $231,456 

Percentage Increase From Current N/A 33.71% 15.89% 22.01% 18.46% 13.94% 

©2025 ARTHUR J. GALLAGHER & CO. Moving to 1/1/2026 



 
 

 
Appendix 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



Stop Loss Marketing Activity Summary 
 

 

Carrier Name & Contract Type Line of Coverage Response Commission 

TMHCC Stop Loss Renewal 0.0% 

Sun Life (36/12) Stop Loss Quote Received 0.0% 

HM (24/12) Stop Loss Quote Received Not Competitive 0.0% 

Voya (24/12) Stop Loss Quote Received 0.0% 

BCBSIL (Paid) Stop Loss Quote Received 0.0% 

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

Declined to Quote Line of Coverage 
Reason for Decline 

(if applicable) 
Commission 

Optum Stop Loss Uncompetitive  

Wellpoint Stop Loss Uncompetitive  

BCS Stop Loss Uncompetitive  

Symetra Stop Loss Uncompetitive  

    

    

    

    

    

* While Gallagher does not guarantee the financial viability of any health insurance carrier or market, it is an area we recommend that clients closely scrutinize when selecting a health insurance 

carrier. There are a number of rating agencies that can be referred to including, A.M. Best, Fitch, Moody's, Standard & Poor's, and Weiss Ratings (The Street.com). Generally, agencies that provide ratings 

of Health Insurers, including traditional insurance companies and other managed care organizations, reflect their opinion based on a comprehensive quantitative and qualitative evaluation of a company's 

financial strength, operating performance and market profile. However, these ratings are not a warranty of an insurer's current or future ability to meet its contractual obligations. 

©2025 ARTHUR J. GALLAGHER & CO. 



Disclaimers 
 

 
This proposal is an outline of the coverages proposed by the carrier(s) based upon the information provided by your company. It does not include all the terms, coverages, 

exclusions, limitations, and conditions of the actual contract language. See the policies and contracts for actual language. This proposal is not a contract and offers no 

contractual obligation on behalf of GBS. Policy forms for your reference will be made available upon request. 

 
Renewal / Financial Disclaimer 

This analysis is for illustrative purposes only, and is not a proposal for coverage or a guarantee of future expenses, claims costs, managed care savings, etc. There are 

many variables that can affect future health care costs including utilization patterns, catastrophic claims, changes in plan design, health care trend increases, etc. This 

analysis does not amend, extend, or alter the coverage provided by the actual insurance policies and contracts. See your policy or contact us for specific information or 

further details in this regard. 

 
Legal 

The intent of this analysis is to provide you with general information regarding the status of, and/or potential concerns related to, your current employee benefits 

environment. It should not be construed as, nor is it intended to provide, legal advice. Laws may be complex and subject to change. This information is based on current 

interpretation of the law and is not guaranteed. Questions regarding specific issues should be addressed by legal counsel who specializes in this practice area. 

 
Financial Solvency 

While Gallagher does not guarantee the financial viability of any health insurance carrier or market, it is an area we recommend that clients closely scrutinize when 

selecting a health insurance carrier. There are a number of rating agencies that can be referred to including, A.M. Best, Fitch, Moody's, Standard & Poor's, and Weiss 

Ratings (The Street.com). Generally, agencies that provide ratings of Health Insurers, including traditional insurance companies and other managed care organizations, 

reflect their opinion based on a comprehensive quantitative and qualitative evaluation of a company's financial strength, operating performance and market profile. 

However, these ratings are not a warranty of an insurer's current or future ability to meet its contractual obligations. 

 
Supplemental Compensation 

Gallagher may receive supplemental compensation from insurance carriers and vendors, normally calculated at the end of each calendar year, that are contingent on a 

number of factors including the overall number of employer plans represented, plan retention rates, and overall premium growth. Historically, supplemental compensation 

has ranged, on average, between 0-3% based on specific carrier programs. These plans have no effect on premiums. Further, Gallagher may receive non-cash 

compensation from plan vendors or service providers that are not in connection with any particular client. If you have any questions regarding direct or indirect 

compensation received by Gallagher, please contact your dedicated Gallagher advisor or refer to the Gallagher Global Standards of Business Conduct 

(https://www.ajg.com/us/about-us/global-standards). 

©2025 ARTHUR J. GALLAGHER & CO. 

http://www.ajg.com/us/about-us/global-standards)


Resolution Executive Summary

Human Resources  |  404 Elm St, Rm 220, Rockford, IL 61101  |  www.wincoil.gov 

Phone: (815) 319- 4285  |  Fax: (815) 319-4286   

Prepared By:    Human Resources Department 

Committee:      Operations and Administration  

Committee Date:  November 20, 2025 

Resolution Title:     RESOLUTION AWARDING RENEWAL AGREEMENT WITH  

 ARTHUR J. GALLAGHER FOR THE PROPERTY AND CASUALTY COVERAGE 

Board Meeting Date:  November 25, 2025 

Budget Information: 

Was item budgeted?     No  Appropriation Amount: $2,742,909 

If not, explain funding source: 

ORG/OBJ/Project Code:  49400 43510     Budget Impact:    $142,661 

Background Information:  Winnebago County purchases insurance coverage to limit the County’s 
risk on the liability/casualty and property assets.  We received a 5.5% increase on the renewal for 
2025-2026, this increase is due to the following reasons: 

- Claims Activity/Development

o Recent property/auto/liability claims totaling $5.8 million

o Liability claim development exceeding $3.2 million

- Volatile Insurance Marketplace

o Fewer carriers insuring public entities

- Other Contributing Factors

o Civil Unrest

o Law Enforcement Activity

o Nuclear Verdicts Impacting Umbrella Premiums (most recently in Winnebago)

o Severe Losses from Convective Storms

- Mitigation of increase

o Multiple excess liability carriers considered resulting in $92,000 in savings with better terms

o Workers’ Compensation Rate reduction of 5.3%

o The impact of Winnebago County's claim activity was significantly mitigated due to the

pooling of risk with other members of the CIRMA pool.

Recommendation:  County Administrator, Patrick Thompson, Chief Financial Officer, Steve Schultz 
and Human Resources Director, Debbie Crozier, have reviewed the Property and Casualty Renewal 
Offer (Resolution Exhibit A) and recommend approval. 

Contract/Agreement:   This is year 5 agreement with CIRMA. 

Follow-Up:   N/A 

http://www.wincoil.gov/


County Board:  November 25, 2025 

R E S O L U T I O N 
of the 

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

Sponsored by:   Paul Arena 
Submitted by:   Operations and Administrative Committee 

2025 CR 

RESOLUTION AWARDING RENEWAL AGREEMENT WITH ARTHUR J. GALLAGHER FOR THE PROPERTY 
AND CASUALTY COVERAGE 

WHEREAS, the County of Winnebago, Illinois, each year adopts a Resolution which 
authorizes acceptance of the property and casualty insurance coverage; the County’s Insurance 
Broker, has extensively reviewed the County’s options for this coverage; and, 

WHEREAS, Arthur J. Gallagher & Co. has proposed the attached rates to Winnebago County 
for the property and casualty insurance coverage from December 1, 2025 thru November 30, 2026: 

See Resolution Exhibit A – Premium Summary Recap for Details. 

WHEREAS, the Operations and Administrative Committee of the County Board for the 
County of Winnebago, Illinois has reviewed agreement and recommends that the County Board 
authorize execution of an agreement with Arthur J Gallagher & Co. for the property and casualty 
insurance coverage for December 1, 2025 through November 30, 2026.  

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, by the County Board of the County of Winnebago, 
Illinois that the Winnebago County Board Chairman is hereby authorized to execute an agreement 
attached hereto as Resolution Exhibit A with Arthur J. Gallagher & Co., 6838 East State Street, Suite 
101, Rockford, IL 61108 for the property and casualty insurance coverage. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this Resolution shall be in full force and effective immediately 
upon its adoption and the Clerk of the County Board is hereby authorized to prepare and deliver 
certified copies of this Resolution to the Director of Purchasing, Director of Human Resources, 
County Auditor and the County Board Office. 



Respectfully Submitted, 
OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 

AGREE DISAGREE 

PAUL ARENA, CHAIR PAUL ARENA, CHAIR 

VALERIE HANSERD VALERIE HANSERD 

JOHN BUTITTA JOHN BUTITTA 

JOE HOFFMAN JOE HOFFMAN 

KEITH MCDONALD KEITH MCDONALD 

MICHAEL THOMPSON MICHAEL THOMPSON 

CHRISTINA VALDEZ CHRISTINA VALDEZ 

The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this _____day of ___________________________2025. 

ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH CHIARELLI 
CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

LORI GUMMOW

CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 



WINNEBAGO COUNTY 2025-26 RENEWAL Resolution Exhibit A

%
LINE OF COVERAGE Change

Property Premium
Primary: Lloyd's of 
London $802,711.00

Primary: Lloyd's of 
London $879,954.00 9.6%

 Excess Property Premium Travelers Indemnity Co $407,985.00 Travelers Indemnity Co $415,362.00 1.8%
 Boiler & Machinery Premium Hartford Steam Boiler $17,776.00 Hartford Steam Boiler $18,544.00 4.3%

Liability Package Premium Lloyd's of London Included in above Lloyd's of London Included in above

Automobile Premium Lloyd's of London Included in above Lloyd's of London Included in above

Umbrella/Excess (1st) Premium Old Republic Union Ins. $479,182.00 Obsidian Specialty Ins. $370,223.00 -22.7%
 Limit $8MM xs $2MM  Limit $8MM xs $2MM

 Administration Costs CIRMA $112,581.00 CIRMA $110,341.00 -2.0%
 Loss Fund CIRMA $222,500.00 CIRMA $362,000.00 62.7%

 CIRMA TOTAL $2,044,935.00 $2,158,624.00 5.6%

Umbrella/Excess (2nd) Premium Starstone Specialty $254,375.00 Starstone Specialty $270,000.00 6.1%
 Limit $3MM xs $10MM  Limit $3MM xs $10MM

Taxes $9,005.00 $9,558.00 6.1%

Crime Premium
Primary: Lloyd's of 
London Included in above

Primary: Lloyd's of 
London Included in above

Excess: Travelers 
Casualty & Surety Co. $2,200.00

Excess: Travelers Casualty 
& Surety Co. $2,200.00 0.0%

Professional Liability (Health 
Department Only) Premium

Columbia Casualty 
Company (CNA Insurance 
Companies) $29,750.00

Columbia Casualty 
Company (CNA Insurance 
Companies) $31,950.00 7.4%

Taxes $1,053.00 $1,131.03 7.4%

Excess Workers' Compensation Premium Illinois Public Risk Fund $178,989.00 Illinois Public Risk Fund $185,472.00 3.6%
Deductible $400K per claim Deductible $400K per claim 

 Administration Fee $5,370.00 $5,564.00 3.6%
Broker Fee - AJG $76,771.80 $80,610.39 5.0%
Total Estimated Program Cost $2,600,248.80 $2,742,909.42 5.5%

PREMIUM SUMMARY
EXPIRING PROGRAM RENEWAL PROGRAM

ESTIMATED COST ESTIMATED COST



Resolution Executive Summary 
For CIP Projects 

Prepared By: Purchasing Department on behalf of the County Clerk and Recorder 
Committee Name: Operations & Administrative Committee 
Committee Date: November 20, 2025 
Board Date:  November 25, 2025 
Resolution Title: Resolution Awarding Purchase of Recorder’s Office Remodel Using Fee 

Funds  
Budget Information 

Budgeted? YES   Amount Budgeted?  $200,000 
If not, originally budgeted, explain the funding source? N/A 
If CIP funded, original Board approved amount? $200,000 
Over or Under approved amount? UNDER        By: $40,300 
ORG/OBJ/Project Codes: 463020-40600    Descriptor: Recorder Fee Funds 
Budget Impact? $159,700 

 

Background Information: The County Clerk and Recorder is seeking to renovate and reconfigure 
their office space.  This renovation will help the flow of public traffic for the Recorder’s Office, 
update the office spaces for their staff and create an overall more functioning workspace. The 
project was submitted as CIP 2026 item and will be the funded by the Recorder’s Office Fee Funds. 

The Invitation to Bid was emailed to numerous potential bidders and local suppliers. It was also 
publicly advertised in the RRStar and on the County website.  The Pre-Bid Meeting was 
mandatory and we had twelve (12) attendees representing twelve (12) companies.  

The solicitation generated five (5) bids with the lowest responsible bidder established as Ringland-
Johnson Construction. See Resolution Exhibit A.  

See attached floor plans, See Resolution Exhibit B. 

Staff worked with the legal construction consultant provided through the States Attorney’s Office 
to further review and develop an AIA agreement for this project. See Resolution Exhibit C. 

Recommended By:  The Facilities Department and the Recorder’s Office 

Follow-Up Steps: Purchasing will prepare the Purchase Order to Ringland-Johnson Construction 
1725 Huntwood Drive, Cherry Valley, IL 61016 in the amount of $159,700. 



County Board Meeting: November 25, 2025 

R E S O L U T I O N 
of the 

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

Sponsored by:   Paul Arena 
Submitted by:  Operations and Administrative Committee 

2025 CR 

RESOLUTION AWARDING PURCHASE OF RECORDER’S OFFICE REMODEL USING FEE FUNDS 

WHEREAS, the Code of Ordinances for the County of Winnebago, Illinois, provides as in 
Section 2-357 (b) (1), Conditions for use. All procurements whose value equals or exceeds the 
competitive bidding threshold of $30,000 shall be awarded by competitive sealed bidding in 
accordance with this section except as otherwise provided in 2-357(c) (Request for Proposals), 2-
357(d) (Professional Services), 2-357(e) (Sole-Source), 2-357(f) (Emergency Procurements), 2-357 
(g) (Cooperative Joint Purchasing) or as provided by State statute; and,

WHEREAS, County Recorder is in of renovating the Recorders Office; and, 

WHEREAS, the County went out for Bid #25B-2426 Recorder Office Remodel 
Winnebago County Administration Building; and, 

WHEREAS, the Operations and Administrative Committee of the County Board for the 
County of Winnebago, Illinois has reviewed the Bid Tab (Resolution Exhibit A) for the 
aforementioned purchase and recommends awarding to:  

Ringland-Johnson Inc. 
1725 Huntwood Drive 
Cherry Valley, IL 61016 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the County Board of the County of 
Winnebago, Illinois, that the Director of Purchasing is authorized to issue a County 
Purchase Order, on behalf of the County of Winnebago, in the amount of $159,700 to 
Ringland-Johnson Construction 1725 Huntwood Drive, Cherry Valley, IL 61016 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be in full force and effective 
immediately upon its adoption and the Clerk of the County Board is hereby authorized to 
prepare and deliver certified copies of this Resolution to the States Attorney Office, Director 
of Purchasing, Finance Director, Facilities Director, County Clerk, County Board Office and 
County Auditor.   



Respectfully Submitted, 
 OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 

AGREE DISAGREE 

PAUL ARENA, CHAIR PAUL ARENA, CHAIR 

VALERIE HANSERD, VICE CHAIR VALERIE HANSERD, VICE CHAIR 

JOHN BUTITTA JOHN BUTITTA 

JOE HOFFMAN JOE HOFFMAN 

KEITH MCDONALD KEITH MCDONALD 

MICHAEL THOMPSON MICHAEL THOMPSON 

CHRISTINA VALDEZ CHRISTINA VALDEZ 

The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this _____day of ___________________________2025. 

ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH CHIARELLI 
CHAIR OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 



VENDOR NAME
ROCKFORD STURCTURES 

MACHESNEY PARK, IL

TILES IN STYLES DBA TAZA    

SOUTH HOLLAND, IL     

*Non-Responsive

DPI CONTRUCTION INC. 

PECATONICA, IL

RINGLAND-JOHNSON INC.  

CHERRY VALLEY, IL  

F.C.G. CONSTRUCTION CO

ELMHURST, IL     

*Non-Responsive

LABOR COSTS $44,260.00 $86,833.76 $71,767.00 $43,369.00 $20,999.15 

MATERIAL COSTS $50,217.00 $50,653.03 $43,328.00 $19,395.00 $83,966.60 

PERMIT COSTS $400.00 $2,500.00 $2,956.00 $1,054.00 $400.00 

OTHER INSTALLATION COSTS     

(i.e.: other than labor)
$49,143.00 $4,736.16 $36,245.00 $49,902.00 $31,799.58 

CARPET COSTS $48,980.00 INCLUDED IN MATERIALS $44,629.00 $45,980.00 $22,000.00 

TOTAL COST $193,000.00 $144,722.95 $198,925.00 $159,700.00 $159,165.33

NUMBER OF DAYS TO COMPLETE 60 DAYS 25 DAYS 90 DAYS 60 DAYS 6-7 WEEKS

BID TAB
25B-2426 RECORDER OFFICE REMODEL

BID OPENING - SEPTEMBER 4, 2025 AT 10:00 AM

Winnebago County Purchasing Department

404 Elm St, Rm 202, Rockford, IL 61101 | www.wincoil.gov

Phone: (815) 319- 4380 | Email: purchasing@purchasing.wincoil.gov



Breakroom

Office

Office

Office

1 2 3 4

5

6

7

8

Recorder's Office Proposed New Layout Resolution Exhibit B



   Document A101® – 2017 
Standard Form of Agreement Between Owner and Contractor where the basis of 
payment is a Stipulated Sum 
 

AIA Document A101 – 2017. Copyright © 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1967, 1974, 1977, 1987, 1991, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 09:59:24 CST on 01/14/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967f6) 

 
1 

 

ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS:  
The author of this document may 
have revised the text of the original 
AIA standard form. An Additions and 
Deletions Report that notes 
revisions to the standard form text is 
available from the author and should 
be reviewed. A vertical line in the left 
margin of this document indicates 
where the author has added to or 
deleted from the original AIA text. 

This document has important legal 
consequences. Consultation with an 
attorney is encouraged with respect 
to its completion or modification. 

The parties should complete 
A101®–2017, Exhibit A, Insurance 
and Bonds, contemporaneously with 
this Agreement. AIA Document 
A201®–2017, General Conditions of 
the Contract for Construction, is 
adopted in this document by 
reference. Do not use with other 
general conditions unless this 
document is modified. 

ELECTRONIC COPYING of any 
portion of this AIA®  Document to 
another electronic file is prohibited 
and constitutes a violation of 
copyright laws as set forth in the 
footer of this document. 

F 

AGREEMENT made as of the 25th day of  November in the year  2025  
(In words, indicate day, month and year.) 
 
BETWEEN the Owner: 
(Name, legal status, address and other information) 
 
Winnebago County             
404 Elm Street            
Rockford, Illinois 61101            
 
and the Contractor: 
(Name, legal status, address and other information) 
 
Ringland-Johnson, Inc.            
1725 Huntwood Drive            
Cherry Valley, Illinois 61016            
 
for the following Project: 
(Name, location and detailed description) 
 
Project of the County of Winnebago as identified in the Invitation for Bids No. 25B-2426 
(“Invitation for Bid”): 
Recorder Office Remodel            
404 Elm Street, Room 405            
Rockford, Illinois 61101            
 
The Architect: 
(Name, legal status, address and other information) 
 
N/A. See Article 4 of AIA Document A201-2017.           

 
The Owner and Contractor agree as follows. 
  

Resolution Exhibit C



AIA Document A101 – 2017. Copyright © 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1967, 1974, 1977, 1987, 1991, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 09:59:24 CST on 01/14/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967f6) 

 
2 

 

TABLE OF ARTICLES 
 
1      THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 
 
2      THE WORK OF THIS CONTRACT 
 
3      DATE OF COMMENCEMENT AND SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION 
 
4      CONTRACT SUM 
 
5      PAYMENTS 
 
6      DISPUTE RESOLUTION 
 
7      TERMINATION OR SUSPENSION 
 
8      MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
 
9      ENUMERATION OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 
 
EXHIBIT A    INSURANCE AND BONDS 
 
ARTICLE 1   THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 
The Contract Documents consist of this Agreement, Conditions of the Contract (General, Supplementary, and other 
Conditions), Drawings, Specifications, Addenda issued prior to execution of this Agreement, the documents contained within 
the Invitation for Bid, other documents listed in this Agreement, and Modifications issued after execution of this Agreement, 
all of which form the Contract, and are as fully a part of the Contract as if attached to this Agreement or repeated herein. The 
Contract represents the entire and integrated agreement between the parties hereto and supersedes prior negotiations, 
representations, or agreements, either written or oral. An enumeration of the Contract Documents, other than a Modification, 
appears in Article 9. 
 
ARTICLE 2   THE WORK OF THIS CONTRACT 
The Contractor shall fully execute the Work described in the Contract Documents, except as specifically indicated in the 
Contract Documents to be the responsibility of others. 
 
ARTICLE 3   DATE OF COMMENCEMENT AND SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION 
§ 3.1 The date of commencement of the Work shall be: 
(Check one of the following boxes.) 
 

[      X       ]      The date of this Agreement. 
 

[             ]      A date set forth in a notice to proceed issued by the Owner. 
 

[             ]      Established as follows: 
(Insert a date or a means to determine the date of commencement of the Work.) 

 
 
If a date of commencement of the Work is not selected, then the date of commencement shall be the date of this Agreement. 
 
§ 3.2 The Contract Time shall be measured from the date of commencement of the Work. 
 
§ 3.3 Substantial Completion 
§ 3.3.1 Subject to adjustments of the Contract Time as provided in the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall achieve 
Substantial Completion of the entire Work: 



AIA Document A101 – 2017. Copyright © 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1967, 1974, 1977, 1987, 1991, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 09:59:24 CST on 01/14/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967f6) 

 
3 

 

(Check one of the following boxes and complete the necessary information.) 
 

[             ]      Not later than             (             ) calendar days from the date of commencement of the Work. 
 

[     X        ]      By the following date:  February 26, 2026           
 
§ 3.3.2 Subject to adjustments of the Contract Time as provided in the Contract Documents, if portions of the Work are to be 
completed prior to Substantial Completion of the entire Work, the Contractor shall achieve Substantial Completion of such 
portions by the following dates: 
 

Portion of Work Substantial Completion Date 
N/A             

 
§ 3.3.3 If the Contractor fails to achieve Substantial Completion as provided in this Section 3.3, liquidated damages, if any, 
shall be assessed as set forth in Section 4.5. 
 
ARTICLE 4   CONTRACT SUM 
§ 4.1 The Owner shall pay the Contractor the Contract Sum in current funds for the Contractor’s performance of the Contract. 
The Contract Sum shall be  One Hundred Fifty Nine Thousand Seven Hundred Dollars($159,700 ), subject to additions and 
deductions as provided in the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 4.2 Alternates 
§ 4.2.1 Alternates, if any, included in the Contract Sum: 
 

Item Price 
 N/A  

 
§ 4.2.2 Subject to the conditions noted below, the following alternates may be accepted by the Owner following execution of 
this Agreement. Upon acceptance, the Owner shall issue a Modification to this Agreement. 
(Insert below each alternate and the conditions that must be met for the Owner to accept the alternate.) 
 

Item Price Conditions for Acceptance 
 N/A   

 
§ 4.3 Allowances, if any, included in the Contract Sum: 
(Identify each allowance.) 
 

Item Price 
 N/A  

 
§ 4.4 Unit prices, if any: 
(Identify the item and state the unit price and quantity limitations, if any, to which the unit price will be applicable.) 
 

Item Units and Limitations Price per Unit ($0.00) 
 N/A   

 
§ 4.5 Liquidated damages, if any: 
(Insert terms and conditions for liquidated damages, if any.) 
 
N/A 
 
§ 4.6 Other: 
(Insert provisions for bonus or other incentives, if any, that might result in a change to the Contract Sum.) 
 



AIA Document A101 – 2017. Copyright © 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1967, 1974, 1977, 1987, 1991, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 09:59:24 CST on 01/14/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967f6) 

 
4 

 

N/A 
 
ARTICLE 5   PAYMENTS 
§ 5.1 Progress Payments 
§ 5.1.1 Based upon Applications for Payment submitted to the Architect by the Contractor and Certificates for Payment issued 
by the Architect, the Owner shall make progress payments on account of the Contract Sum to the Contractor as provided 
below and elsewhere in the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 5.1.2 The period covered by each Application for Payment shall be one calendar month ending on the last day of the month, 
or as follows: 
 
 N/A           
 
§ 5.1.3 Provided that an Application for Payment is received by the Owner not later than the 3rd day of a month, the Owner 
shall make payment of the amount certified to the Contractor not later than 60 days after the Owner receives the Application 
for Payment, properly submitted with all supporting documentation as required by the Contract Documents. Except as 
otherwise expressly modified herein, all payments shall be made pursuant to the Local Government Prompt Payment Act, 50 
ILCS 505/1 et seq. 
(Federal, state or local laws may require payment within a certain period of time.) 
 
§ 5.1.4 Each Application for Payment shall be based on the most recent schedule of values submitted by the Contractor in 
accordance with the Contract Documents. The schedule of values shall allocate the entire Contract Sum among the various 
portions of the Work. The schedule of values shall be prepared in such form, and supported by such data to substantiate its 
accuracy, as the Architect may require. This schedule of values shall be used as a basis for reviewing the Contractor’s 
Applications for Payment. 
 
§ 5.1.5 Applications for Payment shall show the percentage of completion of each portion of the Work as of the end of the 
period covered by the Application for Payment. 
 
§ 5.1.6 In accordance with AIA Document A201™–2017, General Conditions of the Contract for Construction, and subject to 
other provisions of the Contract Documents, the amount of each progress payment shall be computed as follows: 
 
§ 5.1.6.1 The amount of each progress payment shall first include: 

.1      That portion of the Contract Sum properly allocable to completed Work; 

.2      That portion of the Contract Sum properly allocable to materials and equipment delivered and suitably stored at 
the site for subsequent incorporation in the completed construction, or, if approved in advance by the Owner, 
suitably stored off the site at a location agreed upon in writing; and 

.3      That portion of Construction Change Directives that the Architect determines, in the Architect’s professional 
judgment, to be reasonably justified. 

 
§ 5.1.6.2 The amount of each progress payment shall then be reduced by: 

.1      The aggregate of any amounts previously paid by the Owner; 

.2      The amount, if any, for Work that remains uncorrected and for which the Architect has previously withheld a 
Certificate for Payment as provided in Article 9 of AIA Document A201–2017; 

.3      Any amount for which the Contractor does not intend to pay a Subcontractor or material supplier, unless the 
Work has been performed by others the Contractor intends to pay; 

.4      For Work performed or defects discovered since the last payment application, any amount for which the 
Architect may withhold payment, or nullify a Certificate of Payment in whole or in part, as provided in Article 
9 of AIA Document A201–2017; and 

.5      Retainage withheld pursuant to Section 5.1.7. 
 
§ 5.1.7 Retainage 
§ 5.1.7.1 For each progress payment made prior to Substantial Completion of the Work, the Owner may withhold the following 
amount, as retainage, from the payment otherwise due: 
(Insert a percentage or amount to be withheld as retainage from each Application for Payment. The amount of retainage may 



AIA Document A101 – 2017. Copyright © 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1967, 1974, 1977, 1987, 1991, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 09:59:24 CST on 01/14/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967f6) 

 
5 

 

be limited by governing law.) 
 
 5%           
 
§ 5.1.7.1.1 The following items are not subject to retainage: 
(Insert any items not subject to the withholding of retainage, such as general conditions, insurance, etc.) 
 
Permits (if required), and General Conditions. 
§ 5.1.7.2 Reduction or limitation of retainage, if any, shall be as follows: 
(If the retainage established in Section 5.1.7.1 is to be modified prior to Substantial Completion of the entire Work, including 
modifications for Substantial Completion of portions of the Work as provided in Section 3.3.2, insert provisions for such 
modifications.) 
 
Once Work is 50% complete, retainage will be reduced to 2.5% 
 
§ 5.1.7.3 Except as set forth in this Section 5.1.7.3, upon Substantial Completion of the Work, the Contractor may submit an 
Application for Payment that includes the retainage withheld from prior Applications for Payment pursuant to this Section 
5.1.7. The Application for Payment submitted at Substantial Completion shall not include retainage as follows: 
(Insert any other conditions for release of retainage upon Substantial Completion.) 
 
 Upon Substantial Completion, all retainage shall be released less an amount equal to 150% of the estimated 
cost of any punch list items.           
 
§ 5.1.8 If final completion of the Work is materially delayed through no fault of the Contractor, the Owner shall pay the 
Contractor any additional amounts in accordance with Article 9 of AIA Document A201–2017. 
 
§ 5.1.9 Except with the Owner’s prior approval, the Contractor shall not make advance payments to suppliers for materials or 
equipment which have not been delivered and stored at the site. 
 
§ 5.2 Final Payment 
§ 5.2.1 Final payment, constituting the entire unpaid balance of the Contract Sum, shall be made by the Owner to the 
Contractor when 

.1      the Contractor has fully performed the Contract except for the Contractor’s responsibility to correct Work as 
provided in Article 12 of AIA Document A201–2017, and to satisfy other requirements, if any, which extend 
beyond final payment; and 

.2      a final Certificate for Payment has been issued by the Architect. 
 
§ 5.2.2 The Owner’s final payment to the Contractor shall be made no later than 30 days after the issuance of the Architect’s 
final Certificate for Payment, or as follows: 
 
 N/A           
 
§ 5.3 Interest 
Payments due that are not subject to dispute and are unpaid under the Contract shall bear interest in accordance with the Local 
Government Prompt Payment Act, 50 ILCS 505/1 et seq. 
(Insert rate of interest agreed upon, if any.) 
 
ARTICLE 6   DISPUTE RESOLUTION 
§ 6.1 Initial Decision Maker 
The Architect will serve as the Initial Decision Maker pursuant to Article 15 of AIA Document A201–2017, unless the parties 
appoint below another individual, not a party to this Agreement, to serve as the Initial Decision Maker. 
(If the parties mutually agree, insert the name, address and other contact information of the Initial Decision Maker, if other 
than the Architect.) 
 



AIA Document A101 – 2017. Copyright © 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1967, 1974, 1977, 1987, 1991, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 09:59:24 CST on 01/14/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967f6) 

 
6 

 

 A neutral third party as agreed upon by counsel of each Owner and Contractor.           
 
§ 6.2 Binding Dispute Resolution 
The method of binding dispute resolution shall be as follows: 
(Check the appropriate box.) 
 

[             ]      Arbitration pursuant to Section 15.4 of AIA Document A201–2017 
 

[     X        ]      Litigation in a court of competent jurisdiction 
 

[             ]      Other (Specify) 
 

            
 
If the Owner and Contractor do not select a method of binding dispute resolution, or do not subsequently agree in writing to a 
binding dispute resolution method other than litigation, Claims will be resolved by litigation in a court of competent 
jurisdiction. 
 
Jurisdiction for all purposes of this Agreement and all parties hereto shall be the laws of the State of Illinois and venue shall 
lie in Winnebago County, Illinois. 
 
ARTICLE 7   TERMINATION OR SUSPENSION 
§ 7.1 The Contract may be terminated by the Owner or the Contractor as provided in Article 14 of AIA Document A201–
2017. 
 
§ 7.1.1 If the Contract is terminated for the Owner’s convenience in accordance with Article 14 of AIA Document A201–2017, 
then the Owner shall pay the Contractor a termination fee as follows: 
(Insert the amount of, or method for determining, the fee, if any, payable to the Contractor following a termination for the 
Owner’s convenience.) 
 
N/A 
 
§ 7.2 The Work may be suspended by the Owner as provided in Article 14 of AIA Document A201–2017. 
 
ARTICLE 8   MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
§ 8.1 Where reference is made in this Agreement to a provision of AIA Document A201–2017 or another Contract Document, 
the reference refers to that provision as amended or supplemented by other provisions of the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 8.2 The Owner’s representative: 
(Name, address, email address, and other information) 
 
 Chris Dornbush           
 Chief Operating Officer           
 Winnebago County           
 404 Elm Street           
 Rockford, Illinois 61101           
 CDornbush@admin.wincoil.gov           
 
with copy to (but not holding authority as Owner’s representative): 

Ted Seele  
Assistant Director/Project Manager Winnebago County Facilities  
400 W. State Street, Room 020  
Rockford, IL  61101 
Office: 815-319-4670  



AIA Document A101 – 2017. Copyright © 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1967, 1974, 1977, 1987, 1991, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 09:59:24 CST on 01/14/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967f6) 

 
7 

 

TSeele@fm.wincoil.gov 
 
§ 8.3 The Contractor’s representative: 
(Name, address, email address, and other information) 
 
  Gregory S. Kladar         
  V.P for Pre-Construction          
  Ringland-Johnson, Inc.           
  1725 Huntwood Drive         
  Cherry Valley, Illinois 61016         
  GKladar@Ringland.com          
 
§ 8.4 Neither the Owner’s nor the Contractor’s representative shall be changed without ten days’ prior notice to the other 
party. 
 
§ 8.5 Insurance and Bonds 
§ 8.5.1 The Owner and the Contractor shall purchase and maintain insurance as set forth in AIA Document A101™–2017, 
Standard Form of Agreement Between Owner and Contractor where the basis of payment is a Stipulated Sum, Exhibit A, 
Insurance and Bonds, and elsewhere in the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 8.5.2 If required, The Contractor shall provide bonds as set forth in AIA Document A101™–2017 Exhibit A, and elsewhere 
in the Contract Documents. 
 
 
ARTICLE 9   ENUMERATION OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 
§ 9.1 This Agreement is comprised of the following documents: 

.1      AIA Document A101™–2017, Standard Form of Agreement Between Owner and Contractor 

.2      AIA Document A101™–2017, Exhibit A, Insurance and Bonds 

.3      AIA Document A201™–2017, General Conditions of the Contract for Construction 

.4      The terms and conditions included in the advertised Invitation for Bid 

.5      Drawings 
 

Number Title Date 
 N/A             

 
.6      Specifications 
 

Section Title Date Pages 
 N/A              

 
.7      Addenda, if any: 
 

Number Date Pages 
 Addendum 1           August 14, 2025 8 
 Addendum 2 August 26, 2025 3 

 
Portions of Addenda relating to bidding or proposal requirements are not part of the Contract Documents unless 
the bidding or proposal requirements are also enumerated in this Article 9. 

 
.8      Other Exhibits: None 
 
 

             
 

mailto:TSeele@fm.wincoil.gov


AIA Document A101 – 2017. Copyright © 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1967, 1974, 1977, 1987, 1991, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 09:59:24 CST on 01/14/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967f6) 

 
8 

 

 
.9      Other documents, if any, listed below: 

(List here any additional documents that are intended to form part of the Contract Documents. AIA Document 
A201™–2017 provides that the advertisement or invitation to bid, Instructions to Bidders, sample forms, the 
Contractor’s bid or proposal, portions of Addenda relating to bidding or proposal requirements, and other 
information furnished by the Owner in anticipation of receiving bids or proposals, are not part of the Contract 
Documents unless enumerated in this Agreement. Any such documents should be listed here only if intended to 
be part of the Contract Documents.) 

 
 Contractor’s completed Bid Form in response to the Invitation for Bid.           

 
 
This Agreement entered into as of the day and year first written above. 
 
 

 Winnebago County                 Ringland-Johnson, Inc.        
OWNER (Signature)  CONTRACTOR (Signature) 
 Joseph B. Chiarelli, Chairman  Brent B. Johnson, CEO & Chairman                       
(Printed name and title)  (Printed name and title) 

 



   Document A101® – 2017 Exhibit A 
Insurance and Bonds 
 

AIA Document A101 – 2017 Exhibit A. Copyright © 2017. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the 
AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 09:59:34 CST on 01/14/2025 under 
Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fd) 

 
1 

 

ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS:  
The author of this document may 
have revised the text of the original 
AIA standard form. An Additions and 
Deletions Report that notes 
revisions to the standard form text is 
available from the author and should 
be reviewed. A vertical line in the left 
margin of this document indicates 
where the author has added to or 
deleted from the original AIA text. 

This document has important legal 
consequences. Consultation with an 
attorney is encouraged with respect 
to its completion or modification. 

This document is intended to be 
used in conjunction with AIA 
Document A201®–2017, General 
Conditions of the Contract for 
Construction. Article 11 of A201®–
2017 contains additional insurance 
provisions. 

ELECTRONIC COPYING of any 
portion of this AIA®  Document to 
another electronic file is prohibited 
and constitutes a violation of 
copyright laws as set forth in the 
footer of this document. 

 

This Insurance and Bonds Exhibit is part of the Agreement, between the Owner and the 
Contractor, dated the 25th day of  November in the year  2025. 
(In words, indicate day, month and year.) 
 
for the following PROJECT: 
(Name and location or address) 
 
Project of the County of Winnebago as identified in the Invitation for Bids No. 25B-2426 
(“Invitation for Bid”):  
Recorder Office Remodel           
404 Elm Street, Room 405 
Rockford, Illinois 61101           
 
THE OWNER: 
(Name, legal status and address) 
 
Winnebago County             
404 Elm Street 
Rockford, Illinois 61101            
 
THE CONTRACTOR: 
(Name, legal status and address) 
 
Ringland-Johnson, Inc.            
1725 Huntwood Dr. 
Cherry Valley, IL 61016            
 
TABLE OF ARTICLES 
 
A.1      GENERAL 
 
A.2      OWNER’S INSURANCE 
 
A.3      CONTRACTOR’S INSURANCE AND BONDS 
 
A.4      SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 
ARTICLE A.1   GENERAL 
The Owner and Contractor shall purchase and maintain insurance, and provide bonds, as 
set forth in this Exhibit. As used in this Exhibit, the term General Conditions refers to 
AIA Document A201™–2017, General Conditions of the Contract for Construction. 
 
ARTICLE A.2   OWNER’S INSURANCE 
§ A.2.1 General 
Prior to commencement of the Work, the Owner shall secure the insurance, and provide 
evidence of the coverage, required under this Article A.2 and, upon the Contractor’s 



AIA Document A101 – 2017 Exhibit A. Copyright © 2017. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the 
AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 09:59:34 CST on 01/14/2025 under 
Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fd) 

 
2 

 

request, provide a copy of the property insurance policy or policies required by Section A.2.3. The copy of the policy or 
policies provided shall contain all applicable conditions, definitions, exclusions, and endorsements. 
 
§ A.2.2 Liability Insurance 
The Owner shall be responsible for purchasing and maintaining the Owner’s usual general liability insurance. 
 
§ A.2.3 Required Property Insurance 
§ A.2.3.1 Unless this obligation is placed on the Contractor pursuant to Section A.3.3.2.1, the Owner shall purchase and 
maintain, from an insurance company or insurance companies lawfully authorized to issue insurance in the jurisdiction where 
the Project is located, property insurance written on a builder's risk “all-risks” completed value or equivalent policy form and 
sufficient to cover the total value of the entire Project on a replacement cost basis. The Owner’s property insurance coverage 
shall be no less than the amount of the initial Contract Sum, plus the value of subsequent Modifications and labor performed 
and materials or equipment supplied by others. The property insurance shall be maintained until Substantial Completion and 
thereafter as provided in Section A.2.3.1.3, unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents or otherwise agreed in 
writing by the parties to this Agreement. This insurance shall include the interests of the Owner, Contractor, Subcontractors, 
and Sub-subcontractors in the Project as insureds. This insurance shall include the interests of mortgagees as loss payees. 
 
§ A.2.3.1.1 Causes of Loss. The insurance required by this Section A.2.3.1 shall provide coverage for direct physical loss or 
damage, and shall not exclude the risks of fire, explosion, theft, vandalism, malicious mischief, collapse, earthquake, flood, or 
windstorm. The insurance shall also provide coverage for ensuing loss or resulting damage from error, omission, or deficiency 
in construction methods, design, specifications, workmanship, or materials. Sub-limits, if any, are as follows: 
(Indicate below the cause of loss and any applicable sub-limit.) 
 

Causes of Loss Sub-Limit 
  N/A  

 
§ A.2.3.1.2 Specific Required Coverages. The insurance required by this Section A.2.3.1 shall provide coverage for loss or 
damage to falsework and other temporary structures, and to building systems from testing and startup. The insurance shall also 
cover debris removal, including demolition occasioned by enforcement of any applicable legal requirements, and reasonable 
compensation for the Architect’s, if any, and Contractor’s services and expenses required as a result of such insured loss, 
including claim preparation expenses. Sub-limits, if any, are as follows: 
(Indicate below type of coverage and any applicable sub-limit for specific required coverages.) 
 

Coverage Sub-Limit 
 N/A  

 
§ A.2.3.1.3 Unless the parties agree otherwise, upon Substantial Completion, the Owner shall continue the insurance required 
by Section A.2.3.1 or, if necessary, replace the insurance policy required under Section A.2.3.1 with property insurance 
written for the total value of the Project that shall remain in effect until expiration of the period for correction of the Work set 
forth in Section 12.2.2 of the General Conditions. 
 
§ A.2.3.1.4 Deductibles and Self-Insured Retentions. If the insurance required by this Section A.2.3 is subject to deductibles or 
self-insured retentions, the Owner shall be responsible for all loss not covered because of such deductibles or retentions. 
 
§ A.2.3.2 Occupancy or Use Prior to Substantial Completion. The Owner’s occupancy or use of any completed or partially 
completed portion of the Work prior to Substantial Completion shall not commence until the insurance company or companies 
providing the insurance under Section A.2.3.1 have consented in writing to the continuance of coverage. The Owner and the 
Contractor shall take no action with respect to partial occupancy or use that would cause cancellation, lapse, or reduction of 
insurance, unless they agree otherwise in writing. 
 
§ A.2.3.3 Insurance for Existing Structures 
If the Work involves remodeling an existing structure or constructing an addition to an existing structure, the Owner shall 
purchase and maintain, until the expiration of the period for correction of Work as set forth in Section 12.2.2 of the General 
Conditions, “all-risks” property insurance, on a replacement cost basis, protecting the existing structure against direct physical 
loss or damage from the causes of loss identified in Section A.2.3.1, notwithstanding the undertaking of the Work. The Owner 
shall be responsible for all co-insurance penalties. 



AIA Document A101 – 2017 Exhibit A. Copyright © 2017. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the 
AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 09:59:34 CST on 01/14/2025 under 
Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fd) 

 
3 

 

 
§ A.2.4 Optional Extended Property Insurance. None 
ARTICLE A.3   CONTRACTOR’S INSURANCE AND BONDS 
§ A.3.1 General 
§ A.3.1.1 Certificates of Insurance. The Contractor shall provide certificates of insurance acceptable to the Owner evidencing 
compliance with the requirements in this Article A.3 at the following times: (1) prior to commencement of the Work; (2) upon 
renewal or replacement of each required policy of insurance; and (3) upon the Owner’s written request. An additional 
certificate evidencing continuation of commercial liability coverage, including coverage for completed operations, shall be 
submitted with the final Application for Payment and thereafter upon renewal or replacement of such coverage until the 
expiration of the periods required by Section A.3.2.1 and Section A.3.3.1. The certificates will show the Owner as an 
additional insured on the Contractor’s Commercial General Liability and excess or umbrella liability policy or policies. 
 
§ A.3.1.2 Deductibles and Self-Insured Retentions. The Contractor shall disclose to the Owner any deductible or self- insured 
retentions applicable to any insurance required to be provided by the Contractor. 
 
§ A.3.1.3 Additional Insured Obligations. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Contractor shall cause the commercial 
general liability coverage to include (1) the Owner, the Architect, if any, and the Architect’s consultants as additional insureds 
for claims caused in whole or in part by the Contractor’s negligent acts or omissions during the Contractor’s operations; and 
(2) the Owner as an additional insured for claims caused in whole or in part by the Contractor’s negligent acts or omissions for 
which loss occurs during completed operations. The additional insured coverage shall be primary and non-contributory to any 
of the Owner’s general liability insurance policies and shall apply to both ongoing and completed operations. To the extent 
commercially available, the additional insured coverage shall be no less than that provided by Insurance Services Office, Inc. 
(ISO) forms CG 20 10 07 04, CG 20 37 07 04, and, with respect to the Architect and the Architect’s consultants, CG 20 32 07 
04. 
 
§ A.3.2 Contractor’s Required Insurance Coverage 
§ A.3.2.1 The Contractor shall purchase and maintain the following types and limits of insurance from an insurance company 
or insurance companies lawfully authorized to issue insurance in the jurisdiction where the Project is located. The Contractor 
shall maintain the required insurance until the expiration of the period for correction of Work as set forth in Section 12.2.2 of 
the General Conditions, unless a different duration is stated below: 
(If the Contractor is required to maintain insurance for a duration other than the expiration of the period for correction of 
Work, state the duration.) 
 
            
 
§ A.3.2.2 Commercial General Liability 
§ A.3.2.2.1 Commercial General Liability insurance for the Project written on an occurrence form with policy limits of not less 
than  Five Million Dollars           ($5,000,000) each occurrence,  Five Million Dollars           ($5,000,000) general aggregate, 
and  Five Million Dollars           ($5,000,000) aggregate for products-completed operations hazard, providing coverage for 
claims including 

.1      damages because of bodily injury, sickness or disease, including occupational sickness or disease, and death of 
any person; 

.2      personal injury and advertising injury; 

.3      damages because of physical damage to or destruction of tangible property, including the loss of use of such 
property; 

.4      bodily injury or property damage arising out of completed operations; and 

.5      the Contractor’s indemnity obligations under Section 3.18 of the General Conditions. 
 
§ A.3.2.2.2 The Contractor’s Commercial General Liability policy under this Section A.3.2.2 shall not contain an exclusion or 
restriction of coverage for the following: 

.1      Claims by one insured against another insured, if the exclusion or restriction is based solely on the fact that the 
claimant is an insured, and there would otherwise be coverage for the claim. 

.2      Claims for property damage to the Contractor’s Work arising out of the products-completed operations hazard 
where the damaged Work or the Work out of which the damage arises was performed by a Subcontractor. 

.3      Claims for bodily injury other than to employees of the insured. 

.4      Claims for indemnity under Section 3.18 of the General Conditions arising out of injury to employees of the 



AIA Document A101 – 2017 Exhibit A. Copyright © 2017. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the 
AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 09:59:34 CST on 01/14/2025 under 
Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fd) 

 
4 

 

insured. 
.5      Claims or loss excluded under a prior work endorsement or other similar exclusionary language. 
.6      Claims or loss due to physical damage under a prior injury endorsement or similar exclusionary language. 
.7      Claims related to residential, multi-family, or other habitational projects, if the Work is to be performed on such 

a project. 
.8      Claims related to roofing, if the Work involves roofing. 
.9      Claims related to exterior insulation finish systems (EIFS), synthetic stucco or similar exterior coatings or 

surfaces, if the Work involves such coatings or surfaces. 
.10    Claims related to earth subsidence or movement, where the Work involves such hazards. 
.11    Claims related to explosion, collapse and underground hazards, where the Work involves such hazards. 

 
§ A.3.2.3 Automobile Liability covering vehicles owned, and non-owned vehicles used, by the Contractor, with policy limits of 
not less than  Two Million Dollars           ($2,000,000) per accident, for bodily injury, death of any person, and property 
damage arising out of the ownership, maintenance and use of those motor vehicles along with any other statutorily required 
automobile coverage. 
 
§ A.3.2.4 The Contractor may achieve the required limits and coverage for Commercial General Liability and Automobile 
Liability through a combination of primary and excess or umbrella liability insurance, provided such primary and excess or 
umbrella insurance policies result in the same or greater coverage as the coverages required under Section A.3.2.2 and 
A.3.2.3, and in no event shall any excess or umbrella liability insurance provide narrower coverage than the primary policy. 
The excess policy shall not require the exhaustion of the underlying limits only through the actual payment by the underlying 
insurers. 
 
§ A.3.2.5 Workers’ Compensation at statutory limits. 
 
§ A.3.2.6 Employers’ Liability with policy limits not less than   Two Million  Dollars          ($2,000,000) each accident,   Two 
Million Dollars                   ($2,000,000) each employee, and  Two Million Dollars                    ($2,000,000) policy limit. 
 
§ A.3.2.7 Jones Act, and the Longshore & Harbor Workers’ Compensation Act, as required, if the Work involves hazards 
arising from work on or near navigable waterways, including vessels and docks 
 
§ A.3.2.8 If the Contractor is required to furnish professional services as part of the Work, the Contractor shall procure 
Professional Liability insurance covering performance of the professional services, with policy limits of not less than  One 
Million Dollars           ($1,000,000) per claim and  One Million Dollars           ($1,000,000) in the aggregate. 
 
§ A.3.2.9 If the Work involves the transport, dissemination, use, or release of pollutants, the Contractor shall procure Pollution 
Liability insurance, with policy limits of not less than   One Million Dollars          ($1,000,000) per claim and  One Million 
Dollars                    ($1,000,000) in the aggregate. 
 
§ A.3.2.10 Coverage under Sections A.3.2.8 and A.3.2.9 may be procured through a Combined Professional Liability and 
Pollution Liability insurance policy, with combined policy limits of not less than  N/A ($  N/A ) per claim and  N/A($   N/A) 
in the aggregate. 
 
 
§ A.3.2.11 Insurance for maritime liability risks associated with the operation of a vessel, if the Work requires such activities, 
with policy limits of not less than   NA          ($    NA         ) per claim and     NA        ($     NA        ) in the aggregate. 
 
§ A.3.2.12 Insurance for the use or operation of manned or unmanned aircraft, if the Work requires such activities, with policy 
limits of not less than   NA          ($       NA      ) per claim and   NA          ($      NA       ) in the aggregate. 
 
§ A.3.3 Contractor’s Other Insurance Coverage 
§ A.3.3.1 Insurance selected and described in this Section A.3.3 shall be purchased from an insurance company or insurance 
companies lawfully authorized to issue insurance in the jurisdiction where the Project is located. The Contractor shall 
maintain the required insurance until the expiration of the period for correction of Work as set forth in Section 12.2.2 of the 
General Conditions, unless a different duration is stated below: 



AIA Document A101 – 2017 Exhibit A. Copyright © 2017. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the 
AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 09:59:34 CST on 01/14/2025 under 
Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fd) 

 
5 

 

(If the Contractor is required to maintain any of the types of insurance selected below for a duration other than the expiration 
of the period for correction of Work, state the duration.) 
 
 N/A           
 
§ A.3.3.2 The Contractor shall purchase and maintain the following types and limits of insurance in accordance with Section 
A.3.3.1. 
(Select the types of insurance the Contractor is required to purchase and maintain by placing an X in the box(es) next to the 
description(s) of selected insurance. Where policy limits are provided, include the policy limit in the appropriate fill point.) 
 

[  N/A  ]       § A.3.3.2.1 Property insurance of the same type and scope satisfying the requirements identified in Section 
A.2.3, which, if selected in this section A.3.3.2.1, relieves the Owner of the responsibility to purchase and 
maintain such insurance except insurance required by Section A.2.3.1.3 and Section A.2.3.3. The Contractor 
shall comply with all obligations of the Owner under Section A.2.3 except to the extent provided below. The 
Contractor shall disclose to the Owner the amount of any deductible, and the Owner shall be responsible for 
losses within the deductible. Upon request, the Contractor shall provide the Owner with a copy of the property 
insurance policy or policies required. The Owner shall adjust and settle the loss with the insurer and be the 
trustee of the proceeds of the property insurance in accordance with Article 11 of the General Conditions unless 
otherwise set forth below: 
(Where the Contractor’s obligation to provide property insurance differs from the Owner’s obligations as 
described under Section A.2.3, indicate such differences in the space below. Additionally, if a party other than 
the Owner will be responsible for adjusting and settling a loss with the insurer and acting as the trustee of the 
proceeds of property insurance in accordance with Article 11 of the General Conditions, indicate the 
responsible party below.) 

 
            

 
 
§ A.3.4 Performance Bond and Payment Bond 
The Contractor shall provide surety bonds, from a company or companies lawfully authorized to issue surety bonds in the 
jurisdiction where the Project is located, as follows: 
(Specify type and penal sum of bonds.) 
 

Type Penal Sum ($0.00) 
Payment Bond   N/A          
Performance Bond   N/A 

 
Payment and Performance Bonds shall be AIA Document A312™, Payment Bond and Performance Bond, or contain 
provisions identical to AIA Document A312™, current as of the date of this Agreement. 
 
ARTICLE A.4   SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
Special terms and conditions that modify this Insurance and Bonds Exhibit, if any, are as follows: 
 
 
 
 



   Document A201® – 2017 
General Conditions of the Contract for Construction 
 

AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
1 

 

ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS:  
The author of this document may 
have revised the text of the original 
AIA standard form. An Additions and 
Deletions Report that notes 
revisions to the standard form text is 
available from the author and should 
be reviewed. A vertical line in the left 
margin of this document indicates 
where the author has added to or 
deleted from the original AIA text. 

This document has important legal 
consequences. Consultation with an 
attorney is encouraged with respect 
to its completion or modification. 

For guidance in modifying this 
document to include supplementary 
conditions, see AIA Document 
A503™–2017, Guide for 
Supplementary Conditions. 

ELECTRONIC COPYING of any 
portion of this AIA®  Document to 
another electronic file is prohibited 
and constitutes a violation of 
copyright laws as set forth in the 
footer of this document. 

 

for the following PROJECT: 
(Name and location or address) 
 
Project of the County of Winnebago as identified in the Invitation for Bids No. 25B-2426 
(“Invitation for Bid”): 
Recorder Office Remodel             
404 Elm Street, Room 405 
Rockford, Illinois 61101            
 
THE OWNER: 
(Name, legal status and address) 
 
Winnebago County            
 404 Elm Street 
Rockford, Illinois 61101           
 
THE ARCHITECT: 
(Name, legal status and address) 
 
 N/A. See Article 4, herein.           
 
The Invitation for Bid to which this document A201-2017 is attached is a publicly bid 
contract for a construction project(s) issued by the County of Winnebago.  The Invitation 
for Bid, the selection and award of the bid and resulting contract all are subject to the 
terms and conditions of Illinois law. 
 
TABLE OF ARTICLES 
 
1      GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
2      OWNER 
 
3      CONTRACTOR 
 
4      ARCHITECT 
 
5      SUBCONTRACTORS 
 
6      CONSTRUCTION BY OWNER OR BY SEPARATE CONTRACTORS 
 
7      CHANGES IN THE WORK 
 
8      TIME 
 
9      PAYMENTS AND COMPLETION 
 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
2 

 

10      PROTECTION OF PERSONS AND PROPERTY 
 
11      INSURANCE AND BONDS 
 
12      UNCOVERING AND CORRECTION OF WORK 
 
13      MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
 
14      TERMINATION OR SUSPENSION OF THE CONTRACT 
 
15      CLAIMS AND DISPUTES 
  



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
3 

 

INDEX 
(Topics and numbers in bold are Section headings.) 
 
 
Acceptance of Nonconforming Work 
9.6.6, 9.9.3, 12.3 
Acceptance of Work 
9.6.6, 9.8.2, 9.9.3, 9.10.1, 9.10.3, 12.3 
Access to Work 
3.16, 6.2.1, 12.1 
Accident Prevention 
10 
Acts and Omissions 
3.2, 3.3.2, 3.12.8, 3.18, 4.2.3, 8.3.1, 9.5.1, 10.2.5, 10.2.8, 13.3.2, 14.1, 15.1.2, 15.2 
Addenda 
1.1.1 
Additional Costs, Claims for 
3.7.4, 3.7.5, 10.3.2, 15.1.5 
Additional Inspections and Testing 
9.4.2, 9.8.3, 12.2.1, 13.4 
Additional Time, Claims for 
3.2.4, 3.7.4, 3.7.5, 3.10.2, 8.3.2, 15.1.6 
Administration of the Contract 
3.1.3, 4.2, 9.4, 9.5 
Advertisement or Invitation to Bid 
1.1.1 
Aesthetic Effect 
4.2.13 
Allowances 
3.8 
Applications for Payment 
4.2.5, 7.3.9, 9.2, 9.3, 9.4, 9.5.1, 9.5.4, 9.6.3, 9.7, 9.10 
Approvals 
2.1.1, 2.3.1, 2.5, 3.1.3, 3.10.2, 3.12.8, 3.12.9, 3.12.10.1, 4.2.7, 9.3.2, 13.4.1 
Arbitration 
8.3.1, 15.3.2, 15.4 
ARCHITECT 
4 
Architect, Definition of 
4.1.1 
Architect, Extent of Authority 
2.5, 3.12.7, 4.1.2, 4.2, 5.2, 6.3, 7.1.2, 7.3.4, 7.4, 9.2, 9.3.1, 9.4, 9.5, 9.6.3, 9.8, 9.10.1, 9.10.3, 12.1, 12.2.1, 13.4.1, 13.4.2, 
14.2.2, 14.2.4, 15.1.4, 15.2.1 
Architect, Limitations of Authority and Responsibility 
2.1.1, 3.12.4, 3.12.8, 3.12.10, 4.1.2, 4.2.1, 4.2.2, 4.2.3, 4.2.6, 4.2.7, 4.2.10, 4.2.12, 4.2.13, 5.2.1, 7.4, 9.4.2, 9.5.4, 9.6.4, 15.1.4, 
15.2 
Architect’s Additional Services and Expenses 
2.5, 12.2.1, 13.4.2, 13.4.3, 14.2.4 
Architect’s Administration of the Contract 
3.1.3, 3.7.4, 15.2, 9.4.1, 9.5 
Architect’s Approvals 
2.5, 3.1.3, 3.5, 3.10.2, 4.2.7 
Architect’s Authority to Reject Work 
3.5, 4.2.6, 12.1.2, 12.2.1 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
4 

 

Architect’s Copyright 
1.1.7, 1.5 
Architect’s Decisions 
3.7.4, 4.2.6, 4.2.7, 4.2.11, 4.2.12, 4.2.13, 4.2.14, 6.3, 7.3.4, 7.3.9, 8.1.3, 8.3.1, 9.2, 9.4.1, 9.5, 9.8.4, 9.9.1, 13.4.2, 15.2 
Architect’s Inspections 
3.7.4, 4.2.2, 4.2.9, 9.4.2, 9.8.3, 9.9.2, 9.10.1, 13.4 
Architect’s Instructions 
3.2.4, 3.3.1, 4.2.6, 4.2.7, 13.4.2 
Architect’s Interpretations 
4.2.11, 4.2.12 
Architect’s Project Representative 
4.2.10 
Architect’s Relationship with Contractor 
1.1.2, 1.5, 2.3.3, 3.1.3, 3.2.2, 3.2.3, 3.2.4, 3.3.1, 3.4.2, 3.5, 3.7.4, 3.7.5, 3.9.2, 3.9.3, 3.10, 3.11, 3.12, 3.16, 3.18, 4.1.2, 4.2, 5.2, 
6.2.2, 7, 8.3.1, 9.2, 9.3, 9.4, 9.5, 9.7, 9.8, 9.9, 10.2.6, 10.3, 11.3, 12, 13.3.2, 13.4, 15.2 
Architect’s Relationship with Subcontractors 
1.1.2, 4.2.3, 4.2.4, 4.2.6, 9.6.3, 9.6.4, 11.3 
Architect’s Representations 
9.4.2, 9.5.1, 9.10.1 
Architect’s Site Visits 
3.7.4, 4.2.2, 4.2.9, 9.4.2, 9.5.1, 9.9.2, 9.10.1, 13.4 
Asbestos 
10.3.1 
Attorneys’ Fees 
3.18.1, 9.6.8, 9.10.2, 10.3.3 
Award of Separate Contracts 
6.1.1, 6.1.2 
Award of Subcontracts and Other Contracts for Portions of the Work 
5.2 
Basic Definitions 
1.1 
Bidding Requirements 
1.1.1 
Binding Dispute Resolution 
8.3.1, 9.7, 11.5, 13.1, 15.1.2, 15.1.3, 15.2.1, 15.2.5, 15.2.6.1, 15.3.1, 15.3.2, 15.3.3, 15.4.1 
Bonds, Lien 
7.3.4.4, 9.6.8, 9.10.2, 9.10.3 
Bonds, Performance, and Payment 
7.3.4.4, 9.6.7, 9.10.3, 11.1.2, 11.1.3, 11.5 
Building Information Models Use and Reliance 
1.8 
Building Permit 
3.7.1 
Capitalization 
1.3 
Certificate of Substantial Completion 
9.8.3, 9.8.4, 9.8.5 
Certificates for Payment 
4.2.1, 4.2.5, 4.2.9, 9.3.3, 9.4, 9.5, 9.6.1, 9.6.6, 9.7, 9.10.1, 9.10.3, 14.1.1.3, 14.2.4, 15.1.4 
Certificates of Inspection, Testing or Approval 
13.4.4 
Certificates of Insurance 
9.10.2 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
5 

 

Change Orders 
1.1.1, 3.4.2, 3.7.4, 3.8.2.3, 3.11, 3.12.8, 4.2.8, 5.2.3, 7.1.2, 7.1.3, 7.2, 7.3.2, 7.3.7, 7.3.9, 7.3.10, 8.3.1, 9.3.1.1, 9.10.3, 10.3.2, 
11.2, 11.5, 12.1.2 
Change Orders, Definition of 
7.2.1 
CHANGES IN THE WORK 
2.2.2, 3.11, 4.2.8, 7, 7.2.1, 7.3.1, 7.4, 8.3.1, 9.3.1.1, 11.5 
Claims, Definition of 
15.1.1 
Claims, Notice of 
1.6.2, 15.1.3 
CLAIMS AND DISPUTES 
3.2.4, 6.1.1, 6.3, 7.3.9, 9.3.3, 9.10.4, 10.3.3, 15, 15.4 
Claims and Timely Assertion of Claims 
15.4.1 
Claims for Additional Cost 
3.2.4, 3.3.1, 3.7.4, 7.3.9, 9.5.2, 10.2.5, 10.3.2, 15.1.5 
Claims for Additional Time 
3.2.4, 3.3.1, 3.7.4, 6.1.1, 8.3.2, 9.5.2, 10.3.2, 15.1.6 
Concealed or Unknown Conditions, Claims for 
3.7.4 
Claims for Damages 
3.2.4, 3.18, 8.3.3, 9.5.1, 9.6.7, 10.2.5, 10.3.3, 11.3, 11.3.2, 14.2.4, 15.1.7 
Claims Subject to Arbitration 
15.4.1 
Cleaning Up 
3.15, 6.3 
Commencement of the Work, Conditions Relating to 
2.2.1, 3.2.2, 3.4.1, 3.7.1, 3.10.1, 3.12.6, 5.2.1, 5.2.3, 6.2.2, 8.1.2, 8.2.2, 8.3.1, 11.1, 11.2, 15.1.5 
Commencement of the Work, Definition of 
8.1.2 
Communications 
3.9.1, 4.2.4 
Completion, Conditions Relating to 
3.4.1, 3.11, 3.15, 4.2.2, 4.2.9, 8.2, 9.4.2, 9.8, 9.9.1, 9.10, 12.2, 14.1.2, 15.1.2 
COMPLETION, PAYMENTS AND 
9 
Completion, Substantial 
3.10.1, 4.2.9, 8.1.1, 8.1.3, 8.2.3, 9.4.2, 9.8, 9.9.1, 9.10.3, 12.2, 15.1.2 
Compliance with Laws 
2.3.2, 3.2.3, 3.6, 3.7, 3.12.10, 3.13, 9.6.4, 10.2.2, 13.1, 13.3, 13.4.1, 13.4.2, 13.5, 14.1.1, 14.2.1.3, 15.2.8, 15.4.2, 15.4.3 
Concealed or Unknown Conditions 
3.7.4, 4.2.8, 8.3.1, 10.3 
Conditions of the Contract 
1.1.1, 6.1.1, 6.1.4 
Consent, Written 
3.4.2, 3.14.2, 4.1.2, 9.8.5, 9.9.1, 9.10.2, 9.10.3, 13.2, 15.4.4.2 
Consolidation or Joinder 
15.4.4 
CONSTRUCTION BY OWNER OR BY SEPARATE CONTRACTORS 
1.1.4, 6 
Construction Change Directive, Definition of 
7.3.1 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
6 

 

Construction Change Directives 
1.1.1, 3.4.2, 3.11, 3.12.8, 4.2.8, 7.1.1, 7.1.2, 7.1.3, 7.3, 9.3.1.1 
Construction Schedules, Contractor’s 
3.10, 3.11, 3.12.1, 3.12.2, 6.1.3, 15.1.6.2 
Contingent Assignment of Subcontracts 
5.4, 14.2.2.2 
Continuing Contract Performance 
15.1.4 
Contract, Definition of 
1.1.2 
CONTRACT, TERMINATION OR SUSPENSION OF THE 
5.4.1.1, 5.4.2, 11.5, 14 
Contract Administration 
3.1.3, 4, 9.4, 9.5 
Contract Award and Execution, Conditions Relating to 
3.7.1, 3.10, 5.2, 6.1 
Contract Documents, Copies Furnished and Use of 
1.5.2, 2.3.6, 5.3 
Contract Documents, Definition of 
1.1.1 
Contract Sum 
2.2.2, 2.2.4, 3.7.4, 3.7.5, 3.8, 3.10.2, 5.2.3, 7.3, 7.4, 9.1, 9.2, 9.4.2, 9.5.1.4, 9.6.7, 9.7, 10.3.2, 11.5, 12.1.2, 12.3, 14.2.4, 14.3.2, 
15.1.4.2, 15.1.5, 15.2.5 
Contract Sum, Definition of 
9.1 
Contract Time 
1.1.4, 2.2.1, 2.2.2, 3.7.4, 3.7.5, 3.10.2, 5.2.3, 6.1.5, 7.2.1.3, 7.3.1, 7.3.5, 7.3.6, 7, 7, 7.3.10, 7.4, 8.1.1, 8.2.1, 8.2.3, 8.3.1, 9.5.1, 
9.7, 10.3.2, 12.1.1, 12.1.2, 14.3.2, 15.1.4.2, 15.1.6.1, 15.2.5 
Contract Time, Definition of 
8.1.1 
CONTRACTOR 
3 
Contractor, Definition of 
3.1, 6.1.2 
Contractor’s Construction and Submittal Schedules 
3.10, 3.12.1, 3.12.2, 4.2.3, 6.1.3, 15.1.6.2 
Contractor’s Employees 
2.2.4, 3.3.2, 3.4.3, 3.8.1, 3.9, 3.18.2, 4.2.3, 4.2.6, 10.2, 10.3, 11.3, 14.1, 14.2.1.1 
Contractor’s Liability Insurance 
11.1 
Contractor’s Relationship with Separate Contractors and Owner’s Forces 
3.12.5, 3.14.2, 4.2.4, 6, 11.3, 12.2.4 
Contractor’s Relationship with Subcontractors 
1.2.2, 2.2.4, 3.3.2, 3.18.1, 3.18.2, 4.2.4, 5, 9.6.2, 9.6.7, 9.10.2, 11.2, 11.3, 11.4 
Contractor’s Relationship with the Architect 
1.1.2, 1.5, 2.3.3, 3.1.3, 3.2.2, 3.2.3, 3.2.4, 3.3.1, 3.4.2, 3.5.1, 3.7.4, 3.10, 3.11, 3.12, 3.16, 3.18, 4.2, 5.2, 6.2.2, 7, 8.3.1, 9.2, 
9.3, 9.4, 9.5, 9.7, 9.8, 9.9, 10.2.6, 10.3, 11.3, 12, 13.4, 15.1.3, 15.2.1 
Contractor’s Representations 
3.2.1, 3.2.2, 3.5, 3.12.6, 6.2.2, 8.2.1, 9.3.3, 9.8.2 
Contractor’s Responsibility for Those Performing the Work 
3.3.2, 3.18, 5.3, 6.1.3, 6.2, 9.5.1, 10.2.8 
Contractor’s Review of Contract Documents 
3.2 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
7 

 

Contractor’s Right to Stop the Work 
2.2.2, 9.7 
Contractor’s Right to Terminate the Contract 
14.1 
Contractor’s Submittals 
3.10, 3.11, 3.12, 4.2.7, 5.2.1, 5.2.3, 9.2, 9.3, 9.8.2, 9.8.3, 9.9.1, 9.10.2, 9.10.3 
Contractor’s Superintendent 
3.9, 10.2.6 
Contractor’s Supervision and Construction Procedures 
1.2.2, 3.3, 3.4, 3.12.10, 4.2.2, 4.2.7, 6.1.3, 6.2.4, 7.1.3, 7.3.4, 7.3.6, 8.2, 10, 12, 14, 15.1.4 
Coordination and Correlation 
1.2, 3.2.1, 3.3.1, 3.10, 3.12.6, 6.1.3, 6.2.1 
Copies Furnished of Drawings and Specifications 
1.5, 2.3.6, 3.11 
Copyrights 
1.5, 3.17 
Correction of Work 
2.5, 3.7.3, 9.4.2, 9.8.2, 9.8.3, 9.9.1, 12.1.2, 12.2, 12.3, 15.1.3.1, 15.1.3.2, 15.2.1 
Correlation and Intent of the Contract Documents 
1.2 
Cost, Definition of 
7.3.4 
Costs 
2.5, 3.2.4, 3.7.3, 3.8.2, 3.15.2, 5.4.2, 6.1.1, 6.2.3, 7.3.3.3, 7.3.4, 7.3.8, 7.3.9, 9.10.2, 10.3.2, 10.3.6, 11.2, 12.1.2, 12.2.1, 12.2.4, 
13.4, 14 
Cutting and Patching 
3.14, 6.2.5 
Damage to Construction of Owner or Separate Contractors 
3.14.2, 6.2.4, 10.2.1.2, 10.2.5, 10.4, 12.2.4 
Damage to the Work 
3.14.2, 9.9.1, 10.2.1.2, 10.2.5, 10.4, 12.2.4 
Damages, Claims for 
3.2.4, 3.18, 6.1.1, 8.3.3, 9.5.1, 9.6.7, 10.3.3, 11.3.2, 11.3, 14.2.4, 15.1.7 
Damages for Delay 
6.2.3, 8.3.3, 9.5.1.6, 9.7, 10.3.2, 14.3.2 
Date of Commencement of the Work, Definition of 
8.1.2 
Date of Substantial Completion, Definition of 
8.1.3 
Day, Definition of 
8.1.4 
Decisions of the Architect 
3.7.4, 4.2.6, 4.2.7, 4.2.11, 4.2.12, 4.2.13, 6.3, 7.3.4, 7.3.9, 8.1.3, 8.3.1, 9.2, 9.4, 9.5.1, 9.8.4, 9.9.1, 13.4.2, 14.2.2, 14.2.4, 15.1, 
15.2 
Decisions to Withhold Certification 
9.4.1, 9.5, 9.7, 14.1.1.3 
Defective or Nonconforming Work, Acceptance, Rejection and Correction of 
2.5, 3.5, 4.2.6, 6.2.3, 9.5.1, 9.5.3, 9.6.6, 9.8.2, 9.9.3, 9.10.4, 12.2.1 
Definitions 
1.1, 2.1.1, 3.1.1, 3.5, 3.12.1, 3.12.2, 3.12.3, 4.1.1, 5.1, 6.1.2, 7.2.1, 7.3.1, 8.1, 9.1, 9.8.1, 15.1.1 
Delays and Extensions of Time 
3.2, 3.7.4, 5.2.3, 7.2.1, 7.3.1, 7.4, 8.3, 9.5.1, 9.7, 10.3.2, 10.4, 14.3.2, 15.1.6, 15.2.5 
Digital Data Use and Transmission 
1.7 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
8 

 

Disputes 
6.3, 7.3.9, 15.1, 15.2 
Documents and Samples at the Site 
3.11 
Drawings, Definition of 
1.1.5 
Drawings and Specifications, Use and Ownership of 
3.11 
Effective Date of Insurance 
8.2.2 
Emergencies 
10.4, 14.1.1.2, 15.1.5 
Employees, Contractor’s 
3.3.2, 3.4.3, 3.8.1, 3.9, 3.18.2, 4.2.3, 4.2.6, 10.2, 10.3.3, 11.3, 14.1, 14.2.1.1 
Equipment, Labor, or Materials 
1.1.3, 1.1.6, 3.4, 3.5, 3.8.2, 3.8.3, 3.12, 3.13, 3.15.1, 4.2.6, 4.2.7, 5.2.1, 6.2.1, 7.3.4, 9.3.2, 9.3.3, 9.5.1.3, 9.10.2, 10.2.1, 10.2.4, 
14.2.1.1, 14.2.1.2 
Execution and Progress of the Work 
1.1.3, 1.2.1, 1.2.2, 2.3.4, 2.3.6, 3.1, 3.3.1, 3.4.1, 3.7.1, 3.10.1, 3.12, 3.14, 4.2, 6.2.2, 7.1.3, 7.3.6, 8.2, 9.5.1, 9.9.1, 10.2, 10.3, 
12.1, 12.2, 14.2, 14.3.1, 15.1.4 
Extensions of Time 
3.2.4, 3.7.4, 5.2.3, 7.2.1, 7.3, 7.4, 9.5.1, 9.7, 10.3.2, 10.4, 14.3, 15.1.6, 15.2.5 
Failure of Payment 
9.5.1.3, 9.7, 9.10.2, 13.5, 14.1.1.3, 14.2.1.2 
Faulty Work 
(See Defective or Nonconforming Work) 
Final Completion and Final Payment 
4.2.1, 4.2.9, 9.8.2, 9.10, 12.3, 14.2.4, 14.4.3 
Financial Arrangements, Owner’s 
2.2.1, 13.2.2, 14.1.1.4 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 
1 
Governing Law 
13.1 
Guarantees (See Warranty) 
Hazardous Materials and Substances 
10.2.4, 10.3 
Identification of Subcontractors and Suppliers 
5.2.1 
Indemnification 
3.17, 3.18, 9.6.8, 9.10.2, 10.3.3, 11.3 
Information and Services Required of the Owner 
2.1.2, 2.2, 2.3, 3.2.2, 3.12.10.1, 6.1.3, 6.1.4, 6.2.5, 9.6.1, 9.9.2, 9.10.3, 10.3.3, 11.2, 13.4.1, 13.4.2, 14.1.1.4, 14.1.4, 15.1.4 
Initial Decision 
15.2 
Initial Decision Maker, Definition of 
1.1.8 
Initial Decision Maker, Decisions 
14.2.4, 15.1.4.2, 15.2.1, 15.2.2, 15.2.3, 15.2.4, 15.2.5 
Initial Decision Maker, Extent of Authority 
14.2.4, 15.1.4.2, 15.2.1, 15.2.2, 15.2.3, 15.2.4, 15.2.5 
Injury or Damage to Person or Property 
10.2.8, 10.4 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
9 

 

Inspections 
3.1.3, 3.3.3, 3.7.1, 4.2.2, 4.2.6, 4.2.9, 9.4.2, 9.8.3, 9.9.2, 9.10.1, 12.2.1, 13.4 
Instructions to Bidders 
1.1.1 
Instructions to the Contractor 
3.2.4, 3.3.1, 3.8.1, 5.2.1, 7, 8.2.2, 12, 13.4.2 
Instruments of Service, Definition of 
1.1.7 
Insurance 
6.1.1, 7.3.4, 8.2.2, 9.3.2, 9.8.4, 9.9.1, 9.10.2, 10.2.5, 11 
Insurance, Notice of Cancellation or Expiration 
11.1.4, 11.2.3 
Insurance, Contractor’s Liability 
11.1 
Insurance, Effective Date of 
8.2.2, 14.4.2 
Insurance, Owner’s Liability 
11.2 
Insurance, Property 
10.2.5, 11.2, 11.4, 11.5 
Insurance, Stored Materials 
9.3.2 
INSURANCE AND BONDS 
11 
Insurance Companies, Consent to Partial Occupancy 
9.9.1 
Insured loss, Adjustment and Settlement of 
11.5 
Intent of the Contract Documents 
1.2.1, 4.2.7, 4.2.12, 4.2.13 
Interest 
13.5 
Interpretation 
1.1.8, 1.2.3, 1.4, 4.1.1, 5.1, 6.1.2, 15.1.1 
Interpretations, Written 
4.2.11, 4.2.12 
Judgment on Final Award 
15.4.2 
Labor and Materials, Equipment 
1.1.3, 1.1.6, 3.4, 3.5, 3.8.2, 3.8.3, 3.12, 3.13, 3.15.1, 5.2.1, 6.2.1, 7.3.4, 9.3.2, 9.3.3, 9.5.1.3, 9.10.2, 10.2.1, 10.2.4, 14.2.1.1, 
14.2.1.2 
Labor Disputes 
8.3.1 
Laws and Regulations 
1.5, 2.3.2, 3.2.3, 3.2.4, 3.6, 3.7, 3.12.10, 3.13, 9.6.4, 9.9.1, 10.2.2, 13.1, 13.3.1, 13.4.2, 13.5, 14, 15.2.8, 15.4 
Liens 
2.1.2, 9.3.1, 9.3.3, 9.6.8, 9.10.2, 9.10.4, 15.2.8 
Limitations, Statutes of 
12.2.5, 15.1.2, 15.4.1.1 
Limitations of Liability 
3.2.2, 3.5, 3.12.10, 3.12.10.1, 3.17, 3.18.1, 4.2.6, 4.2.7, 6.2.2, 9.4.2, 9.6.4, 9.6.7, 9.6.8, 10.2.5, 10.3.3, 11.3, 12.2.5, 13.3.1 
Limitations of Time 
2.1.2, 2.2, 2.5, 3.2.2, 3.10, 3.11, 3.12.5, 3.15.1, 4.2.7, 5.2, 5.3, 5.4.1, 6.2.4, 7.3, 7.4, 8.2, 9.2, 9.3.1, 9.3.3, 9.4.1, 9.5, 9.6, 9.7, 
9.8, 9.9, 9.10, 12.2, 13.4, 14, 15, 15.1.2, 15.1.3, 15.1.5 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
10 

 

Materials, Hazardous 
10.2.4, 10.3 
Materials, Labor, Equipment and 
1.1.3, 1.1.6, 3.4.1, 3.5, 3.8.2, 3.8.3, 3.12, 3.13, 3.15.1, 5.2.1, 6.2.1, 7.3.4, 9.3.2, 9.3.3, 9.5.1.3, 9.10.2, 10.2.1.2, 10.2.4, 
14.2.1.1, 14.2.1.2 
Means, Methods, Techniques, Sequences and Procedures of Construction 
3.3.1, 3.12.10, 4.2.2, 4.2.7, 9.4.2 
Mechanic’s Lien 
2.1.2, 9.3.1, 9.3.3, 9.6.8, 9.10.2, 9.10.4, 15.2.8 
Mediation 
8.3.1, 15.1.3.2, 15.2.1, 15.2.5, 15.2.6, 15.3, 15.4.1, 15.4.1.1 
Minor Changes in the Work 
1.1.1, 3.4.2, 3.12.8, 4.2.8, 7.1, 7.4 
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
13 
Modifications, Definition of 
1.1.1 
Modifications to the Contract 
1.1.1, 1.1.2, 2.5, 3.11, 4.1.2, 4.2.1, 5.2.3, 7, 8.3.1, 9.7, 10.3.2 
Mutual Responsibility 
6.2 
Nonconforming Work, Acceptance of 
9.6.6, 9.9.3, 12.3 
Nonconforming Work, Rejection and Correction of 
2.4, 2.5, 3.5, 4.2.6, 6.2.4, 9.5.1, 9.8.2, 9.9.3, 9.10.4, 12.2 
Notice 
1.6, 1.6.1, 1.6.2, 2.1.2, 2.2.2., 2.2.3, 2.2.4, 2.5, 3.2.4, 3.3.1, 3.7.4, 3.7.5, 3.9.2, 3.12.9, 3.12.10, 5.2.1, 7.4, 8.2.2 9.6.8, 9.7, 
9.10.1, 10.2.8, 10.3.2, 11.5, 12.2.2.1, 13.4.1, 13.4.2, 14.1, 14.2.2, 14.4.2, 15.1.3, 15.1.5, 15.1.6, 15.4.1 
Notice of Cancellation or Expiration of Insurance 
11.1.4, 11.2.3 
Notice of Claims 
1.6.2, 2.1.2, 3.7.4, 9.6.8, 10.2.8, 15.1.3, 15.1.5, 15.1.6, 15.2.8, 15.3.2, 15.4.1 
Notice of Testing and Inspections 
13.4.1, 13.4.2 
Observations, Contractor’s 
3.2, 3.7.4 
Occupancy 
2.3.1, 9.6.6, 9.8 
Orders, Written 
1.1.1, 2.4, 3.9.2, 7, 8.2.2, 11.5, 12.1, 12.2.2.1, 13.4.2, 14.3.1 
OWNER 
2 
Owner, Definition of 
2.1.1 
Owner, Evidence of Financial Arrangements 
2.2, 13.2.2, 14.1.1.4 
Owner, Information and Services Required of the 
2.1.2, 2.2, 2.3, 3.2.2, 3.12.10, 6.1.3, 6.1.4, 6.2.5, 9.3.2, 9.6.1, 9.6.4, 9.9.2, 9.10.3, 10.3.3, 11.2, 13.4.1, 13.4.2, 14.1.1.4, 14.1.4, 
15.1.4 
Owner’s Authority 
1.5, 2.1.1, 2.3.32.4, 2.5, 3.4.2, 3.8.1, 3.12.10, 3.14.2, 4.1.2, 4.2.4, 4.2.9, 5.2.1, 5.2.4, 5.4.1, 6.1, 6.3, 7.2.1, 7.3.1, 8.2.2, 8.3.1, 
9.3.2, 9.5.1, 9.6.4, 9.9.1, 9.10.2, 10.3.2, 11.4, 11.5, 12.2.2, 12.3, 13.2.2, 14.3, 14.4, 15.2.7 
Owner’s Insurance 
11.2 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
11 

 

Owner’s Relationship with Subcontractors 
1.1.2, 5.2, 5.3, 5.4, 9.6.4, 9.10.2, 14.2.2 
Owner’s Right to Carry Out the Work 
2.5, 14.2.2 
Owner’s Right to Clean Up 
6.3 
Owner’s Right to Perform Construction and to Award Separate Contracts 
6.1 
Owner’s Right to Stop the Work 
2.4 
Owner’s Right to Suspend the Work 
14.3 
Owner’s Right to Terminate the Contract 
14.2, 14.4 
Ownership and Use of Drawings, Specifications and Other Instruments of Service 
1.1.1, 1.1.6, 1.1.7, 1.5, 2.3.6, 3.2.2, 3.11, 3.17, 4.2.12, 5.3 
Partial Occupancy or Use 
9.6.6, 9.9 
Patching, Cutting and 
3.14, 6.2.5 
Patents 
3.17 
Payment, Applications for 
4.2.5, 7.3.9, 9.2, 9.3, 9.4, 9.5, 9.6.3, 9.7, 9.8.5, 9.10.1, 14.2.3, 14.2.4, 14.4.3 
Payment, Certificates for 
4.2.5, 4.2.9, 9.3.3, 9.4, 9.5, 9.6.1, 9.6.6, 9.7, 9.10.1, 9.10.3, 14.1.1.3, 14.2.4 
Payment, Failure of 
9.5.1.3, 9.7, 9.10.2, 13.5, 14.1.1.3, 14.2.1.2 
Payment, Final 
4.2.1, 4.2.9, 9.10, 12.3, 14.2.4, 14.4.3 
Payment Bond, Performance Bond and 
7.3.4.4, 9.6.7, 9.10.3, 11.1.2 
Payments, Progress 
9.3, 9.6, 9.8.5, 9.10.3, 14.2.3, 15.1.4 
PAYMENTS AND COMPLETION 
9 
Payments to Subcontractors 
5.4.2, 9.5.1.3, 9.6.2, 9.6.3, 9.6.4, 9.6.7, 14.2.1.2 
PCB 
10.3.1 
Performance Bond and Payment Bond 
7.3.4.4, 9.6.7, 9.10.3, 11.1.2 
Permits, Fees, Notices and Compliance with Laws 
2.3.1, 3.7, 3.13, 7.3.4.4, 10.2.2 
PERSONS AND PROPERTY, PROTECTION OF 
10 
Polychlorinated Biphenyl 
10.3.1 
Product Data, Definition of 
3.12.2 
Product Data and Samples, Shop Drawings 
3.11, 3.12, 4.2.7 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
12 

 

Progress and Completion 
4.2.2, 8.2, 9.8, 9.9.1, 14.1.4, 15.1.4 
Progress Payments 
9.3, 9.6, 9.8.5, 9.10.3, 14.2.3, 15.1.4 
Project, Definition of 
1.1.4 
Project Representatives 
4.2.10 
Property Insurance 
10.2.5, 11.2 
Proposal Requirements 
1.1.1 
PROTECTION OF PERSONS AND PROPERTY 
10 
Regulations and Laws 
1.5, 2.3.2, 3.2.3, 3.6, 3.7, 3.12.10, 3.13, 9.6.4, 9.9.1, 10.2.2, 13.1, 13.3, 13.4.1, 13.4.2, 13.5, 14, 15.2.8, 15.4 
Rejection of Work 
4.2.6, 12.2.1 
Releases and Waivers of Liens 
9.3.1, 9.10.2 
Representations 
3.2.1, 3.5, 3.12.6, 8.2.1, 9.3.3, 9.4.2, 9.5.1, 9.10.1 
Representatives 
2.1.1, 3.1.1, 3.9, 4.1.1, 4.2.10, 13.2.1 
Responsibility for Those Performing the Work 
3.3.2, 3.18, 4.2.2, 4.2.3, 5.3, 6.1.3, 6.2, 6.3, 9.5.1, 10 
Retainage 
9.3.1, 9.6.2, 9.8.5, 9.9.1, 9.10.2, 9.10.3 
Review of Contract Documents and Field Conditions by Contractor 
3.2, 3.12.7, 6.1.3 
Review of Contractor’s Submittals by Owner and Architect 
3.10.1, 3.10.2, 3.11, 3.12, 4.2, 5.2, 6.1.3, 9.2, 9.8.2 
Review of Shop Drawings, Product Data and Samples by Contractor 
3.12 
Rights and Remedies 
1.1.2, 2.4, 2.5, 3.5, 3.7.4, 3.15.2, 4.2.6, 5.3, 5.4, 6.1, 6.3, 7.3.1, 8.3, 9.5.1, 9.7, 10.2.5, 10.3, 12.2.1, 12.2.2, 12.2.4, 13.3, 14, 
15.4 
Royalties, Patents and Copyrights 
3.17 
Rules and Notices for Arbitration 
15.4.1 
Safety of Persons and Property 
10.2, 10.4 
Safety Precautions and Programs 
3.3.1, 4.2.2, 4.2.7, 5.3, 10.1, 10.2, 10.4 
Samples, Definition of 
3.12.3 
Samples, Shop Drawings, Product Data and 
3.11, 3.12, 4.2.7 
Samples at the Site, Documents and 
3.11 
Schedule of Values 
9.2, 9.3.1 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
13 

 

Schedules, Construction 
3.10, 3.12.1, 3.12.2, 6.1.3, 15.1.6.2 
Separate Contracts and Contractors 
1.1.4, 3.12.5, 3.14.2, 4.2.4, 4.2.7, 6, 8.3.1, 12.1.2 
Separate Contractors, Definition of 
6.1.1 
Shop Drawings, Definition of 
3.12.1 
Shop Drawings, Product Data and Samples 
3.11, 3.12, 4.2.7 
Site, Use of 
3.13, 6.1.1, 6.2.1 
Site Inspections 
3.2.2, 3.3.3, 3.7.1, 3.7.4, 4.2, 9.9.2, 9.4.2, 9.10.1, 13.4 
Site Visits, Architect’s 
3.7.4, 4.2.2, 4.2.9, 9.4.2, 9.5.1, 9.9.2, 9.10.1, 13.4 
Special Inspections and Testing 
4.2.6, 12.2.1, 13.4 
Specifications, Definition of 
1.1.6 
Specifications 
1.1.1, 1.1.6, 1.2.2, 1.5, 3.12.10, 3.17, 4.2.14 
Statute of Limitations 
15.1.2, 15.4.1.1 
Stopping the Work 
2.2.2, 2.4, 9.7, 10.3, 14.1 
Stored Materials 
6.2.1, 9.3.2, 10.2.1.2, 10.2.4 
Subcontractor, Definition of 
5.1.1 
SUBCONTRACTORS 
5 
Subcontractors, Work by 
1.2.2, 3.3.2, 3.12.1, 3.18, 4.2.3, 5.2.3, 5.3, 5.4, 9.3.1.2, 9.6.7 
Subcontractual Relations 
5.3, 5.4, 9.3.1.2, 9.6, 9.10, 10.2.1, 14.1, 14.2.1 
Submittals 
3.10, 3.11, 3.12, 4.2.7, 5.2.1, 5.2.3, 7.3.4, 9.2, 9.3, 9.8, 9.9.1, 9.10.2, 9.10.3 
Submittal Schedule 
3.10.2, 3.12.5, 4.2.7 
Subrogation, Waivers of 
6.1.1, 11.3 
Substances, Hazardous 
10.3 
Substantial Completion 
4.2.9, 8.1.1, 8.1.3, 8.2.3, 9.4.2, 9.8, 9.9.1, 9.10.3, 12.2, 15.1.2 
Substantial Completion, Definition of 
9.8.1 
Substitution of Subcontractors 
5.2.3, 5.2.4 
Substitution of Architect 
2.3.3 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
14 

 

Substitutions of Materials 
3.4.2, 3.5, 7.3.8 
Sub-subcontractor, Definition of 
5.1.2 
Subsurface Conditions 
3.7.4 
Successors and Assigns 
13.2 
Superintendent 
3.9, 10.2.6 
Supervision and Construction Procedures 
1.2.2, 3.3, 3.4, 3.12.10, 4.2.2, 4.2.7, 6.1.3, 6.2.4, 7.1.3, 7.3.4, 8.2, 8.3.1, 9.4.2, 10, 12, 14, 15.1.4 
Suppliers 
1.5, 3.12.1, 4.2.4, 4.2.6, 5.2.1, 9.3, 9.4.2, 9.5.4, 9.6, 9.10.5, 14.2.1 
Surety 
5.4.1.2, 9.6.8, 9.8.5, 9.10.2, 9.10.3, 11.1.2, 14.2.2, 15.2.7 
Surety, Consent of 
9.8.5, 9.10.2, 9.10.3 
Surveys 
1.1.7, 2.3.4 
Suspension by the Owner for Convenience 
14.3 
Suspension of the Work 
3.7.5, 5.4.2, 14.3 
Suspension or Termination of the Contract 
5.4.1.1, 14 
Taxes 
3.6, 3.8.2.1, 7.3.4.4 
Termination by the Contractor 
14.1, 15.1.7 
Termination by the Owner for Cause 
5.4.1.1, 14.2, 15.1.7 
Termination by the Owner for Convenience 
14.4 
Termination of the Architect 
2.3.3 
Termination of the Contractor Employment 
14.2.2 
 
TERMINATION OR SUSPENSION OF THE CONTRACT 
14 
Tests and Inspections 
3.1.3, 3.3.3, 3.7.1, 4.2.2, 4.2.6, 4.2.9, 9.4.2, 9.8.3, 9.9.2, 9.10.1, 10.3.2, 12.2.1, 13.4 
TIME 
8 
Time, Delays and Extensions of 
3.2.4, 3.7.4, 5.2.3, 7.2.1, 7.3.1, 7.4, 8.3, 9.5.1, 9.7, 10.3.2, 10.4, 14.3.2, 15.1.6, 15.2.5 
Time Limits 
2.1.2, 2.2, 2.5, 3.2.2, 3.10, 3.11, 3.12.5, 3.15.1, 4.2, 5.2, 5.3, 5.4, 6.2.4, 7.3, 7.4, 8.2, 9.2, 9.3.1, 9.3.3, 9.4.1, 9.5, 9.6, 9.7, 9.8, 
9.9, 9.10, 12.2, 13.4, 14, 15.1.2, 15.1.3, 15.4 
Time Limits on Claims 
3.7.4, 10.2.8, 15.1.2, 15.1.3 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
15 

 

Title to Work 
9.3.2, 9.3.3 
UNCOVERING AND CORRECTION OF WORK 
12 
Uncovering of Work 
12.1 
Unforeseen Conditions, Concealed or Unknown 
3.7.4, 8.3.1, 10.3 
Unit Prices 
7.3.3.2, 9.1.2 
Use of Documents 
1.1.1, 1.5, 2.3.6, 3.12.6, 5.3 
Use of Site 
3.13, 6.1.1, 6.2.1 
Values, Schedule of 
9.2, 9.3.1 
Waiver of Claims by the Architect 
13.3.2 
Waiver of Claims by the Contractor 
9.10.5, 13.3.2, 15.1.7 
Waiver of Claims by the Owner 
9.9.3, 9.10.3, 9.10.4, 12.2.2.1, 13.3.2, 14.2.4, 15.1.7 
Waiver of Consequential Damages 
14.2.4, 15.1.7 
Waiver of Liens 
9.3, 9.10.2, 9.10.4 
Waivers of Subrogation 
6.1.1, 11.3 
Warranty 
3.5, 4.2.9, 9.3.3, 9.8.4, 9.9.1, 9.10.2, 9.10.4, 12.2.2, 15.1.2 
Weather Delays 
8.3, 15.1.6.2 
Work, Definition of 
1.1.3 
Written Consent 
1.5.2, 3.4.2, 3.7.4, 3.12.8, 3.14.2, 4.1.2, 9.3.2, 9.10.3, 13.2, 13.3.2, 15.4.4.2 
Written Interpretations 
4.2.11, 4.2.12 
Written Orders 
1.1.1, 2.4, 3.9, 7, 8.2.2, 12.1, 12.2, 13.4.2, 14.3.1 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
16 

 

ARTICLE 1   GENERAL PROVISIONS 
§ 1.1 Basic Definitions 
§ 1.1.1 The Contract Documents 
The Contract Documents are enumerated in the Agreement between the Owner and Contractor (hereinafter the Agreement) 
and consist of the Agreement, Conditions of the Contract (General, Supplementary and other Conditions), Drawings, 
Specifications, Addenda issued prior to execution of the Contract, other documents listed in the Agreement, and Modifications 
issued after execution of the Contract. A Modification is (1) a written amendment to the Contract signed by both parties, (2) a 
Change Order, (3) a Construction Change Directive, or (4) a written order for a minor change in the Work issued by the 
Architect. Contract Documents also include the Invitation for Bid, Instructions to Bidders, sample forms, other information 
furnished by the Owner in anticipation of receiving bids or proposals, the Contractor’s bid or proposal, or portions of Addenda 
relating to bidding or proposal requirements. 
 
§ 1.1.2 The Contract 
The Contract Documents form the Contract for Construction. The Contract represents the entire and integrated agreement 
between the parties hereto and supersedes prior negotiations, representations, or agreements, either written or oral. The 
Contract may be amended or modified only by a Modification. The Contract Documents shall not be construed to create a 
contractual relationship of any kind (1) between the Contractor and the Architect or the Architect’s consultants, (2) between 
the Owner and a Subcontractor or a Sub-subcontractor, (3) between the Owner and the Architect or the Architect’s 
consultants, or (4) between any persons or entities other than the Owner and the Contractor. The Architect shall, however, be 
entitled to performance and enforcement of obligations under the Contract intended to facilitate performance of the 
Architect’s duties. 
 
§ 1.1.3 The Work 
The term “Work” means the construction and services required by the Contract Documents, whether completed or partially 
completed, and includes all other labor, materials, equipment, and services provided or to be provided by the Contractor to 
fulfill the Contractor’s obligations. The Work may constitute the whole or a part of the Project. 
 
§ 1.1.4 The Project 
The Project is the total construction of which the Work performed under the Contract Documents may be the whole or a part 
and which may include construction by the Owner and by Separate Contractors. 
 
§ 1.1.5 The Drawings 
The Drawings are the graphic and pictorial portions of the Contract Documents showing the design, location and dimensions 
of the Work, generally including plans, elevations, sections, details, schedules, and diagrams. 
 
§ 1.1.6 The Specifications 
The Specifications are that portion of the Contract Documents consisting of the written requirements for materials, equipment, 
systems, standards and workmanship for the Work, and performance of related services. 
 
§ 1.1.7 Instruments of Service 
Instruments of Service are representations, in any medium of expression now known or later developed, of the tangible and 
intangible creative work performed by the Owner, Architect and the Architect’s consultants under their respective professional 
services agreements. Instruments of Service may include, without limitation, studies, surveys, models, sketches, drawings, 
specifications, and other similar materials. 
 
§ 1.1.8 Initial Decision Maker 
The Initial Decision Maker is the person identified in the Agreement to render initial decisions on Claims in accordance with 
Section 15.2. The Initial Decision Maker shall not show partiality to the Owner or Contractor and shall not be liable for results 
of interpretations or decisions rendered in good faith. 
 
§ 1.1.9 Knowledge 
The terms “knowledge”, “recognize”, and “discover”, their respective derivatives, and similar terms in the Contract 
Documents, as used in reference to the Contractor, shall be interpreted to mean that which the Contractor knows (or should 
know), recognizes (or should recognize), and discovers (or should discover) in exercising the care, skill, and diligence required 
by the Contract Documents. Analogously, the expression “reasonably inferable” and similar terms in the Contract Documents 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
17 

 

shall be interpreted to mean reasonably inferable by a contractor familiar with the Project and exercising the care, skill, and 
diligence required of the Contractor by the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 1.2 Correlation and Intent of the Contract Documents 
§ 1.2.1 The intent of the Contract Documents is to include all items necessary for the proper execution and completion of the 
Work by the Contractor. The Contract Documents are complementary, and what is required by one shall be as binding as if 
required by all; performance by the Contractor shall be required only to the extent consistent with the Contract Documents 
and reasonably inferable from them as being necessary to produce the indicated results. 
 
§ 1.2.1.1 The invalidity of any provision of the Contract Documents shall not invalidate the Contract or its remaining 
provisions. If it is determined that any provision of the Contract Documents violates any law, or is otherwise invalid or 
unenforceable, then that provision shall be revised to the extent necessary to make that provision legal and enforceable. In 
such case the Contract Documents shall be construed, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to give effect to the parties’ 
intentions and purposes in executing the Contract. 
 
§ 1.2.1.2 In the event of inconsistencies within or between parts of the Contract Documents, or between the Contract 
Documents and applicable standards, codes, and ordinances, the Contractor shall (i) provided the better quality or greater 
quantity of Work or (ii) comply with the more stringent requirement; either or both in accordance with the Owner’s 
interpretation.  The terms and conditions of this Section 1.2.1.2, however, shall not relieve the Contractor of any of the 
obligations set forth in Sections 3.2 and 3.7. 
 
§ 1.2.2 Organization of the Specifications into divisions, sections and articles, and arrangement of Drawings shall not control 
the Contractor in dividing the Work among Subcontractors or in establishing the extent of Work to be performed by any trade. 
 
§ 1.2.3 Unless otherwise stated in the Contract Documents, words that have well-known technical or construction industry 
meanings are used in the Contract Documents in accordance with such recognized meanings. 
 
§ 1.2.4 In the event of inconsistencies between the drawings and specifications or within the other Contract Documents, or 
between the Contract Documents and applicable standards, codes and ordinances, and which inconsistencies are not addressed 
by Addenda issued by Owner prior to the bid opening.  Contractor shall provide the better quality or greater quantity of Work 
or comply with the more stringent requirement, or both, according to the interpretation of the Owner. 
 
§ 1.3 Capitalization 
Terms capitalized in these General Conditions include those that are (1) specifically defined, (2) the titles of numbered 
articles, or (3) the titles of other documents published by the American Institute of Architects. 
 
§ 1.4 Interpretation 
In the interest of brevity the Contract Documents frequently omit modifying words such as “all” and “any” and articles such 
as “the” and “an,” but the fact that a modifier or an article is absent from one statement and appears in another is not intended 
to affect the interpretation of either statement. 
 
§ 1.5 Ownership and Use of Drawings, Specifications, and Other Instruments of Service 
§ 1.5.1 The Owner shall be deemed the authors and owners of the Instruments of Service, including the Drawings and 
Specifications, and will have and retain all common law, statutory, and other reserved rights in the Instruments of Service, 
including copyrights. The Contractor, Subcontractors, Sub-subcontractors, and suppliers shall not own or claim a copyright in 
the Instruments of Service. Submittal or distribution to meet official regulatory requirements or for other purposes in 
connection with the Project is not to be construed as publication in derogation of the reserved rights. 
 
§ 1.5.2 The Contractor, Subcontractors, Sub-subcontractors, and suppliers are authorized to use and reproduce the Instruments 
of Service provided to them, subject to any protocols established pursuant to Sections 1.7 and 1.8, solely and exclusively for 
execution of the Work. All copies made under this authorization shall bear the copyright notice, if any, shown on the 
Instruments of Service. The Contractor, Subcontractors, Sub-subcontractors, and suppliers may not use the Instruments of 
Service on other projects or for additions to the Project outside the scope of the Work without the specific written consent of 
the Owner. 
 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
18 

 

§ 1.6 Notice 
§ 1.6.1 Except as otherwise provided in Section 1.6.2, where the Contract Documents require one party to notify or give notice 
to the other party, such notice shall be provided in writing to the designated representative of the party to whom the notice is 
addressed and shall be deemed to have been duly served if delivered in person, by mail, by courier, or by electronic 
transmission if a method for electronic transmission is set forth in the Agreement. 
 
§ 1.6.2 Notice of Claims as provided in Section 15.1.3 shall be provided in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly 
served only if delivered to the designated representative of the party to whom the notice is addressed by certified or registered 
mail, or by courier providing proof of delivery. 
 
§ 1.7 Digital Data Use and Transmission 
The parties shall agree upon written protocols governing the transmission and use of, and reliance on, Instruments of Service 
or any other information or documentation in digital form. 
 
§ 1.8 Building Information Models Use and Reliance 
Any use of, or reliance on, all or a portion of a building information model without agreement to written protocols governing 
the use of, and reliance on, the information contained in the model shall be at the using or relying party’s sole risk and without 
liability to the other party and its contractors or consultants, the authors of, or contributors to, the building information model, 
and each of their agents and employees. 
 
ARTICLE 2   OWNER 
§ 2.1 General 
§ 2.1.1 The Owner is the person or entity identified as such in the Agreement and is referred to throughout the Contract 
Documents as if singular in number. The Owner shall designate in writing a representative who shall have express authority to 
bind the Owner with respect to all matters requiring the Owner’s approval or authorization. Except as otherwise provided in 
Section 4.2.1, the Architect does not have such authority. The term “Owner” means the Owner or the Owner’s authorized 
representative. 
 
§ 2.1.2 The Owner shall furnish to the Contractor, within fifteen days after receipt of a written request, information necessary 
and relevant for the Contractor to evaluate, give notice of, or enforce mechanic’s lien rights subject to the provisions of 
Illinois law as to liens on public property. Such information shall include a correct statement of the record legal title to the 
property on which the Project is located, usually referred to as the site, and the Owner’s interest therein. 
 
§ 2.2 Evidence of the Owner’s Financial Arrangements 
Intentionally Deleted 
 
§ 2.3 Information and Services Required of the Owner 
§ 2.3.1 Except for permits and fees that are the responsibility of the Contractor under the Contract Documents, including those 
required under Section 3.7.1, the Owner shall secure and pay for necessary approvals, easements, assessments and charges 
required for construction, use or occupancy of permanent structures or for permanent changes in existing facilities. 
 
§ 2.3.2 The Owner may retain an architect lawfully licensed to practice architecture, or an entity lawfully practicing 
architecture, in the jurisdiction where the Project is located. That person or entity is identified as the Architect in the 
Agreement and is referred to throughout the Contract Documents as if singular in number. 
 
§ 2.3.3 If the employment of the Architect terminates, the Owner may employ a successor to whom the Contractor has no 
reasonable objection and whose status under the Contract Documents shall be that of the Architect. 
 
§ 2.3.4 The Owner may furnish surveys, if required for performing the Work, describing physical characteristics, legal 
limitations and utility locations for the site of the Project, and a legal description of the site. The Contractor shall be entitled to 
rely on the accuracy of information furnished by the Owner but shall exercise proper precautions relating to the safe 
performance of the Work. 
 
§ 2.3.5 The Owner shall furnish information or services required of the Owner by the Contract Documents with reasonable 
promptness. The Owner shall also furnish any other information or services under the Owner’s control and relevant to the 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
19 

 

Contractor’s performance of the Work with reasonable promptness after receiving the Contractor’s written request for such 
information or services. 
 
§ 2.3.6 Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, the Owner shall furnish to the Contractor one copy of the 
Contract Documents for purposes of making reproductions pursuant to Section 1.5.2. 
 
§ 2.4 Owner’s Right to Stop the Work 
If the Contractor fails to correct Work that is not in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents as required 
by Section 12.2 or repeatedly fails to carry out Work in accordance with the Contract Documents, the Owner may issue a 
written order to the Contractor to stop the Work, or any portion thereof, until the cause for such order has been eliminated; 
however, the right of the Owner to stop the Work shall not give rise to a duty on the part of the Owner to exercise this right for 
the benefit of the Contractor or any other person or entity, except to the extent required by Section 6.1.3. 
 
§ 2.5 Owner’s Right to Carry Out the Work 
If the Contractor defaults or neglects to carry out the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents and fails within a ten-
day period after receipt of notice from the Owner to commence and continue correction of such default or neglect with 
diligence and promptness, the Owner may, without prejudice to other remedies the Owner may have, correct such default or 
neglect. Such action by the Owner and amounts charged to the Contractor are both subject to prior approval of the Architect 
and the Architect may, pursuant to Section 9.5.1, withhold or nullify a Certificate for Payment in whole or in part, to the 
extent reasonably necessary to reimburse the Owner for the reasonable cost of correcting such deficiencies, including Owner’s 
expenses and compensation for the Architect’s additional services made necessary by such default, neglect, or failure. If 
current and future payments are not sufficient to cover such amounts, the Contractor shall pay the difference to the Owner. If 
the Contractor disagrees with the actions of the Owner or the Architect, or the amounts claimed as costs to the Owner, the 
Contractor may file a Claim pursuant to Article 15. 
 
§ 2.6 Extent of Owner Rights 
The rights stated in this Article 2 and elsewhere in the Contract Documents are cumulative and not in limitation of any rights of 
the Owner (i) granted in the Contract Documents, (ii) at law, or (iii) in equity. In no event shall the Owner have control over, 
charge of, or any responsibility for construction means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures or for safety precautions 
and programs in connection with the Work, notwithstanding any of the rights and authority granted the Owner in the Contract 
Documents. 
 
ARTICLE 3   CONTRACTOR 
§ 3.1 General 
§ 3.1.1 The Contractor is the person or entity identified as such in the Agreement and is referred to throughout the Contract 
Documents as if singular in number. The Contractor shall be lawfully licensed, if required in the jurisdiction where the Project 
is located. The Contractor shall designate in writing a representative who shall have express authority to bind the Contractor 
with respect to all matters under this Contract. The term “Contractor” means the Contractor or the Contractor’s authorized 
representative. 
 
§ 3.1.2 The Contractor shall perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 3.1.3 The Contractor shall not be relieved of its obligations to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents 
either by activities or duties of the Architect in the Architect’s administration of the Contract, by the absence of any Architect 
providing professional services under the Contract Documents, or by tests, inspections or approvals required or performed by 
persons or entities other than the Contractor. 
 
§ 3.2 Review of Contract Documents and Field Conditions by Contractor 
§ 3.2.1 Execution of the Contract by the Contractor is a representation that the Contractor has visited the site, become 
generally familiar with local conditions under which the Work is to be performed, and correlated personal observations with 
requirements of the Contract Documents. The Owner assumes no responsibility or liability for the physical condition or safety 
of the Project site or any improvements located on the Project site or any improvements located on the Project site. Except as 
set forth in Section 10.3, the Contractor shall be solely responsible for providing a safe place for the performance of the Work.  
The Owner shall not be required to make any adjustment in either the Contract Sum or the Contract Time in connection with 
any failure by the Contractor or any Subcontractor to have complied with the requirements of this Section 3.2.1; provided, 
however, that the terms of this Section 3.2.1 shall not limit or otherwise impair the parties’ rights and obligations with regard 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
20 

 

to unknown conditions as otherwise set forth in Section 3.7.4. 
 
§ 3.2.2 Because the Contract Documents are complementary, the Contractor shall, before starting each portion of the Work, 
carefully study and compare the various Contract Documents relative to that portion of the Work, as well as the information 
furnished by the Owner pursuant to Section 2.3.4, shall take field measurements of any existing conditions related to that 
portion of the Work, and shall observe any conditions at the site affecting it. These obligations are for the purpose of 
facilitating coordination and construction by the Contractor and are not for the purpose of discovering errors, omissions, or 
inconsistencies in the Contract Documents; however, the Contractor shall promptly report to the Architect any errors, 
inconsistencies or omissions discovered by or made known to the Contractor as a request for information in such form as the 
Architect may require. It is recognized that the Contractor’s review is made in the Contractor’s capacity as a contractor and 
not as a licensed design professional, unless otherwise specifically provided in the Contract Documents. The exactness of 
grades, elevations, dimensions, or locations given on any Drawings issued by the Architect or Owner, or the work installed by 
other contractors is not guaranteed by the Architect or the Owner.  The Contractor shall, therefore, satisfy itself as to the 
accuracy of all grades, elevations, dimensions, and locations.  In all cases of interconnection of its Work with existing or other 
work, Contractor shall verify at the site all dimensions relating to such existing or other work.  Any errors due to the 
Contractor’s failure to so verify all such grades, elevations, dimensions, or locations shall be promptly rectified by the 
Contractor without any additional cost to the Owner. 
 
§ 3.2.3 The Contractor is not required to ascertain that the Contract Documents are in accordance with applicable laws, 
statutes, ordinances, codes, rules and regulations, or lawful orders of public authorities, but the Contractor shall promptly 
report to the Architect any nonconformity discovered by or made known to the Contractor as a request for information in such 
form as the Architect may require. 
 
§ 3.2.4 If the Contractor believes that additional cost or time is involved because of clarifications or instructions the Architect 
issues in response to the Contractor’s notices or requests for information pursuant to Sections 3.2.2 or 3.2.3, the Contractor 
shall submit Claims as provided in Article 15. If the Contractor fails to perform the obligations of Sections 3.2.2 or 3.2.3, the 
Contractor shall pay such costs and damages to the Owner, subject to Section 15.1.7, as would have been avoided if the 
Contractor had performed such obligations. If the Contractor performs those obligations, the Contractor shall not be liable to 
the Owner or Architect for damages resulting from errors, inconsistencies or omissions in the Contract Documents, for 
differences between field measurements or conditions and the Contract Documents, or for nonconformities of the Contract 
Documents to applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, rules and regulations, and lawful orders of public authorities. 
 
§ 3.3 Supervision and Construction Procedures 
§ 3.3.1 The Contractor shall supervise and direct the Work, using the Contractor’s best skill and attention. The Contractor shall 
be solely responsible for, and have control over, construction means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures, and for 
coordinating all portions of the Work under the Contract. If the Contract Documents give specific instructions concerning 
construction means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures, the Contractor shall evaluate the jobsite safety thereof and 
shall be solely responsible for the jobsite safety of such means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures. If the 
Contractor determines that such means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures may not be safe, the Contractor shall 
give timely notice to the Owner and Architect, and shall propose alternative means, methods, techniques, sequences, or 
procedures. The Architect shall evaluate the proposed alternative solely for conformance with the design intent for the 
completed construction. Unless the Architect objects to the Contractor’s proposed alternative, the Contractor shall perform the 
Work using its alternative means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures. 
 
§ 3.3.2 The Contractor shall be responsible to the Owner for acts and omissions of the Contractor’s employees, Subcontractors 
and their agents and employees, and other persons or entities performing portions of the Work for, or on behalf of, the 
Contractor or any of its Subcontractors. 
 
§ 3.3.3 The Contractor shall be responsible for inspection of portions of Work already performed to determine that such 
portions are in proper condition to receive subsequent Work. 
 
§ 3.4 Labor and Materials 
§ 3.4.1 Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall provide and pay for labor, materials, 
equipment, tools, construction equipment and machinery, water, heat, utilities, transportation, and other facilities and services 
necessary for proper execution and completion of the Work, whether temporary or permanent and whether or not incorporated 
or to be incorporated in the Work. 
 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
21 

 

§ 3.4.2 Except in the case of minor changes in the Work approved by the Architect in accordance with Section 3.12.8 or 
ordered by the Architect in accordance with Section 7.4, the Contractor may make substitutions only with the consent of the 
Owner, after evaluation by the Architect and in accordance with a Change Order or Construction Change Directive. 
 
§ 3.4.3 The Contractor shall enforce strict discipline and good order among the Contractor’s employees and other persons 
carrying out the Work. The Contractor shall not permit employment of unfit persons or persons not properly skilled in tasks 
assigned to them. 
 
§ 3.5 Warranty 
§ 3.5.1 The Contractor warrants to the Owner and Architect that materials and equipment furnished under the Contract will be 
of good quality and new unless the Contract Documents require or permit otherwise. The Contractor further warrants that the 
Work will conform to the requirements of the Contract Documents and will be free from defects, except for those inherent in 
the quality of the Work the Contract Documents require or permit. Work, materials, or equipment not conforming to these 
requirements may be considered defective. The Contractor’s warranty excludes remedy for damage or defect caused by abuse, 
alterations to the Work not executed by the Contractor, improper or insufficient maintenance, improper operation, or normal 
wear and tear and normal usage. If required by the Architect, the Contractor shall furnish satisfactory evidence as to the kind 
and quality of materials and equipment. Contractor further warrants to the Owner that materials and equipment installed under 
the Contract were installed in accordance with manufacturer requirements, or if none, in accordance with industry standards. 
 
The Contractor agrees to assign to the Owner at the time of final completion of the Work any and all manufacturer’s 
warranties relating to materials and labor used in the Work and further agrees to perform the Work in such manner so as to 
preserve any and all such manufacturer’s warranties. 
 
If necessary as a matter of law, the Contractor may retain the right to enforce directly any such manufacturers’ warranties 
during the one year period following the date of Substantial Completion. 
 
§ 3.5.2 All material, equipment, or other special warranties required by the Contract Documents shall be issued in the name of 
the Owner, or shall be transferable to the Owner, and shall commence in accordance with Section 9.8.4. 
 
§ 3.6 Taxes 
The Contractor shall pay sales, consumer, use and similar taxes for the Work provided by the Contractor that are legally 
enacted when bids are received or negotiations concluded, whether or not yet effective or merely scheduled to go into effect. 
 
§ 3.7 Permits, Fees, Notices and Compliance with Laws 
§ 3.7.1 The Contractor shall secure, pay for and, as soon as practicable, furnish the Owner with copies or certificates of all 
permits and fees, licenses, and inspections necessary for the proper execution and completion of the Work (collectively, 
“Permits”) including, without limitations, all building permits. Contractor shall be responsible for obtaining and providing any 
sealed, stamped and/or engineered drawings required in order to acquire any Permits and certificates of occupancy. All 
connection charges, assessments, or inspection fees as may be imposed by any municipal agency or utility company are 
included in the Contract Sum and shall be the Contractor’s responsibility. 
 
§ 3.7.2 The Contractor shall comply with and give notices required by applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, rules and 
regulations, and lawful orders of public authorities applicable to performance of the Work. 
 
§ 3.7.3 If the Contractor performs Work knowing it to be contrary to applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, rules and 
regulations, or lawful orders of public authorities, the Contractor shall assume appropriate responsibility for such Work and 
shall bear the costs attributable to correction. 
 
§ 3.7.4 Concealed or Unknown Conditions 
If the Contractor encounters conditions at the site that are (1) subsurface or otherwise concealed physical conditions that differ 
materially from those indicated in the Contract Documents or (2) unknown physical conditions of an unusual nature that differ 
materially from those ordinarily found to exist and generally recognized as inherent in construction activities of the character 
provided for in the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall promptly provide notice to the Owner and the Architect before 
conditions are disturbed and in no event later than 14 days after first observance of the conditions. The Architect will 
promptly investigate such conditions and, if the Architect determines that they differ materially and cause an increase or 
decrease in the Contractor’s cost of, or time required for, performance of any part of the Work, will recommend that an 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
22 

 

equitable adjustment be made in the Contract Sum or Contract Time, or both. If the Architect determines that the conditions at 
the site are not materially different from those indicated in the Contract Documents and that no change in the terms of the 
Contract is justified, the Architect shall promptly notify the Owner and Contractor, stating the reasons. If either party disputes 
the Architect’s determination or recommendation, that party may submit a Claim as provided in Article 15. 
 
§ 3.7.5 If, in the course of the Work, the Contractor encounters human remains or recognizes the existence of burial markers, 
archaeological sites or wetlands not indicated in the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall immediately suspend any 
operations that would affect them and shall notify the Owner and Architect. Upon receipt of such notice, the Owner shall 
promptly take any action necessary to obtain governmental authorization required to resume the operations. The Contractor 
shall continue to suspend such operations until otherwise instructed by the Owner but shall continue with all other operations 
that do not affect those remains or features. Requests for adjustments in the Contract Sum and Contract Time arising from the 
existence of such remains or features may be made as provided in Article 15. 
 
§ 3.8 Allowances and Contingency 
§ 3.8.1 The Contractor shall include in the Contract Sum all allowances stated in the Contract Documents. Items covered by 
allowances shall be supplied for such amounts and by such persons or entities as the Owner may direct, but the Contractor 
shall not be required to employ persons or entities to whom the Contractor has reasonable objection.  
 
§ 3.8.2 Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, 

.1      allowances shall cover the cost to the Contractor of materials and equipment delivered at the site and all 
required taxes, less applicable trade discounts; 

.2      Contractor’s costs for unloading and handling at the site, labor, installation costs, overhead, profit, and other 
expenses contemplated for stated allowance amounts shall be included in the Contract Sum but not in the 
allowances; and 

.3      whenever costs are more than or less than allowances, the Contract Sum shall be adjusted accordingly by 
Change Order. The amount of the Change Order shall reflect (1) the difference between actual costs and the 
allowances under Section 3.8.2.1.. 

 
§ 3.8.3 Materials and equipment under an allowance shall be selected by the Owner with reasonable promptness. 
 
§ 3.9 Superintendent 
§ 3.9.1 The Contractor shall employ a competent superintendent and necessary assistants who shall be in attendance at the 
Project site during performance of the Work. The superintendent shall represent the Contractor, and communications given to 
the superintendent shall be as binding as if given to the Contractor. 
 
§ 3.9.2 The Contractor, as soon as practicable after award of the Contract, shall notify the Owner and Architect of the name 
and qualifications of a proposed superintendent. Within 14 days of receipt of the information, the Architect may notify the 
Contractor, stating whether the Owner or the Architect (1) has reasonable objection to the proposed superintendent or (2) 
requires additional time for review. Failure of the Architect to provide notice within the 14-day period shall constitute notice 
of no reasonable objection. 
 
§ 3.9.3 The Contractor shall not employ a proposed superintendent to whom the Owner or Architect has made reasonable and 
timely objection. The Contractor shall not change the superintendent without the Owner’s consent, which shall not 
unreasonably be withheld or delayed. 
 
§ 3.10 Contractor’s Construction and Submittal Schedules 
§ 3.10.1 The Contractor, promptly after being awarded the Contract, shall submit for the Owner’s and Architect’s information 
a Contractor’s construction schedule for the Work. The schedule shall contain detail appropriate for the Project, including (1) 
the date of commencement of the Work, interim schedule milestone dates, and the date of Substantial Completion; (2) an 
apportionment of the Work by construction activity; and (3) the time required for completion of each portion of the Work. The 
schedule shall provide for the orderly progression of the Work to completion and shall not exceed time limits current under 
the Contract Documents. The schedule shall be revised at appropriate intervals as required by the conditions of the Work and 
Project. 
 
§ 3.10.2 The Contractor, promptly after being awarded the Contract and thereafter as necessary to maintain a current submittal 
schedule, shall submit a submittal schedule for the Architect’s approval. The Architect’s approval shall not be unreasonably 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
23 

 

delayed or withheld. The submittal schedule shall (1) be coordinated with the Contractor’s construction schedule, and (2) 
allow the Architect reasonable time to review submittals. If the Contractor fails to submit a submittal schedule, or fails to 
provide submittals in accordance with the approved submittal schedule, the Contractor shall not be entitled to any increase in 
Contract Sum or extension of Contract Time based on the time required for review of submittals. 
 
§ 3.10.3 The Contractor shall perform the Work in general accordance with the most recent schedules submitted to the Owner 
and Architect. 
 
§ 3.11 Documents and Samples at the Site 
The Contractor shall make available, at the Project site, the Contract Documents, including Change Orders, Construction 
Change Directives, and other Modifications, in good order and marked currently to indicate field changes and selections made 
during construction, and the approved Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples, and similar required submittals. These shall be 
in electronic form or paper copy, available to the Architect and Owner, and delivered to the Architect for submittal to the 
Owner upon completion of the Work as a record of the Work as constructed. 
 
§ 3.12 Shop Drawings, Product Data and Samples 
§ 3.12.1 Shop Drawings are drawings, diagrams, schedules, and other data specially prepared for the Work by the Contractor 
or a Subcontractor, Sub-subcontractor, manufacturer, supplier, or distributor to illustrate some portion of the Work. 
 
§ 3.12.2 Product Data are illustrations, standard schedules, performance charts, instructions, brochures, diagrams, and other 
information furnished by the Contractor to illustrate materials or equipment for some portion of the Work. 
 
§ 3.12.3 Samples are physical examples that illustrate materials, equipment, or workmanship, and establish standards by which 
the Work will be judged. 
 
§ 3.12.4 Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples, and similar submittals are not Contract Documents. Their purpose is to 
demonstrate how the Contractor proposes to conform to the information given and the design concept expressed in the 
Contract Documents for those portions of the Work for which the Contract Documents require submittals. Review by the 
Architect is subject to the limitations of Section 4.2.7. Informational submittals upon which the Architect is not expected to 
take responsive action may be so identified in the Contract Documents. Submittals that are not required by the Contract 
Documents may be returned by the Architect without action. 
 
§ 3.12.5 The Contractor shall review for compliance with the Contract Documents, approve, and submit to the Architect, Shop 
Drawings, Product Data, Samples, and similar submittals required by the Contract Documents, in accordance with the 
submittal schedule approved by the Architect or, in the absence of an approved submittal schedule, with reasonable 
promptness and in such sequence as to cause no delay in the Work or in the activities of the Owner or of Separate Contractors. 
 
§ 3.12.6 By submitting Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples, and similar submittals, the Contractor represents to the Owner 
and Architect that the Contractor has (1) reviewed and approved them, (2) determined and verified materials, field 
measurements and field construction criteria related thereto, or will do so, and (3) checked and coordinated the information 
contained within such submittals with the requirements of the Work and of the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 3.12.7 The Contractor shall perform no portion of the Work for which the Contract Documents require submittal and review 
of Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples, or similar submittals, until the respective submittal has been approved by the 
Architect. 
 
§ 3.12.8 The Work shall be in accordance with approved submittals except that the Contractor shall not be relieved of 
responsibility for deviations from the requirements of the Contract Documents by the Architect’s approval of Shop Drawings, 
Product Data, Samples, or similar submittals, unless the Contractor has specifically notified the Architect of such deviation at 
the time of submittal and (1) the Architect has given written approval to the specific deviation as a minor change in the Work, 
or (2) a Change Order or Construction Change Directive has been issued authorizing the deviation. The Contractor shall not 
be relieved of responsibility for errors or omissions in Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples, or similar submittals, by the 
Architect’s approval thereof. 
 
§ 3.12.9 The Contractor shall direct specific attention, in writing or on resubmitted Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples, or 
similar submittals, to revisions other than those requested by the Architect on previous submittals. In the absence of such 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
24 

 

notice, the Architect’s approval of a resubmission shall not apply to such revisions. 
 
§ 3.12.10 The Contractor shall not be required to provide professional services that constitute the practice of architecture or 
engineering unless such services are specifically required by the Contract Documents for a portion of the Work or unless the 
Contractor needs to provide such services in order to carry out the Contractor’s responsibilities for construction means, 
methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures. The Contractor shall not be required to provide professional services in 
violation of applicable law. 
 
§ 3.12.10.1 If professional design services or certifications by a design professional related to systems, materials, or equipment 
are specifically required of the Contractor by the Contract Documents, the Owner and the Architect will specify all 
performance and design criteria that such services must satisfy. The Contractor shall be entitled to rely upon the adequacy and 
accuracy of the performance and design criteria provided in the Contract Documents. The Contractor shall cause such services 
or certifications to be provided by an appropriately licensed design professional, whose signature and seal shall appear on all 
drawings, calculations, specifications, certifications, Shop Drawings, and other submittals prepared by such professional. 
Shop Drawings, and other submittals related to the Work, designed or certified by such professional, if prepared by others, 
shall bear such professional’s written approval when submitted to the Architect. The Owner and the Architect shall be entitled 
to rely upon the adequacy and accuracy of the services, certifications, and approvals performed or provided by such design 
professionals, provided the Owner and Architect have specified to the Contractor the performance and design criteria that such 
services must satisfy. Pursuant to this Section 3.12.10, the Architect will review and approve or take other appropriate action 
on submittals only for the limited purpose of checking for conformance with information given and the design concept 
expressed in the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 3.12.10.2 If the Contract Documents require the Contractor’s design professional to certify that the Work has been performed 
in accordance with the design criteria, the Contractor shall furnish such certifications to the Architect at the time and in the 
form specified by the Architect. 
 
§ 3.13 Use of Site 
The Contractor shall confine operations at the site to areas permitted by applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, rules and 
regulations, lawful orders of public authorities, and the Contract Documents and shall not unreasonably encumber the site 
with materials or equipment. 
 
§ 3.14 Cutting and Patching 
§ 3.14.1 The Contractor shall be responsible for cutting, fitting, or patching required to complete the Work or to make its parts 
fit together properly. All areas requiring cutting, fitting, or patching shall be restored to the condition existing prior to the 
cutting, fitting, or patching, unless otherwise required by the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 3.14.2 The Contractor shall not damage or endanger a portion of the Work or fully or partially completed construction of the 
Owner or Separate Contractors by cutting, patching, or otherwise altering such construction, or by excavation. The Contractor 
shall not cut or otherwise alter construction by the Owner or a Separate Contractor except with written consent of the Owner 
and of the Separate Contractor. Consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. The Contractor shall not unreasonably withhold, 
from the Owner or a Separate Contractor, its consent to cutting or otherwise altering the Work. 
 
§ 3.15 Cleaning Up 
§ 3.15.1 The Contractor shall keep the premises and surrounding area free from accumulation of waste materials and rubbish 
caused by operations under the Contract. At completion of the Work, the Contractor shall remove waste materials, rubbish, the 
Contractor’s tools, construction equipment, machinery, and surplus materials from and about the Project. 
 
§ 3.15.2 If the Contractor fails to clean up as provided in the Contract Documents, the Owner may do so and the Owner shall 
be entitled to reimbursement from the Contractor. 
 
§ 3.16 Access to Work 
The Contractor shall provide the Owner and Architect with access to the Work in preparation and progress wherever located. 
 
§ 3.17 Royalties, Patents and Copyrights 
The Contractor shall pay all royalties and license fees. The Contractor shall defend suits or claims for infringement of 
copyrights and patent rights and shall hold the Owner and Architect harmless from loss on account thereof, but shall not be 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
25 

 

responsible for defense or loss when a particular design, process, or product of a particular manufacturer or manufacturers is 
required by the Contract Documents, or where the copyright violations are contained in Drawings, Specifications, or other 
documents prepared by the Owner or Architect. However, if an infringement of a copyright or patent is discovered by, or 
made known to, the Contractor, the Contractor shall be responsible for the loss unless the information is promptly furnished to 
the Architect. 
 
§ 3.18 Indemnification 
§ 3.18.1 To the fullest extent permitted by law, and further subject to the hold harmless and indemnification obligations set 
forth in Section One: General Conditions of the Invitation for Bid, each party hereto shall indemnify and hold harmless the 
other and the other party’s respective agents and employees, from and against third-party claims and associated damages, 
losses and expenses, including but not limited to attorneys’ fees, arising out of or resulting from performance of the Work or 
otherwise under this Agreement, but only to the extent caused by the negligent acts or omissions of the indemnifying party or 
anyone directly or indirectly employed by them or anyone for whose acts they may be liable. Such obligation shall not be 
construed to negate, abridge, or reduce other rights or obligations of indemnity that would otherwise exist as to a party or 
person described in this Section 3.18.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event and to the extent applicable law imposes 
limits upon Owner’s right to contractually agree to indemnification, Owner’s obligations under this clause shall be limited as 
otherwise proscribed by applicable law. 
 
§ 3.18.2 In claims against any person or entity indemnified under this Section 3.18 by an employee of the Contractor, a 
Subcontractor, anyone directly or indirectly employed by them, or anyone for whose acts they may be liable, the 
indemnification obligation under Section 3.18.1 shall not be limited by a limitation on amount or type of damages, 
compensation, or benefits payable by or for the Contractor or a Subcontractor under workers’ compensation acts, disability 
benefit acts, or other employee benefit acts. 
 
ARTICLE 4   ARCHITECT 
§ 4.1 General 
§ 4.1.1 The Architect is the person or entity retained by the Owner pursuant to Section 2.3.2 and identified as such in the 
Agreement. As of the date of this Contract, Owner has not engaged an Architect for purposes of this Project. If Owner 
engages an architect or other design professional to provide professional services with regard to this Project and become the 
“Architect” as otherwise defined and used throughout the Contract Documents, such engagement and the architect’s or design 
professional’s incorporation as Architect shall occur upon Owner’s written notice to Contractor. Unless and until an Architect 
is so engaged by Owner with regard to this Project, each reference to “Architect” throughout the Contract Documents shall 
instead be deemed a reference to “Owner”, subject to and except as otherwise set forth in Section 4.1.3, below. The term 
Architect, as used throughout the Contract Documents, shall not be interpreted or deemed to mean any architect or other 
design professional employed, subcontracted, or otherwise engaged by Contractor. With respect to any review or response 
times set forth in the Contract Documents that include separate reviews and/or approvals by both “Architect” and Owner, only 
the longer of the two time periods shall apply, with the other deemed waived hereunder. 
 
§ 4.1.2 Duties, responsibilities, and limitations of authority of the Architect as set forth in the Contract Documents shall not be 
restricted, modified, or extended without written consent of the Owner, Contractor, and Architect. Consent shall not be 
unreasonably withheld. 
 
§ 4.1.3 Notwithstanding Section 4.1.1, for purposes of the Contract Documents, at any time when Owner does not have an 
Architect engaged with regard to this Project, the following references to “Architect” shall not be deemed a reference to 
“Owner”:  

.1      The following Sections of the AIA Document A201-2017: §§ 1.1.2; 2.1.1; 2.3.2; 2.3.3;  4.2.3; 11.3.1; and  

.2      Any reference to Architect to the extent the terms applicable to such reference impose or otherwise require the 
party identified as the Architect to exercise an architect’s, engineer’s, or other design professional’s professional 
judgement or would cause the Owner, if deemed to be the Architect, to provide professional services that 
constitute the practice of architecture or engineering or take any other action, or have any responsibility, that 
would require professional licensure as an architect, engineer, or design professional, in which case, such term 
shall be construed to be limited just to the performance of the administrative or other non-professional function 
required by such term, with the clarification that any such responsibilities shall not be deemed assumed by or 
imposed upon Contractor unless otherwise set forth in the Contract Documents. 

 
Owner and Contractor agree and acknowledge that revising the AIA-prepared Contract Documents to account for the lack of 
an Architect engaged by the Owner would be a significant burden that would likely not fully address every potential 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
26 

 

circumstance or consideration required by the parties. Accordingly, the parties agree to cooperate in good faith and fair 
dealing in the event a situation arises in which unanticipated and unintended consequences, of the nature meant to be 
addressed by the terms of Section 4.1.1 and Section 4.1.3, arise, to amend the agreement or construe such portion of the 
Contract so as to effect the intent of the parties as expressed in the Contract Documents as closely as possible, in an equitable 
and mutually acceptable manner.  
 
§ 4.2 Administration of the Contract 
§ 4.2.1 The Architect will provide administration of the Contract as described in the Contract Documents and will be an 
Owner’s representative during construction until the date the Architect issues the final Certificate for Payment. The Architect 
will have authority to act on behalf of the Owner only to the extent provided in the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 4.2.2 The Architect will visit the site at intervals appropriate to the stage of construction, or as otherwise agreed with the 
Owner, to become generally familiar with the progress and quality of the portion of the Work completed, and to determine in 
general if the Work observed is being performed in a manner indicating that the Work, when fully completed, will be in 
accordance with the Contract Documents. However, the Architect will not be required to make exhaustive or continuous on-
site inspections to check the quality or quantity of the Work. The Architect will not have control over, charge of, or 
responsibility for the construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures, or for the safety precautions and 
programs in connection with the Work, since these are solely the Contractor’s rights and responsibilities under the Contract 
Documents. 
 
§ 4.2.3 On the basis of the site visits, the Architect will keep the Owner reasonably informed about the progress and quality of 
the portion of the Work completed, and promptly report to the Owner (1) known deviations from the Contract Documents, (2) 
known deviations from the most recent construction schedule submitted by the Contractor, and (3) defects and deficiencies 
observed in the Work. The Architect will not be responsible for the Contractor’s failure to perform the Work in accordance 
with the requirements of the Contract Documents. The Architect will not have control over or charge of, and will not be 
responsible for acts or omissions of, the Contractor, Subcontractors, or their agents or employees, or any other persons or 
entities performing portions of the Work. 
 
§ 4.2.4 Communications 
The Owner and Contractor shall communicate with each other about matters arising out of or related to the Contract and 
include the Architect in all communications that relate to or affect the Architect’s services or professional responsibilities. The 
Owner shall promptly notify the Architect of the substance of any direct communications between the Owner and the 
Contractor otherwise relating to the Project. Communications by and with the Architect’s consultants shall be through the 
Architect. Communications by and with Subcontractors and suppliers shall be through the Contractor. Communications by 
and with Separate Contractors shall be through the Owner. The Contract Documents may specify other communication 
protocols. 
 
§ 4.2.5 Based on the Architect’s evaluations of the Contractor’s Applications for Payment, the Architect will review and 
certify the amounts due the Contractor and will issue Certificates for Payment in such amounts. 
 
§ 4.2.6 The Architect has authority to reject Work that does not conform to the Contract Documents. Whenever the Architect 
considers it necessary or advisable, the Architect will have authority to require inspection or testing of the Work in accordance 
with Sections 13.4.2 and 13.4.3, whether or not the Work is fabricated, installed or completed. However, neither this authority 
of the Architect nor a decision made in good faith either to exercise or not to exercise such authority shall give rise to a duty 
or responsibility of the Architect to the Contractor, Subcontractors, suppliers, their agents or employees, or other persons or 
entities performing portions of the Work. 
 
§ 4.2.7 The Architect will review and approve, or take other appropriate action upon, the Contractor’s submittals such as Shop 
Drawings, Product Data, and Samples, but only for the limited purpose of checking for conformance with information given 
and the design concept expressed in the Contract Documents. The Architect’s action will be taken in accordance with the 
submittal schedule approved by the Architect or, in the absence of an approved submittal schedule, with reasonable 
promptness while allowing sufficient time in the Architect’s professional judgment to permit adequate review. Review of such 
submittals is not conducted for the purpose of determining the accuracy and completeness of other details such as dimensions 
and quantities, or for substantiating instructions for installation or performance of equipment or systems, all of which remain 
the responsibility of the Contractor as required by the Contract Documents. The Architect’s review of the Contractor’s 
submittals shall not relieve the Contractor of the obligations under Sections 3.3, 3.5, and 3.12. The Architect’s review shall 
not constitute approval of safety precautions or of any construction means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures. 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
27 

 

The Architect’s approval of a specific item shall not indicate approval of an assembly of which the item is a component. 
 
§ 4.2.8 The Architect will prepare Change Orders and Construction Change Directives, and may order minor changes in the 
Work as provided in Section 7.4. The Architect will investigate and make determinations and recommendations regarding 
concealed and unknown conditions as provided in Section 3.7.4. 
 
§ 4.2.9 The Architect will conduct inspections to determine the date or dates of Substantial Completion and the date of final 
completion; issue Certificates of Substantial Completion pursuant to Section 9.8; receive and forward to the Owner, for the 
Owner’s review and records, written warranties and related documents required by the Contract and assembled by the 
Contractor pursuant to Section 9.10; and issue a final Certificate for Payment pursuant to Section 9.10. 
 
§ 4.2.10 If the Owner and Architect agree, the Architect will provide one or more Project representatives to assist in carrying 
out the Architect’s responsibilities at the site. The Owner shall notify the Contractor of any change in the duties, 
responsibilities and limitations of authority of the Project representatives. 
 
§ 4.2.11 The Architect will interpret and decide matters concerning performance under, and requirements of, the Contract 
Documents on written request of either the Owner or Contractor. The Architect’s response to such requests will be made in 
writing within any time limits agreed upon or otherwise with reasonable promptness. 
 
§ 4.2.12 Interpretations and decisions of the Architect will be consistent with the intent of, and reasonably inferable from, the 
Contract Documents and will be in writing or in the form of drawings. When making such interpretations and decisions, the 
Architect will endeavor to secure faithful performance by both Owner and Contractor, will not show partiality to either, and 
will not be liable for results of interpretations or decisions rendered in good faith. 
 
§ 4.2.13 The Architect’s decisions on matters relating to aesthetic effect will be final if consistent with the intent expressed in 
the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 4.2.14 The Architect will review and respond to requests for information about the Contract Documents. The Architect’s 
response to such requests will be made in writing within any time limits agreed upon or otherwise with reasonable 
promptness. If appropriate, the Architect will prepare and issue supplemental Drawings and Specifications in response to the 
requests for information. 
 
ARTICLE 5   SUBCONTRACTORS 
§ 5.1 Definitions 
§ 5.1.1 A Subcontractor is a person or entity who has a direct contract with the Contractor to perform a portion of the Work at 
the site. The term “Subcontractor” is referred to throughout the Contract Documents as if singular in number and means a 
Subcontractor or an authorized representative of the Subcontractor. The term “Subcontractor” does not include a Separate 
Contractor or the subcontractors of a Separate Contractor. 
 
§ 5.1.2 A Sub-subcontractor is a person or entity who has a direct or indirect contract with a Subcontractor to perform a 
portion of the Work at the site. The term “Sub-subcontractor” is referred to throughout the Contract Documents as if singular 
in number and means a Sub-subcontractor or an authorized representative of the Sub-subcontractor. 
 
§ 5.2 Award of Subcontracts and Other Contracts for Portions of the Work 
§ 5.2.1 Unless otherwise stated in the Contract Documents, the Contractor, as soon as practicable after award of the Contract, 
shall notify the Owner and Architect of the persons or entities proposed for each principal portion of the Work, including 
those who are to furnish materials or equipment fabricated to a special design. Within 14 days of receipt of the information, 
the Architect may notify the Contractor whether the Owner or the Architect (1) has reasonable objection to any such proposed 
person or entity or (2) requires additional time for review. Failure of the Architect to provide notice within the 14-day period 
shall constitute notice of no reasonable objection. 
 
§ 5.2.2 The Contractor shall not contract with a proposed person or entity to whom the Owner or Architect has made 
reasonable and timely objection. The Contractor shall not be required to contract with anyone to whom the Contractor has 
made reasonable objection. 
 
§ 5.2.3 If the Owner or Architect has reasonable objection to a person or entity proposed by the Contractor, the Contractor 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
28 

 

shall propose another to whom the Owner or Architect has no reasonable objection. If the proposed but rejected Subcontractor 
was reasonably capable of performing the Work, the Contract Sum and Contract Time shall be increased or decreased by the 
difference, if any, occasioned by such change, and an appropriate Change Order shall be issued before commencement of the 
substitute Subcontractor’s Work. However, no increase in the Contract Sum or Contract Time shall be allowed for such 
change unless the Contractor has acted promptly and responsively in submitting names as required. 
 
§ 5.2.4 The Contractor shall not substitute a Subcontractor, person, or entity for one previously selected if the Owner or 
Architect makes reasonable objection to such substitution. 
 
§ 5.3 Subcontractual Relations 
By appropriate written agreement, the Contractor shall require each Subcontractor, to the extent of the Work to be performed 
by the Subcontractor, to be bound to the Contractor by terms of the Contract Documents, and to assume toward the Contractor 
all the obligations and responsibilities, including the responsibility for safety of the Subcontractor’s Work that the Contractor, 
by these Contract Documents, assumes toward the Owner and Architect. Each subcontract agreement shall preserve and 
protect the rights of the Owner and Architect under the Contract Documents with respect to the Work to be performed by the 
Subcontractor so that subcontracting thereof will not prejudice such rights, and shall allow to the Subcontractor, unless 
specifically provided otherwise in the subcontract agreement, the benefit of all rights, remedies, and redress against the 
Contractor that the Contractor, by the Contract Documents, has against the Owner. Where appropriate, the Contractor shall 
require each Subcontractor to enter into similar agreements with Sub-subcontractors. The Contractor shall make available to 
each proposed Subcontractor, prior to the execution of the subcontract agreement, copies of the Contract Documents to which 
the Subcontractor will be bound, and, upon written request of the Subcontractor, identify to the Subcontractor terms and 
conditions of the proposed subcontract agreement that may be at variance with the Contract Documents. Subcontractors will 
similarly make copies of applicable portions of such documents available to their respective proposed Sub-subcontractors. 
 
§ 5.4 Contingent Assignment of Subcontracts 
§ 5.4.1 Each subcontract agreement for a portion of the Work is assigned by the Contractor to the Owner, provided that 

.1      assignment is effective only after termination of the Contract by the Owner for cause pursuant to Section 14.2 
and only for those subcontract agreements that the Owner accepts by notifying the Subcontractor and 
Contractor; and 

.2      assignment is subject to the prior rights of the surety, if any, obligated under bond relating to the Contract. 
 
When the Owner accepts the assignment of a subcontract agreement, the Owner assumes the Contractor’s rights and 
obligations under the subcontract provided that Owner does not assume responsibility for any unpaid amounts due 
Subcontractor to the extent Owner has paid Contractor for such amounts. 
 
§ 5.4.2 Upon such assignment, if the Work has been suspended for more than 30 days, the Subcontractor’s compensation shall 
be equitably adjusted for increases in cost resulting from the suspension. 
 
§ 5.4.3 Upon assignment to the Owner under this Section 5.4, the Owner may further assign the subcontract to a successor 
contractor or other entity. If the Owner assigns the subcontract to a successor contractor or other entity, the Owner shall 
nevertheless remain legally responsible for all of the successor contractor’s obligations under the subcontract. 
 
ARTICLE 6   CONSTRUCTION BY OWNER OR BY SEPARATE CONTRACTORS 
§ 6.1 Owner’s Right to Perform Construction and to Award Separate Contracts 
§ 6.1.1 The term “Separate Contractor(s)” shall mean other contractors retained by the Owner under separate agreements. The 
Owner reserves the right to perform construction or operations related to the Project with the Owner’s own forces, and with 
Separate Contractors retained under Conditions of the Contract substantially similar to those of this Contract, including those 
provisions of the Conditions of the Contract related to insurance and waiver of subrogation. 
 
§ 6.1.2 When separate contracts are awarded for different portions of the Project or other construction or operations on the site, 
the term “Contractor” in the Contract Documents in each case shall mean the Contractor who executes each separate Owner-
Contractor Agreement. 
 
§ 6.1.3 The Owner shall provide for coordination of the activities of the Owner’s own forces and of each Separate Contractor 
with the Work of the Contractor, who shall cooperate with them. The Contractor shall participate with any Separate 
Contractors and the Owner in reviewing their construction schedules. The Contractor shall make any revisions to its 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
29 

 

construction schedule deemed necessary after a joint review and mutual agreement. The construction schedules shall then 
constitute the schedules to be used by the Contractor, Separate Contractors, and the Owner until subsequently revised. 
 
§ 6.1.4 Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, when the Owner performs construction or operations related to 
the Project with the Owner’s own forces or with Separate Contractors, the Owner or its Separate Contractors shall have the 
same obligations and rights that the Contractor has under the Conditions of the Contract, including, without excluding others, 
those stated in Article 3, this Article 6, and Articles 10, 11, and 12. 
 
§ 6.2 Mutual Responsibility 
§ 6.2.1 The Contractor shall afford the Owner and Separate Contractors reasonable opportunity for introduction and storage of 
their materials and equipment and performance of their activities, and shall connect and coordinate the Contractor’s 
construction and operations with theirs as required by the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 6.2.2 If part of the Contractor’s Work depends for proper execution or results upon construction or operations by the Owner 
or a Separate Contractor, the Contractor shall, prior to proceeding with that portion of the Work, promptly notify the Architect 
of apparent discrepancies or defects in the construction or operations by the Owner or Separate Contractor that would render it 
unsuitable for proper execution and results of the Contractor’s Work. Failure of the Contractor to notify the Architect of 
apparent discrepancies or defects prior to proceeding with the Work shall constitute an acknowledgment that the Owner’s or 
Separate Contractor’s completed or partially completed construction is fit and proper to receive the Contractor’s Work. The 
Contractor shall not be responsible for discrepancies or defects in the construction or operations by the Owner or Separate 
Contractor that are not apparent. 
 
§ 6.2.3 The Contractor shall reimburse the Owner for costs the Owner incurs that are payable to a Separate Contractor because 
of the Contractor’s delays, improperly timed activities or defective construction. The Owner shall be responsible to the 
Contractor for costs the Contractor incurs because of a Separate Contractor’s delays, improperly timed activities, damage to 
the Work or defective construction. 
 
§ 6.2.4 The Contractor shall promptly remedy damage that the Contractor wrongfully causes to completed or partially 
completed construction or to property of the Owner or Separate Contractor as provided in Section 10.2.5. 
 
§ 6.2.5 The Owner and each Separate Contractor shall have the same responsibilities for cutting and patching as are described 
for the Contractor in Section 3.14. 
 
§ 6.3 Owner’s Right to Clean Up 
If a dispute arises among the Contractor, Separate Contractors, and the Owner as to the responsibility under their respective 
contracts for maintaining the premises and surrounding area free from waste materials and rubbish, the Owner may clean up 
and the Architect will allocate the cost among those responsible. 
 
ARTICLE 7   CHANGES IN THE WORK 
§ 7.1 General 
§ 7.1.1 Changes in the Work may be accomplished after execution of the Contract, and without invalidating the Contract, by 
Change Order, Construction Change Directive or order for a minor change in the Work, subject to the limitations stated in this 
Article 7 and elsewhere in the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 7.1.2 A Change Order shall be based upon agreement among the Owner, Contractor, and Architect. A Construction Change 
Directive requires agreement by the Owner and Architect and may or may not be agreed to by the Contractor. An order for a 
minor change in the Work may be issued by the Architect alone. 
 
§ 7.1.3 Changes in the Work shall be performed under applicable provisions of the Contract Documents. The Contractor shall 
proceed promptly with changes in the Work, unless otherwise provided in the Change Order, Construction Change Directive, 
or order for a minor change in the Work. 
 
§ 7.2 Change Orders 
§ 7.2.1 A Change Order is a written instrument prepared by the Architect and signed by the Owner, Contractor, and Architect 
stating their agreement upon all of the following: 

.1      The change in the Work; 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
30 

 

.2      The amount of the adjustment, if any, in the Contract Sum; and 

.3      The extent of the adjustment, if any, in the Contract Time. 
 
§ 7.2.2 Change Orders shall include itemized breakdowns of labor hours and wages and of materials as well as itemized costs of 
related accessories, rentals and special services separated out from other costs. Breakdowns shall be organized according to 
Subcontractors, sub-subcontractors, material suppliers and Contractor. 
 
§7.2.3 Charges for delivery of materials shall not be allowed as an added expense. 
 
§ 7.3 Construction Change Directives 
§ 7.3.1 A Construction Change Directive is a written order prepared by the Architect and signed by the Owner and Architect, 
directing a change in the Work prior to agreement on adjustment, if any, in the Contract Sum or Contract Time, or both. The 
Owner may by Construction Change Directive, without invalidating the Contract, order changes in the Work within the 
general scope of the Contract consisting of additions, deletions, or other revisions, the Contract Sum and Contract Time being 
adjusted accordingly. 
 
§ 7.3.2 A Construction Change Directive shall be used in the absence of total agreement on the terms of a Change Order. 
 
§ 7.3.3 If the Construction Change Directive provides for an adjustment to the Contract Sum, the adjustment shall be based on 
one of the following methods: 

.1      Mutual acceptance of a lump sum properly itemized and supported by sufficient substantiating data to permit 
evaluation; 

.2      Unit prices stated in the Contract Documents or subsequently agreed upon; 

.3      Cost to be determined in a manner agreed upon by the parties and a mutually acceptable fixed or percentage fee; 
or 

.4      As provided in Section 7.3.4. 
 
§ 7.3.4 If the Contractor does not respond promptly or disagrees with the method for adjustment in the Contract Sum, the 
Architect shall determine the adjustment on the basis of reasonable expenditures and savings of those performing the Work 
attributable to the change, including, in case of an increase in the Contract Sum, an amount for overhead and profit as set forth 
in the Agreement, or if no such amount is set forth in the Agreement, a reasonable amount. In such case, and also under 
Section 7.3.3.3, the Contractor shall keep and present, in such form as the Architect may prescribe, an itemized accounting 
together with appropriate supporting data. Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, costs for the purposes of this 
Section 7.3.4 shall be limited to the following: 

.1      Costs of labor, including applicable payroll taxes, fringe benefits required by agreement or custom, workers’ 
compensation insurance, and other employee costs approved by the Architect; 

.2      Costs of materials, supplies, and equipment, including cost of transportation, whether incorporated or 
consumed; 

.3      Rental costs of machinery and equipment, exclusive of hand tools, whether rented from the Contractor or 
others; 

.4      Costs of premiums for all bonds and insurance, permit fees, and sales, use, or similar taxes, directly related to 
the change; and 

.5      Costs of supervision and field office personnel directly attributable to the change. 
 
§ 7.3.5 If the Contractor disagrees with the adjustment in the Contract Time, the Contractor may make a Claim in accordance 
with applicable provisions of Article 15. 
 
§ 7.3.6 Upon receipt of a Construction Change Directive, the Contractor shall promptly proceed with the change in the Work 
involved and advise the Architect of the Contractor’s agreement or disagreement with the method, if any, provided in the 
Construction Change Directive for determining the proposed adjustment in the Contract Sum or Contract Time. 
 
§ 7.3.7 A Construction Change Directive signed by the Contractor indicates the Contractor’s agreement therewith, including 
adjustment in Contract Sum and Contract Time or the method for determining them. Such agreement shall be effective 
immediately and shall be recorded as a Change Order. 
 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
31 

 

§ 7.3.8 The amount of credit to be allowed by the Contractor to the Owner for a deletion or change that results in a net 
decrease in the Contract Sum shall be actual net cost as confirmed by the Architect. When both additions and credits covering 
related Work or substitutions are involved in a change, the allowance for overhead and profit shall be figured on the basis of 
net increase, if any, with respect to that change. 
 
§ 7.3.9 Pending final determination of the total cost of a Construction Change Directive to the Owner, the Contractor may 
request payment for Work completed under the Construction Change Directive in Applications for Payment. The Architect 
will make an interim determination for purposes of monthly certification for payment for those costs and certify for payment 
the amount that the Architect determines, in the Architect’s professional judgment, to be reasonably justified. The Architect’s 
interim determination of cost shall adjust the Contract Sum on the same basis as a Change Order, subject to the right of either 
party to disagree and assert a Claim in accordance with Article 15. 
 
§ 7.3.10 When the Owner and Contractor agree with a determination made by the Architect concerning the adjustments in the 
Contract Sum and Contract Time, or otherwise reach agreement upon the adjustments, such agreement shall be effective 
immediately and the Architect will prepare a Change Order. Change Orders may be issued for all or any part of a Construction 
Change Directive. 
 
§ 7.4 Minor Changes in the Work 
Intentionally deleted 
 
ARTICLE 8   TIME 
§ 8.1 Definitions 
§ 8.1.1 Unless otherwise provided, Contract Time is the period of time, including authorized adjustments, allotted in the 
Contract Documents for Substantial Completion of the Work. 
 
§ 8.1.2 The date of commencement of the Work is the date established in the Agreement. 
 
§ 8.1.3 The date of Substantial Completion is the date certified by the Architect in accordance with Section 9.8. 
 
§ 8.1.4 The term “day” as used in the Contract Documents shall mean calendar day unless otherwise specifically defined. 
 
§ 8.2 Progress and Completion 
§ 8.2.1 Time limits stated in the Contract Documents are of the essence of the Contract. By executing the Agreement, the 
Contractor confirms that the Contract Time is a reasonable period for performing the Work. 
 
§ 8.2.2 The Contractor shall not knowingly, except by agreement or instruction of the Owner in writing, commence the Work 
prior to the effective date of insurance required to be furnished by the Contractor and Owner. 
 
§ 8.2.3 The Contractor shall proceed expeditiously with adequate forces and shall achieve Substantial Completion within the 
Contract Time. 
 
§ 8.3 Delays and Extensions of Time 
§ 8.3.1 If the Contractor is delayed at any time in the commencement or progress of the Work by (1) an act or neglect of the 
Owner or Architect, of an employee of either, or of a Separate Contractor; (2) by changes ordered in the Work; (3) by labor 
disputes, fire, unusual delay in deliveries, unavoidable casualties, adverse weather conditions documented in accordance with 
Section 15.1.6.2, or other causes beyond the Contractor’s control; (4) by delay authorized by the Owner pending mediation 
and binding dispute resolution; or (5) by other causes that the Contractor asserts, and the Architect determines, justify delay, 
then the Contract Time shall be extended to the extent such delay will prevent the Contractor from achieving Substantial 
Completion within the Contract Time and to the extent the performance of the Work is not, was not, or would not have been 
delayed by any other cause for which the Contractor is not entitled to an extension in the Contract time under the Contract 
Documents.  The Contractor further acknowledges and agrees that adjustments in the Contract Time will be permitted for a 
delay only to the extent such delay (i) is not caused by the Contractor, (ii) could not be limited or avoided by the Contractor’s 
timely notice to the Owner of the delay once the nature and extent of any delay is known by Contractor, and (iii) is of a 
duration not less than one (1) day. 
 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
32 

 

§ 8.3.2 Claims relating to time shall be made in accordance with applicable provisions of Article 15. 
 
§ 8.3.3 This Section 8.3 does not preclude recovery of damages for delay by either party under other provisions of the Contract 
Documents. 
 
ARTICLE 9   PAYMENTS AND COMPLETION 
§ 9.1 Contract Sum 
§ 9.1.1 The Contract Sum is stated in the Agreement and, including authorized adjustments, is the total amount payable by the 
Owner to the Contractor for performance of the Work under the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 9.1.2 If unit prices are stated in the Contract Documents or subsequently agreed upon, and if quantities originally 
contemplated are materially changed so that application of such unit prices to the actual quantities causes substantial inequity 
to the Owner or Contractor, the applicable unit prices shall be equitably adjusted. 
 
§ 9.2 Schedule of Values 
Where the Contract is based on a stipulated sum or Guaranteed Maximum Price, the Contractor shall submit a schedule of 
values to the Architect before the first Application for Payment, allocating the entire Contract Sum to the various portions of 
the Work. The schedule of values shall be prepared in the form, and supported by the data to substantiate its accuracy, 
required by the Architect. This schedule, unless objected to by the Architect, shall be used as a basis for reviewing the 
Contractor’s Applications for Payment. Any changes to the schedule of values shall be submitted to the Architect and 
supported by such data to substantiate its accuracy as the Architect may require, and unless objected to by the Architect, shall 
be used as a basis for reviewing the Contractor’s subsequent Applications for Payment. 
 
§ 9.3 Applications for Payment 
§ 9.3.1 At least ten days before the date established for each progress payment, the Contractor shall submit to the Owner and 
Architect an itemized Application for Payment prepared in accordance with the schedule of values, if required under Section 
9.2, for completed portions of the Work. The application shall be notarized, if required, and supported by all data 
substantiating the Contractor’s right to payment that the Owner or Architect require, such as copies of requisitions, cost 
reports, Subcontractor and supplier invoices and pay applications, and releases and waivers of liens from Subcontractors and 
suppliers, and shall reflect retainage as provided for in A101-2017. 
 
§ 9.3.1.1 As provided in Section 7.3.9, such applications may include requests for payment on account of changes in the Work 
that have been properly authorized by Construction Change Directives, or by interim determinations of the Architect, but not 
yet included in Change Orders. 
 
§ 9.3.1.2 Applications for Payment shall not include requests for payment for portions of the Work for which the Contractor 
does not intend to pay a Subcontractor or supplier, unless such Work has been performed by others whom the Contractor 
intends to pay. 
 
§ 9.3.2 Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, payments shall be made on account of materials and equipment 
delivered and suitably stored at the site for subsequent incorporation in the Work. If approved in advance by the Owner, 
payment may similarly be made for materials and equipment suitably stored off the site at a location agreed upon in writing. 
Payment for materials and equipment stored on or off the site shall be conditioned upon compliance by the Contractor with 
procedures satisfactory to the Owner to establish the Owner’s title to such materials and equipment or otherwise protect the 
Owner’s interest, and shall include the costs of applicable insurance, storage, and transportation to the site, for such materials 
and equipment stored off the site. 
 
§ 9.3.3 The Contractor warrants that title to all Work covered by an Application for Payment will pass to the Owner no later 
than the time of payment. The Contractor further warrants that upon submittal of an Application for Payment all Work for 
which Certificates for Payment have been previously issued and payments received from the Owner shall, to the best of the 
Contractor’s knowledge, information, and belief, be free and clear of liens, claims, security interests, or encumbrances, in 
favor of the Contractor, Subcontractors, suppliers, or other persons or entities that provided labor, materials, and equipment 
relating to the Work. 
 
§ 9.4 Certificates for Payment 
§ 9.4.1 The Architect will, within seven days after receipt of the Contractor’s Application for Payment, either (1) issue to the 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
33 

 

Owner a Certificate for Payment in the full amount of the Application for Payment, with a copy to the Contractor; or (2) issue 
to the Owner a Certificate for Payment for such amount as the Architect determines is properly due, and notify the Contractor 
and Owner of the Architect’s reasons for withholding certification in part as provided in Section 9.5.1; or (3) withhold 
certification of the entire Application for Payment, and notify the Contractor and Owner of the Architect’s reason for 
withholding certification in whole as provided in Section 9.5.1. 
 
§ 9.4.2 The issuance of a Certificate for Payment will constitute a representation by the Architect to the Owner, based on the 
Architect’s evaluation of the Work and the data in the Application for Payment, that, to the best of the Architect’s knowledge, 
information, and belief, the Work has progressed to the point indicated, the quality of the Work is in accordance with the 
Contract Documents, and that the Contractor is entitled to payment in the amount certified. The foregoing representations are 
subject to an evaluation of the Work for conformance with the Contract Documents upon Substantial Completion, to results of 
subsequent tests and inspections, to correction of minor deviations from the Contract Documents prior to completion, and to 
specific qualifications expressed by the Architect. However, the issuance of a Certificate for Payment will not be a 
representation that the Architect has (1) made exhaustive or continuous on-site inspections to check the quality or quantity of 
the Work; (2) reviewed construction means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures; (3) reviewed copies of 
requisitions received from Subcontractors and suppliers and other data requested by the Owner to substantiate the Contractor’s 
right to payment; or (4) made examination to ascertain how or for what purpose the Contractor has used money previously 
paid on account of the Contract Sum. 
 
§ 9.5 Decisions to Withhold Certification 
§ 9.5.1 The Architect may withhold a Certificate for Payment in whole or in part, to the extent reasonably necessary to protect 
the Owner, if in the Architect’s opinion the representations to the Owner required by Section 9.4.2 cannot be made. If the 
Architect is unable to certify payment in the amount of the Application, the Architect will notify the Contractor and Owner as 
provided in Section 9.4.1. If the Contractor and Architect cannot agree on a revised amount, the Architect will promptly issue 
a Certificate for Payment for the amount for which the Architect is able to make such representations to the Owner. The 
Architect may also withhold a Certificate for Payment or, because of subsequently discovered evidence, may nullify the whole 
or a part of a Certificate for Payment previously issued, to such extent as may be necessary in the Architect’s opinion to 
protect the Owner from loss for which the Contractor is responsible, including loss resulting from acts and omissions 
described in Section 3.3.2, because of 

.1      defective Work not remedied; 

.2      third party claims filed or reasonable evidence indicating probable filing of such claims, unless security 
acceptable to the Owner is provided by the Contractor; 

.3      failure of the Contractor to make payments properly to Subcontractors or suppliers for labor, materials or 
equipment; 

.4      reasonable evidence that the Work cannot be completed for the unpaid balance of the Contract Sum; 

.5      damage to the Owner or a Separate Contractor; 

.6      reasonable evidence that the Work will not be completed within the Contract Time, and that the unpaid balance 
would not be adequate to cover actual or liquidated damages for the anticipated delay; or 

.7      repeated failure to carry out the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 9.5.2 When either party disputes the Architect’s decision regarding a Certificate for Payment under Section 9.5.1, in whole 
or in part, that party may submit a Claim in accordance with Article 15. 
 
§ 9.5.3 When the reasons for withholding certification are removed, certification will be made for amounts previously withheld 
upon Contractor’s Application for Payment submitted in due form, subject to the payment procedures set forth in the Contract 
Documents. 
 
§ 9.5.4 If the Architect withholds certification for payment under Section 9.5.1.3, the Owner may, at its sole option, issue joint 
checks to the Contractor and to any Subcontractor or supplier to whom the Contractor failed to make payment for Work 
properly performed or material or equipment suitably delivered. If the Owner makes payments by joint check, the Owner shall 
notify the Architect and the Contractor shall reflect such payment on its next Application for Payment. 
 
§ 9.6 Progress Payments 
§ 9.6.1 After the Architect has issued a Certificate for Payment, the Owner shall make payment in the manner and within the 
time provided in the Contract Documents, and shall so notify the Architect. Except as otherwise expressly modified by the 
Contract Documents, all payments shall be made pursuant to the Local Government Prompt Payment Act, 50 ILCS 505/1 et 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
34 

 

seq. 
 
§ 9.6.2 The Contractor shall pay each Subcontractor, no later than seven days after receipt of payment from the Owner, the 
amount to which the Subcontractor is entitled, reflecting percentages actually retained from payments to the Contractor on 
account of the Subcontractor’s portion of the Work. The Contractor shall, by appropriate agreement with each Subcontractor, 
require each Subcontractor to make payments to Sub-subcontractors in a similar manner. 
 
§ 9.6.3 The Architect will, on request, furnish to a Subcontractor, if practicable, information regarding percentages of 
completion or amounts applied for by the Contractor and action taken thereon by the Architect and Owner on account of 
portions of the Work done by such Subcontractor. 
 
§ 9.6.4 The Owner has the right to request written evidence from the Contractor that the Contractor has properly paid 
Subcontractors and suppliers amounts paid by the Owner to the Contractor for subcontracted Work. If the Contractor fails to 
furnish such evidence within seven days, the Owner shall have the right to contact Subcontractors and suppliers to ascertain 
whether they have been properly paid. Neither the Owner nor Architect shall have an obligation to pay, or to see to the 
payment of money to, a Subcontractor or supplier, except as may otherwise be required by law. 
 
§ 9.6.5 The Contractor’s payments to suppliers shall be treated in a manner similar to that provided in Sections 9.6.2, 9.6.3 and 
9.6.4. 
 
§ 9.6.6 A Certificate for Payment, a progress payment, or partial or entire use or occupancy of the Project by the Owner shall 
not constitute acceptance of Work not in accordance with the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 9.6.7 Unless the Contractor provides the Owner with a payment bond in the full penal sum of the Contract Sum, payments 
received by the Contractor for Work properly performed by Subcontractors or provided by suppliers shall be held by the 
Contractor for those Subcontractors or suppliers who performed Work or furnished materials, or both, under contract with the 
Contractor for which payment was made by the Owner. Nothing contained herein shall require money to be placed in a 
separate account and not commingled with money of the Contractor, create any fiduciary liability or tort liability on the part of 
the Contractor for breach of trust, or entitle any person or entity to an award of punitive damages against the Contractor for 
breach of the requirements of this provision. 
 
§ 9.6.8 Provided the Owner has fulfilled its payment obligations under the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall defend 
and indemnify the Owner from all loss, liability, damage or expense, including reasonable attorney’s fees and litigation 
expenses, arising out of any lien claim or other claim for payment by any Subcontractor or supplier of any tier. Upon receipt 
of notice of a lien claim or other claim for payment, the Owner shall notify the Contractor. If approved by the applicable 
court, when required, the Contractor may substitute a surety bond for the property against which the lien or other claim for 
payment has been asserted. 
 
§ 9.7 Failure of Payment 
If the Architect does not issue a Certificate for Payment, through no fault of the Contractor, within seven days after receipt of 
the Contractor’s Application for Payment, or if the Owner does not pay the Contractor within seven days after the date 
established in the Contract Documents, the amount certified by the Architect or awarded by binding dispute resolution, then 
the Contractor may, upon seven additional days’ notice to the Owner and Architect, stop the Work until payment of the 
amount owing has been received. The Contract Time shall be extended appropriately and the Contract Sum shall be increased 
by the amount of the Contractor’s reasonable costs of shutdown, delay and start-up, plus interest as provided for in the 
Contract Documents. 
 
§ 9.8 Substantial Completion 
§ 9.8.1 Substantial Completion is the stage in the progress of the Work when the Work or designated portion thereof is 
sufficiently complete in accordance with the Contract Documents so that the Owner can occupy or utilize the Work for its 
intended use; provided, however, that as a condition precedent to Substantial Completion, the Owner has received all 
certificates of occupancy and any other permits, approvals, licenses, and other documents from any governmental authority 
having jurisdiction thereof necessary for the beneficial occupancy of the Project. 
 
§ 9.8.2 When the Contractor considers that the Work, or a portion thereof which the Owner agrees to accept separately, is 
substantially complete, the Contractor shall prepare and submit to the Architect a comprehensive list of items to be completed 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
35 

 

or corrected prior to final payment. Failure to include an item on such list does not alter the responsibility of the Contractor to 
complete all Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 9.8.3 Upon receipt of the Contractor’s list, the Architect will make an inspection to determine whether the Work or 
designated portion thereof is substantially complete. If the Architect’s inspection discloses any item, whether or not included 
on the Contractor’s list, which is not sufficiently complete in accordance with the Contract Documents so that the Owner can 
occupy or utilize the Work or designated portion thereof for its intended use, the Contractor shall, before issuance of the 
Certificate of Substantial Completion, complete or correct such item upon notification by the Architect. In such case, the 
Contractor shall then submit a request for another inspection by the Architect to determine Substantial Completion. 
 
§ 9.8.4 When the Work or designated portion thereof is substantially complete, the Architect will prepare a Certificate of 
Substantial Completion that shall establish the date of Substantial Completion; establish responsibilities of the Owner and 
Contractor for security, maintenance, heat, utilities, damage to the Work and insurance; and fix the time within which the 
Contractor shall finish all items on the list accompanying the Certificate. Warranties required by the Contract Documents shall 
commence on the date of Substantial Completion of the Work or designated portion thereof unless otherwise provided in the 
Certificate of Substantial Completion. 
 
§ 9.8.5 The Certificate of Substantial Completion shall be submitted to the Owner and Contractor for their written acceptance 
of responsibilities assigned to them in the Certificate. Upon such acceptance, and consent of surety if any, the Owner shall 
make payment of retainage applying to the Work or designated portion thereof, subject to Section 5.1.7.3 of the AIA 
Document A101™–2017, Standard Form of Agreement Between Owner and Contractor (regarding withholding of funds for 
punch list items). Such payment shall be adjusted for Work that is incomplete or not in accordance with the requirements of 
the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 9.9 Partial Occupancy or Use 
§ 9.9.1 The Owner may occupy or use any completed or partially completed portion of the Work at any stage when such 
portion is designated by separate agreement with the Contractor, provided such occupancy or use is consented to by the 
insurer and authorized by public authorities having jurisdiction over the Project. Such partial occupancy or use may 
commence whether or not the portion is substantially complete, provided the Owner and Contractor have accepted in writing 
the responsibilities assigned to each of them for payments, retainage, if any, security, maintenance, heat, utilities, damage to 
the Work and insurance, and have agreed in writing concerning the period for correction of the Work and commencement of 
warranties required by the Contract Documents. When the Contractor considers a portion substantially complete, the 
Contractor shall prepare and submit a list to the Architect as provided under Section 9.8.2. Consent of the Contractor to partial 
occupancy or use shall not be unreasonably withheld. The stage of the progress of the Work shall be determined by written 
agreement between the Owner and Contractor or, if no agreement is reached, by decision of the Architect. 
 
§ 9.9.1.1 In addition to all other precautions required by the Contract, such as barricades, signs, warning lights, etc., to make the 
Work safe for public use, the Contractor shall provide and maintain dust-tight barriers to segregate areas occupied before 
Substantial Completion. 
 
§ 9.9.1.2 The Owner maintaining or moving equipment into areas of the Work will not constitute partial occupancy; however, 
Owner shall only proceed with such actions after receiving written approval by Contractor, which shall not be unreasonably 
conditioned, withheld, or delayed, and shall comply with any reasonable instructions or precautions as provided by Contractor. 
 
§ 9.9.2 Immediately prior to such partial occupancy or use, the Owner, Contractor, and Architect shall jointly inspect the area 
to be occupied or portion of the Work to be used in order to determine and record the condition of the Work. 
 
§ 9.9.3 Unless otherwise agreed upon, partial occupancy or use of a portion or portions of the Work shall not constitute 
acceptance of Work not complying with the requirements of the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 9.10 Final Completion and Final Payment 
§ 9.10.1 Upon receipt of the Contractor’s notice that the Work is ready for final inspection and acceptance and upon receipt of 
a final Application for Payment, the Architect will promptly make such inspection. When the Architect finds the Work 
acceptable under the Contract Documents and the Contract fully performed, the Architect will promptly issue a final 
Certificate for Payment stating that to the best of the Architect’s knowledge, information and belief, and on the basis of the 
Architect’s on-site visits and inspections, the Work has been completed in accordance with the Contract Documents and that 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
36 

 

the entire balance found to be due the Contractor and noted in the final Certificate is due and payable. The Architect’s final 
Certificate for Payment will constitute a further representation that conditions listed in Section 9.10.2 as precedent to the 
Contractor’s being entitled to final payment have been fulfilled. 
 
§ 9.10.2 Neither final payment nor any remaining retained percentage shall become due until the Contractor submits to the 
Architect (1) an affidavit that payrolls, bills for materials and equipment, and other indebtedness connected with the Work for 
which the Owner or the Owner’s property might be responsible or encumbered (less amounts withheld by Owner) have been 
paid or otherwise satisfied, (2) a certificate evidencing that insurance required by the Contract Documents to remain in force 
after final payment is currently in effect, (3) a written statement that the Contractor knows of no reason that the insurance will 
not be renewable to cover the period required by the Contract Documents, (4) consent of surety, if any, to final payment, (5) 
documentation of any special warranties, such as manufacturers’ warranties or specific Subcontractor warranties, and (6) if 
required by the Owner, other data establishing payment or satisfaction of obligations, such as receipts and releases and 
waivers of liens, claims, security interests, or encumbrances arising out of the Contract, to the extent and in such form as may 
be designated by the Owner. If a Subcontractor refuses to furnish a release or waiver required by the Owner, the Contractor 
may furnish a bond satisfactory to the Owner to indemnify the Owner against such lien, claim, security interest, or 
encumbrance. If a lien, claim, security interest, or encumbrance remains unsatisfied after payments are made, the Contractor 
shall refund to the Owner all money that the Owner may be compelled to pay in discharging the lien, claim, security interest, 
or encumbrance, including all costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees. 
 
§ 9.10.3 If, after Substantial Completion of the Work, final completion thereof is materially delayed through no fault of the 
Contractor or by issuance of Change Orders affecting final completion, and the Architect so confirms, the Owner shall, upon 
application by the Contractor and certification by the Architect, and without terminating the Contract, make payment of the 
balance due for that portion of the Work fully completed, corrected, and accepted. If the remaining balance for Work not fully 
completed or corrected is less than retainage stipulated in the Contract Documents, and if bonds have been furnished, the 
written consent of the surety to payment of the balance due for that portion of the Work fully completed and accepted shall be 
submitted by the Contractor to the Architect prior to certification of such payment. Such payment shall be made under terms 
and conditions governing final payment, except that it shall not constitute a waiver of Claims. 
 
§ 9.10.4 The making of final payment shall constitute a waiver of Claims by the Owner except those arising from 

.1      liens, Claims, security interests, or encumbrances arising out of the Contract and unsettled; 

.2      failure of the Work to comply with the requirements of the Contract Documents; 

.3      terms of special warranties required by the Contract Documents; or 

.4      audits performed by the Owner, if permitted by the Contract Documents, after final payment. 
 
§ 9.10.5 Acceptance of final payment by the Contractor, a Subcontractor, or a supplier, shall constitute a waiver of claims by 
that payee except those previously made in writing and identified by that payee as unsettled at the time of final Application for 
Payment. 
 
ARTICLE 10   PROTECTION OF PERSONS AND PROPERTY 
§ 10.1 Safety Precautions and Programs 
The Contractor shall be responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions and programs in 
connection with the performance of the Contract. 
 
§ 10.2 Safety of Persons and Property 
§ 10.2.1 The Contractor shall take reasonable precautions for safety of, and shall provide reasonable protection to prevent 
damage, injury, or loss to 

.1      employees on the Work and other persons who may be affected thereby; 

.2      the Work and materials and equipment to be incorporated therein, whether in storage on or off the site, under 
care, custody, or control of the Contractor, a Subcontractor, or a Sub-subcontractor; and 

.3      other property at the site or adjacent thereto, such as trees, shrubs, lawns, walks, pavements, roadways, 
structures, and utilities not designated for removal, relocation, or replacement in the course of construction. 

 
§ 10.2.2 The Contractor shall comply with, and give notices required by applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, rules and 
regulations, and lawful orders of public authorities, bearing on safety of persons or property or their protection from damage, 
injury, or loss. 
 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
37 

 

§ 10.2.3 The Contractor shall implement, erect, and maintain, as required by existing conditions and performance of the 
Contract, reasonable safeguards for safety and protection, including posting danger signs and other warnings against hazards; 
promulgating safety regulations; and notifying the owners and users of adjacent sites and utilities of the safeguards. 
 
§ 10.2.4 When use or storage of explosives or other hazardous materials or equipment, or unusual methods are necessary for 
execution of the Work, the Contractor shall exercise utmost care and carry on such activities under supervision of properly 
qualified personnel. 
 
§ 10.2.5 The Contractor shall promptly remedy damage and loss (other than damage or loss insured under property insurance 
required by the Contract Documents) to property referred to in Sections 10.2.1.2 and 10.2.1.3 caused in whole or in part by the 
Contractor, a Subcontractor, a Sub-subcontractor, or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them, or by anyone for 
whose acts they may be liable and for which the Contractor is responsible under Sections 10.2.1.2 and 10.2.1.3. The 
Contractor may make a Claim for the cost to remedy the damage or loss to the extent such damage or loss is attributable to 
acts or omissions of the Owner or Architect or anyone directly or indirectly employed by either of them, or by anyone for 
whose acts either of them may be liable, and not attributable to the fault or negligence of the Contractor. The foregoing 
obligations of the Contractor are in addition to the Contractor’s obligations under Section 3.18. 
 
§ 10.2.6 The Contractor shall designate a responsible member of the Contractor’s organization at the site whose duty shall be 
the prevention of accidents. This person shall be the Contractor’s superintendent unless otherwise designated by the 
Contractor in writing to the Owner and Architect. 
 
§ 10.2.7 The Contractor shall not permit any part of the construction or site to be loaded so as to cause damage or create an 
unsafe condition. 
 
§ 10.2.8 Injury or Damage to Person or Property 
If either party suffers injury or damage to person or property because of an act or omission of the other party, or of others for 
whose acts such party is legally responsible, notice of the injury or damage, whether or not insured, shall be given to the other 
party within a reasonable time not exceeding 21 days after discovery. The notice shall provide sufficient detail to enable the 
other party to investigate the matter. 
 
§ 10.3 Hazardous Materials and Substances 
§ 10.3.1 The Contractor is responsible for compliance with any requirements included in the Contract Documents regarding 
hazardous materials or substances. If the Contractor encounters a hazardous material or substance not addressed in the 
Contract Documents and if reasonable precautions will be inadequate to prevent foreseeable bodily injury or death to persons 
resulting from a material or substance, including but not limited to asbestos or polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB), encountered 
on the site by the Contractor, the Contractor shall, upon recognizing the condition, immediately stop Work in the affected area 
and notify the Owner and Architect of the condition. 
 
§ 10.3.2 Upon receipt of the Contractor’s notice, the Owner shall obtain the services of a licensed laboratory to verify the 
presence or absence of the material or substance reported by the Contractor and, in the event such material or substance is 
found to be present, to cause it to be rendered harmless. Unless otherwise required by the Contract Documents, the Owner 
shall furnish in writing to the Contractor and Architect the names and qualifications of persons or entities who are to perform 
tests verifying the presence or absence of the material or substance or who are to perform the task of removal or safe 
containment of the material or substance. The Contractor and the Architect will promptly reply to the Owner in writing stating 
whether or not either has reasonable objection to the persons or entities proposed by the Owner. If either the Contractor or 
Architect has an objection to a person or entity proposed by the Owner, the Owner shall propose another to whom the 
Contractor and the Architect have no reasonable objection. When the material or substance has been rendered harmless, Work 
in the affected area shall resume upon written agreement of the Owner and Contractor. By Change Order, the Contract Time 
shall be extended appropriately and the Contract Sum shall be increased by the amount of the Contractor’s reasonable 
additional costs of shutdown, delay, and start-up. 
 
§ 10.3.3 To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Owner shall indemnify and hold harmless the Contractor, Subcontractors, 
Architect, Architect’s consultants, and agents and employees of any of them from and against claims, damages, losses, and 
expenses, including but not limited to attorneys’ fees, arising out of or resulting from performance of the Work in the affected 
area if in fact the material or substance presents the risk of bodily injury or death as described in Section 10.3.1 and has not 
been rendered harmless, provided that such claim, damage, loss, or expense is attributable to bodily injury, sickness, disease 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
38 

 

or death, or to injury to or destruction of tangible property (other than the Work itself), except to the extent that such damage, 
loss, or expense is due to the fault or negligence of the party seeking indemnity. 
 
§ 10.3.4 The Owner shall not be responsible under this Section 10.3 for hazardous materials or substances the Contractor 
brings to the site unless such materials or substances are required by the Contract Documents. The Owner shall be responsible 
for hazardous materials or substances required by the Contract Documents, except to the extent of the Contractor’s fault or 
negligence in the use and handling of such materials or substances. 
 
§ 10.3.5 The Contractor shall reimburse the Owner for the cost and expense the Owner incurs (1) for remediation of hazardous 
materials or substances the Contractor brings to the site and negligently handles, or (2) where the Contractor fails to perform 
its obligations under Section 10.3.1, except to the extent that the cost and expense are due to the Owner’s fault or negligence. 
 
§ 10.3.6 If, without negligence on the part of the Contractor, the Contractor is held liable by a government agency for the cost 
of remediation of a hazardous material or substance solely by reason of performing Work as required by the Contract 
Documents, the Owner shall reimburse the Contractor for all cost and expense thereby incurred. 
 
§ 10.4 Emergencies 
In an emergency affecting safety of persons or property, the Contractor shall act, at the Contractor’s discretion, to prevent 
threatened damage, injury, or loss. Additional compensation or extension of time claimed by the Contractor on account of an 
emergency shall be determined as provided in Article 15 and Article 7. 
 
ARTICLE 11   INSURANCE AND BONDS 
§ 11.1 Contractor’s Insurance and Bonds 
§ 11.1.1 The Contractor shall purchase and maintain insurance of the types and limits of liability, containing the endorsements, 
and subject to the terms and conditions, as described in the Agreement or elsewhere in the Contract Documents. The 
Contractor shall purchase and maintain the required insurance from an insurance company or insurance companies lawfully 
authorized to issue insurance in the jurisdiction where the Project is located. The Owner, Architect, and Architect’s 
consultants shall be named as additional insureds under the Contractor’s commercial general liability policy or as otherwise 
described in the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 11.1.2 The Contractor shall provide surety bonds of the types, for such penal sums, and subject to such terms and conditions 
as required by the Contract Documents. The Contractor shall purchase and maintain the required bonds from a company or 
companies lawfully authorized to issue surety bonds in the jurisdiction where the Project is located. 
 
§ 11.1.3 Upon the request of any person or entity appearing to be a potential beneficiary of bonds covering payment of 
obligations arising under the Contract, the Contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of the bonds or shall authorize a copy to 
be furnished. 
 
§ 11.1.4 Notice of Cancellation or Expiration of Contractor’s Required Insurance. Within three (3) business days of the date the 
Contractor becomes aware of an impending or actual cancellation or expiration of any insurance required by the Contract 
Documents, the Contractor shall provide notice to the Owner of such impending or actual cancellation or expiration. Upon 
receipt of notice from the Contractor, the Owner shall, unless the lapse in coverage arises from an act or omission of the 
Owner, have the right to stop the Work until the lapse in coverage has been cured by the procurement of replacement coverage 
by the Contractor. The furnishing of notice by the Contractor shall not relieve the Contractor of any contractual obligation to 
provide any required coverage. 
 
§ 11.2 Owner’s Insurance 
§ 11.2.1 The Owner shall purchase and maintain insurance of the types and limits of liability, containing the endorsements, and 
subject to the terms and conditions, as described in the Agreement or elsewhere in the Contract Documents. The Owner shall 
purchase and maintain the required insurance from an insurance company or insurance companies lawfully authorized to issue 
insurance in the jurisdiction where the Project is located. 
 
§ 11.2.2 Failure to Purchase Required Property Insurance. If the Owner fails to purchase and maintain the required property 
insurance, with all of the coverages and in the amounts described in the Agreement or elsewhere in the Contract Documents, 
the Owner shall inform the Contractor in writing prior to commencement of the Work. Upon receipt of notice from the Owner, 
the Contractor may delay commencement of the Work and may obtain insurance that will protect the interests of the 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
39 

 

Contractor, Subcontractors, and Sub-Subcontractors in the Work. When the failure to provide coverage has been cured or 
resolved, the Contract Sum and Contract Time shall be equitably adjusted. In the event the Owner fails to procure coverage, 
the Owner waives all rights against the Contractor, Subcontractors, and Sub-subcontractors to the extent the loss to the Owner 
would have been covered by the insurance to have been procured by the Owner. The cost of the insurance shall be charged to 
the Owner by a Change Order. If the Owner does not provide written notice, and the Contractor is damaged by the failure or 
neglect of the Owner to purchase or maintain the required insurance, the Owner shall reimburse the Contractor for all 
reasonable costs and damages attributable thereto. 
 
§ 11.2.3 Notice of Cancellation or Expiration of Owner’s Required Property Insurance. Within three (3) business days of the date 
the Owner becomes aware of an impending or actual cancellation or expiration of any property insurance required by the 
Contract Documents, the Owner shall provide notice to the Contractor of such impending or actual cancellation or expiration. 
Unless the lapse in coverage arises from an act or omission of the Contractor: (1) the Contractor, upon receipt of notice from 
the Owner, shall have the right to stop the Work until the lapse in coverage has been cured by the procurement of replacement 
coverage by either the Owner or the Contractor; (2) the Contract Time and Contract Sum shall be equitably adjusted; and (3) 
the Owner waives all rights against the Contractor, Subcontractors, and Sub-subcontractors to the extent any loss to the Owner 
would have been covered by the insurance had it not expired or been cancelled. If the Contractor purchases replacement 
coverage, the cost of the insurance shall be charged to the Owner by an appropriate Change Order. The furnishing of notice by 
the Owner shall not relieve the Owner of any contractual obligation to provide required insurance. 
 
§ 11.3 Waivers of Subrogation 
§ 11.3.1 The Owner and Contractor waive all rights against (1) each other and any of their subcontractors, sub-subcontractors, 
agents, and employees, each of the other; (2) the Architect and Architect’s consultants; and (3) Separate Contractors, if any, 
and any of their subcontractors, sub-subcontractors, agents, and employees, for damages caused by fire, or other causes of 
loss, to the extent those losses are covered by property insurance required by the Agreement or other property insurance 
applicable to the Project, except such rights as they have to proceeds of such insurance. The Owner or Contractor, as 
appropriate, shall require similar written waivers in favor of the individuals and entities identified above from the Architect, 
Architect’s consultants, Separate Contractors, subcontractors, and sub-subcontractors. The policies of insurance purchased and 
maintained by each person or entity agreeing to waive claims pursuant to this section 11.3.1 shall not prohibit this waiver of 
subrogation. This waiver of subrogation shall be effective as to a person or entity (1) even though that person or entity would 
otherwise have a duty of indemnification, contractual or otherwise, (2) even though that person or entity did not pay the 
insurance premium directly or indirectly, or (3) whether or not the person or entity had an insurable interest in the damaged 
property. 
 
§ 11.3.2 If during the Project construction period the Owner insures properties, real or personal or both, at or adjacent to the 
site by property insurance under policies separate from those insuring the Project, or if after final payment property insurance 
is to be provided on the completed Project through a policy or policies other than those insuring the Project during the 
construction period, to the extent permissible by such policies, the Owner waives all rights in accordance with the terms of 
Section 11.3.1 for damages caused by fire or other causes of loss covered by this separate property insurance. 
 
§ 11.4 Loss of Use, Business Interruption, and Delay in Completion Insurance 
The Owner, at the Owner’s option, may purchase and maintain insurance that will protect the Owner against loss of use of the 
Owner’s property, or the inability to conduct normal operations, due to fire or other causes of loss (“Purchased Insurance”). 
Owner waives all rights of action against the Contractor and Architect for loss of use of the Owner’s property, due to fire or 
other hazards however caused.  
 
§11.5 Adjustment and Settlement of Insured Loss 
§ 11.5.1 A loss insured under the property insurance required by the Agreement shall be adjusted by the Owner as fiduciary 
and made payable to the Owner as fiduciary for the insureds, as their interests may appear, subject to requirements of any 
applicable mortgagee clause and of Section 11.5.2. The Owner shall pay the Architect and Contractor their just shares of 
insurance proceeds received by the Owner, and by appropriate agreements the Architect and Contractor shall make payments 
to their consultants and Subcontractors in similar manner. 
 
§ 11.5.2 Prior to settlement of an insured loss, the Owner shall notify the Contractor of the terms of the proposed settlement as 
well as the proposed allocation of the insurance proceeds. The Contractor shall have 14 days from receipt of notice to object to 
the proposed settlement or allocation of the proceeds. If the Contractor does not object, the Owner shall settle the loss and the 
Contractor shall be bound by the settlement and allocation. Upon receipt, the Owner shall deposit the insurance proceeds in a 
separate account and make the appropriate distributions. Thereafter, if no other agreement is made or the Owner does not 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
40 

 

terminate the Contract for convenience, the Owner and Contractor shall execute a Change Order for reconstruction of the 
damaged or destroyed Work in the amount allocated for that purpose. If the Contractor timely objects to either the terms of the 
proposed settlement or the allocation of the proceeds, the Owner may proceed to settle the insured loss, and any dispute 
between the Owner and Contractor arising out of the settlement or allocation of the proceeds shall be resolved pursuant to 
Article 15. Pending resolution of any dispute, the Owner may issue a Construction Change Directive for the reconstruction of 
the damaged or destroyed Work. 
 
ARTICLE 12   UNCOVERING AND CORRECTION OF WORK 
§ 12.1 Uncovering of Work 
§ 12.1.1 If a portion of the Work is covered contrary to the Architect’s request or to requirements specifically expressed in the 
Contract Documents, it must, if requested in writing by the Architect, be uncovered for the Architect’s examination and be 
replaced at the Contractor’s expense without change in the Contract Time. 
 
§ 12.1.2 If a portion of the Work has been covered that the Architect has not specifically requested to examine prior to its 
being covered, the Architect may request to see such Work and it shall be uncovered by the Contractor. If such Work is in 
accordance with the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment to the Contract Sum and 
Contract Time as may be appropriate. If such Work is not in accordance with the Contract Documents, the costs of uncovering 
the Work, and the cost of correction, shall be at the Contractor’s expense. 
 
§ 12.2 Correction of Work 
§ 12.2.1 Before Substantial Completion 
The Contractor shall promptly correct Work rejected by the Architect or failing to conform to the requirements of the Contract 
Documents, discovered before Substantial Completion and whether or not fabricated, installed or completed. Costs of 
correcting such rejected Work, including additional testing and inspections, the cost of uncovering and replacement, and 
compensation for the Architect’s services and expenses made necessary thereby, shall be at the Contractor’s expense. If prior 
to the date of Substantial Completion, the Contractor, a Subcontractor, or anyone for whom either is responsible uses or 
damages any portion of the Work, including without limitation, mechanical, electrical, plumbing, and other building systems, 
machinery, equipment, or other mechanical device, the Contractor shall cause such item to be restored to “like new” condition 
at no expense to the Owner.  In addition, the Contractor shall promptly remedy damage and loss arising in conjunction with 
the Project caused in whole or in part by the Contractor, a Subcontractor, a Sub-subcontractor, or anyone directly or indirectly 
employed by any of them, or anyone for whose acts they may be liable and for which the Contractor is responsible. 
 
§ 12.2.2 After Substantial Completion 
§ 12.2.2.1 In addition to the Contractor’s obligations under Section 3.5, if, within one year after the date of Substantial 
Completion of the Work or designated portion thereof or after the date for commencement of warranties established under 
Section 9.9.1, or by terms of any applicable special warranty required by the Contract Documents, any of the Work is found to 
be not in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall correct it promptly after receipt of 
notice from the Owner to do so, unless the Owner has previously given the Contractor a written acceptance of such condition. 
The Owner shall give such notice promptly after discovery of the condition. During the one-year period for correction of 
Work, if the Owner fails to notify the Contractor and give the Contractor an opportunity to make the correction, the Owner 
waives the rights to require correction by the Contractor and to make a claim for breach of warranty. If the Contractor fails to 
correct nonconforming Work within a reasonable time during that period after receipt of notice from the Owner or Architect, 
the Owner may correct it in accordance with Section 2.5. 
 
§ 12.2.2.2 The one-year period for correction of Work shall be extended with respect to portions of Work first performed after 
Substantial Completion by the period of time between Substantial Completion and the actual completion of that portion of the 
Work. 
 
§ 12.2.2.3 The one-year period for correction of Work shall not be extended by corrective Work performed by the Contractor 
pursuant to this Section 12.2. 
 
§ 12.2.3 The Contractor shall remove from the site portions of the Work that are not in accordance with the requirements of the 
Contract Documents and are neither corrected by the Contractor nor accepted by the Owner. 
 
§ 12.2.4 The Contractor shall bear the cost of correcting destroyed or damaged construction of the Owner or Separate 
Contractors, whether completed or partially completed, caused by the Contractor’s correction or removal of Work that is not 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
41 

 

in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 12.2.5 Nothing contained in this Section 12.2 shall be construed to establish a period of limitation with respect to other 
obligations the Contractor has under the Contract Documents. Establishment of the one-year period for correction of Work as 
described in Section 12.2.2 relates only to the specific obligation of the Contractor to correct the Work, and has no 
relationship to the time within which the obligation to comply with the Contract Documents may be sought to be enforced, nor 
to the time within which proceedings may be commenced to establish the Contractor’s liability with respect to the 
Contractor’s obligations other than specifically to correct the Work. 
 
§ 12.3 Acceptance of Nonconforming Work 
If the Owner prefers to accept Work that is not in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents, the Owner 
may do so instead of requiring its removal and correction, in which case the Contract Sum will be reduced as appropriate and 
equitable. Such adjustment shall be effected whether or not final payment has been made. 
 
ARTICLE 13   MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
§ 13.1 Governing Law 
The Contract shall be governed by the law of the place where the Project is located, excluding that jurisdiction’s choice of law 
rules. If the parties have selected arbitration as the method of binding dispute resolution, the Federal Arbitration Act shall 
govern Section 15.4. 
 
§ 13.2 Successors and Assigns 
§ 13.2.1 The Owner and Contractor respectively bind themselves, their partners, successors, assigns, and legal representatives 
to covenants, agreements, and obligations contained in the Contract Documents. Except as provided in Section 13.2.2, neither 
party to the Contract shall assign the Contract as a whole without written consent of the other. If either party attempts to make 
an assignment without such consent, that party shall nevertheless remain legally responsible for all obligations under the 
Contract. 
 
§ 13.2.2 The Owner may, without consent of the Contractor, assign the Contract to a lender providing construction financing 
for the Project, if the lender assumes the Owner’s rights and obligations under the Contract Documents. The Contractor shall 
execute all consents reasonably required to facilitate the assignment. 
 
§ 13.3 Rights and Remedies 
§ 13.3.1 Duties and obligations imposed by the Contract Documents and rights and remedies available thereunder shall be in 
addition to and not a limitation of duties, obligations, rights, and remedies otherwise imposed or available by law. 
 
§ 13.3.2 No action or failure to act by the Owner, Architect, or Contractor shall constitute a waiver of a right or duty afforded 
them under the Contract, nor shall such action or failure to act constitute approval of or acquiescence in a breach thereunder, 
except as may be specifically agreed upon in writing. 
 
§ 13.4 Tests and Inspections 
§ 13.4.1 Tests, inspections, and approvals of portions of the Work shall be made as required by the Contract Documents and by 
applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, rules, and regulations or lawful orders of public authorities. Unless otherwise 
provided, the Contractor shall make arrangements for such tests, inspections, and approvals with an independent testing 
laboratory or entity acceptable to the Owner, or with the appropriate public authority, and shall bear all related costs of tests, 
inspections, and approvals. The Contractor shall give the Architect timely notice of when and where tests and inspections are 
to be made so that the Architect may be present for such procedures. The Owner shall bear costs of tests, inspections, or 
approvals that do not become requirements until after bids are received or negotiations concluded. The Owner shall directly 
arrange and pay for tests, inspections, or approvals where building codes or applicable laws or regulations so require. 
 
§ 13.4.2 If the Architect, Owner, or public authorities having jurisdiction determine that portions of the Work require 
additional testing, inspection, or approval not included under Section 13.4.1, the Architect will, upon written authorization 
from the Owner, instruct the Contractor to make arrangements for such additional testing, inspection, or approval, by an entity 
acceptable to the Owner, and the Contractor shall give timely notice to the Architect of when and where tests and inspections 
are to be made so that the Architect may be present for such procedures. Such costs, except as provided in Section 13.4.3, 
shall be at the Owner’s expense. 
 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
42 

 

§ 13.4.3 If procedures for testing, inspection, or approval under Sections 13.4.1 and 13.4.2 reveal failure of the portions of the 
Work to comply with requirements established by the Contract Documents, all costs made necessary by such failure, 
including those of repeated procedures and compensation for the Architect’s services and expenses, shall be at the 
Contractor’s expense. 
 
§ 13.4.4 Required certificates of testing, inspection, or approval shall, unless otherwise required by the Contract Documents, 
be secured by the Contractor and promptly delivered to the Architect. 
 
§ 13.4.5 If the Architect is to observe tests, inspections, or approvals required by the Contract Documents, the Architect will do 
so promptly and, where practicable, at the normal place of testing. 
 
§ 13.4.6 Tests or inspections conducted pursuant to the Contract Documents shall be made promptly to avoid unreasonable 
delay in the Work. 
 
§ 13.5 Interest 
Payments due and unpaid under the Contract Documents shall bear interest from the date payment is due at the rate the parties 
agree upon in writing or, in the absence thereof, at the legal rate prevailing from time to time at the place where the Project is 
located. 
 
§ 13.6 Prevailing Wage Act 
§ 13.6.1 The Contractor shall comply with all statutes, both Federal and State, governing payment of wages to employees. The 
Illinois Prevailing Wage Act, 820 ILCS 130/.01 et seq. (“the Wage Act”) requires contractors and subcontractors to pay 
laborers, workers and mechanics performing services on public works projects no less that the “prevailing rate of wages” 
(hourly cash wages plus fringe benefits) in the county where the work is performed. Effective June 1, 2019, an amendment to 
the State of Illinois Prevailing Wage Act requires the IDOL to ascertain the prevailing wage rates for each county in Illinois 
and publish such rates on IDOL’s official website no later than July 15 of each year. For information regarding current 
prevailing wage rates, please refer to the Illinois Department of Labor’s website at: 
http://www.state.il.us/agency/idol/rates/rates.HTM. All Contractors, Subcontractors, and Sub-subcontractors performing Work 
on this Project shall comply with all requirements of the Wage Act to the extent applicable, including but not limited to, all 
wage, notice and record keeping duties. 
 
§ 13.6.2 IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING PERIODIC REVISIONS TO PREVAILING WAGE RATES 
Revisions of the prevailing wage rates are made periodically by the Illinois Department of Labor (“IDOL”). If, during the 
course of work under the Agreement, IDOL revises the prevailing rate of hourly wages to be paid under this Contract for any 
trade or occupation, the prevailing rate of wages as revised by IDOL can be found and are available on IDOL’s official 
website. All Contractors, Subcontractors, and Sub-subcontractors performing Work on this Project are responsible for 
determining the applicable prevailing wage rates at the time of bid submission and performance of the Work. Failure of a 
bidder, Contractor, Subcontractor, or Sub-subcontractor to make such determination shall not relieve it of its obligations in 
accordance with the Contract Documents. In consideration for the award to it of the Contract for this Project, the Contractor 
agrees that the foregoing notice satisfies any obligation of the Owner to notify the contractor of periodic changes in the 
prevailing wage rates and the Contractor agrees to assume and be solely responsible for, as a material obligation of the 
Contractor under the Contract, the obligation to determine periodic revisions of the prevailing wage rates, to notify its 
Subcontractors and Sub-subcontractors of such revisions, to post such revisions as required for the posting of wage rates under 
the Wage Act, and to pay and require its Subcontractors and Sub-subcontractors to pay wages in accordance with such revised 
rates. 
 
§ 13.6.3 Revisions of the prevailing wage as set forth above shall not be a basis for a change order or other claim for an increase 
in the Contract Sum. Further, Contractor shall submit its monthly certified transcript of payroll directly to IDOL using IDOL’s 
electronic portal, available at IDOL’s official website and shall further require each Subcontractor and Sub-subcontractor 
participating on the Project to maintain the appropriate records required by the Wage Act and submit their monthly certified 
transcript of payroll directly to IDOL using IDOL’s electronic portal, as applicable. 
 
§ 13.6.4 Contractor shall provide to Owner copies of all certified payrolls filed through IDOL’s electronic portal and shall 
further include the above-referenced certified statement from each applicable Subcontractor and Sub-subcontractor referenced 
in each Application for Payment. 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
43 

 

 
§ 13.7 General Provisions 
 
§ 13.7.1 All personal pronouns used in this Contract, whether used in the masculine, feminine, or neuter gender, shall include 
all other genders; and the singular shall include the plural and vice versa.  Titles of articles, sections, and subsections are for 
convenience only and neither limit nor amplify the provisions of this Contract.  The use herein of the word “including”, when 
following any general statement, term, or matter, shall not be construed to limit such statement, term, or matter to the specific 
items or matters set forth immediately following such word or to similar items or matters, whether or not non-limiting language 
(such words as “without limitation”, or “but not limited to”, or words of similar import) is used with reference thereto, but 
rather shall be deemed to refer to all other items or matters that could reasonably fall within the broadest possible scope of such 
general statement, term, or matter. 
 
§ 13.7.2 Wherever possible, each provision of this Agreement shall be interpreted in a manner as to be effective and valid under 
applicable law.  If, however, any provision of this Agreement, or portion thereof, is prohibited by law or found invalid under 
any law, only such provision or portion thereof shall be ineffective, without in any manner invalidating or affecting the 
remaining provisions of this Agreement or valid portions of such provision, which are hereby deemed severable. 
 
§ 13.7.3 Each party hereto agrees to do all acts and things and to make, execute and deliver such written instruments, as shall 
from time to time be reasonably required to carry out the terms and provisions of the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 13.7.4 Any specific requirement in this Contract that the responsibilities or obligations of the Contractor also apply to a 
Subcontractor is added for emphasis and is also hereby deemed to include a Subcontractor of any tier.  The omission of a 
reference to a Subcontractor in connection with any of the Contractor’s responsibilities or obligations shall not be construed to 
diminish, abrogate, or limit any responsibilities or obligations of a Subcontractor of any tier under the Contract Documents or 
the applicable subcontract. 
 
§ 13.8 No Oral Waiver 
The provisions of the Contract Documents shall not be changed, amended, waived, or otherwise modified in any respect except 
by a writing signed by Owner and Contractor.  No person is authorized on behalf of Owner or Contractor to orally change, 
amend waive, or otherwise modify the terms of the Contract Documents or any of the Contractor’s duties or obligations under 
or arising out of the Contract Documents.  Any change, waiver, approval, or consent hereunder shall be limited to the specific 
matters stated in the writing signed by Owner and Contractor, and shall not relieve a party of any other of the duties and 
obligations under the Contract Documents.  No “constructive” changes shall be allowed. 
 
ARTICLE 14   TERMINATION OR SUSPENSION OF THE CONTRACT 
§ 14.1 Termination by the Contractor 
§ 14.1.1 The Contractor may terminate the Contract if the Work is stopped for a period of 30 consecutive days through no act 
or fault of the Contractor, a Subcontractor, a Sub-subcontractor, their agents or employees, or any other persons or entities 
performing portions of the Work, for any of the following reasons: 

.1      Issuance of an order of a court or other public authority having jurisdiction that requires all Work to be stopped; 

.2      An act of government, such as a declaration of national emergency, that requires all Work to be stopped; 

.3      Because the Owner has not made payment on a Certificate for Payment within the time stated in the Contract 
Documents; or 

.4      The Owner has failed to furnish to the Contractor reasonable evidence as required by Section 2.2. 
 
§ 14.1.2 The Contractor may terminate the Contract if, through no act or fault of the Contractor, a Subcontractor, a Sub-
subcontractor, their agents or employees, or any other persons or entities performing portions of the Work, repeated 
suspensions, delays, or interruptions of the entire Work by the Owner as described in Section 14.3, constitute in the aggregate 
more than 100 percent of the total number of days scheduled for completion, or 120 days in any 365-day period, whichever is 
less. 
 
§ 14.1.3 If one of the reasons described in Section 14.1.1 or 14.1.2 exists, the Contractor may, upon seven days’ notice to the 
Owner and Architect, terminate the Contract and recover from the Owner payment for Work executed, as well as reasonable 
overhead and profit on Work not executed, and costs incurred by reason of such termination. 
 
§ 14.1.4 If the Work is stopped for a period of 60 consecutive days through no act or fault of the Contractor, a Subcontractor, a 
Sub-subcontractor, or their agents or employees or any other persons or entities performing portions of the Work because the 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
44 

 

Owner has repeatedly failed to fulfill the Owner’s obligations under the Contract Documents with respect to matters important 
to the progress of the Work, the Contractor may, upon seven additional days’ notice to the Owner and the Architect, terminate 
the Contract and recover from the Owner as provided in Section 14.1.3. 
 
§ 14.2 Termination by the Owner for Cause 
§ 14.2.1 The Owner may terminate the Contract if the Contractor 

.1      repeatedly refuses or fails to supply enough properly skilled workers or proper materials; 

.2      fails to make payment to Subcontractors or suppliers in accordance with the respective agreements between the 
Contractor and the Subcontractors or suppliers; 

.3      repeatedly disregards applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, rules and regulations, or lawful orders of a 
public authority; or 

.4      otherwise is guilty of substantial breach of a provision of the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 14.2.2 When any of the reasons described in Section 14.2.1 exist, the Owner may, without prejudice to any other rights or 
remedies of the Owner and after giving the Contractor and the Contractor’s surety, if any, seven days’ notice, terminate 
employment of the Contractor and may, subject to any prior rights of the surety: 

.1      Exclude the Contractor from the site and take possession of all materials, equipment, tools, and construction 
equipment and machinery thereon owned by the Contractor; 

.2      Accept assignment of subcontracts pursuant to Section 5.4; and 

.3      Finish the Work by whatever reasonable method the Owner may deem expedient. Upon written request of the 
Contractor, the Owner shall furnish to the Contractor a detailed accounting of the costs incurred by the Owner 
in finishing the Work. 

 
§ 14.2.3 When the Owner terminates the Contract for one of the reasons stated in Section 14.2.1, the Contractor shall not be 
entitled to receive further payment until the Work is finished. 
 
§ 14.2.4 If the unpaid balance of the Contract Sum exceeds costs of finishing the Work, including compensation for the 
Architect’s services and expenses made necessary thereby, and other damages incurred by the Owner and not expressly 
waived, such excess shall be paid to the Contractor. If such costs and damages exceed the unpaid balance, the Contractor shall 
pay the difference to the Owner. The amount to be paid to the Contractor or Owner, as the case may be, shall be certified by 
the Initial Decision Maker, upon application, and this obligation for payment shall survive termination of the Contract. 
 
§ 14.3 Suspension by the Owner for Convenience 
§ 14.3.1 The Owner may, without cause, order the Contractor in writing to suspend, delay or interrupt the Work, in whole or in 
part for such period of time as the Owner may determine. 
 
§ 14.3.2 The Contract Sum and Contract Time shall be adjusted for increases in the cost and time caused by suspension, delay, 
or interruption under Section 14.3.1. Adjustment of the Contract Sum shall include profit. No adjustment shall be made to the 
extent 

.1      that performance is, was, or would have been, so suspended, delayed, or interrupted, by another cause for which 
the Contractor is responsible; or 

.2      that an equitable adjustment is made or denied under another provision of the Contract. 
 
§ 14.4 Termination by the Owner for Convenience 
§ 14.4.1 The Owner may, at any time, terminate the Contract for the Owner’s convenience and without cause. 
 
§ 14.4.2 Upon receipt of notice from the Owner of such termination for the Owner’s convenience, the Contractor shall 

.1      cease operations as directed by the Owner in the notice; 

.2      take actions necessary, or that the Owner may direct, for the protection and preservation of the Work; and 

.3      except for Work directed to be performed prior to the effective date of termination stated in the notice, 
terminate all existing subcontracts and purchase orders and enter into no further subcontracts and purchase 
orders. 

 
§ 14.4.3 In case of such termination for the Owner’s convenience, the Owner shall pay the Contractor for Work properly 
executed; costs incurred by reason of the termination, including costs attributable to termination of Subcontracts; and the 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
45 

 

termination fee, if any, set forth in the Agreement. 
 
ARTICLE 15   CLAIMS AND DISPUTES 
§ 15.1 Claims 
§ 15.1.1 Definition 
A Claim is a demand or assertion by one of the parties seeking, as a matter of right, payment of money, a change in the 
Contract Time, or other relief with respect to the terms of the Contract. The term “Claim” also includes other disputes and 
matters in question between the Owner and Contractor arising out of or relating to the Contract. The responsibility to 
substantiate Claims shall rest with the party making the Claim. This Section 15.1.1 does not require the Owner to file a Claim 
in order to impose liquidated damages in accordance with the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 15.1.2 Time Limits on Claims 
The Owner and Contractor shall commence all Claims and causes of action against the other and arising out of or related to 
the Contract, whether in contract, tort, breach of warranty or otherwise, in accordance with the requirements of the binding 
dispute resolution method selected in the Agreement and within the period specified by applicable law, but in any case not 
more than 10 years after the date of Substantial Completion of the Work. The Owner and Contractor waive all Claims and 
causes of action not commenced in accordance with this Section 15.1.2. 
 
§ 15.1.3 Notice of Claims 
§ 15.1.3.1 Claims by either the Owner or Contractor, where the condition giving rise to the Claim is first discovered prior to 
expiration of the period for correction of the Work set forth in Section 12.2.2, shall be initiated by notice to the other party and 
to the Initial Decision Maker with a copy sent to the Architect, if the Architect is not serving as the Initial Decision Maker. 
Claims by either party under this Section 15.1.3.1 shall be initiated within 21 days after occurrence of the event giving rise to 
such Claim or within 21 days after the claimant first recognizes the condition giving rise to the Claim, whichever is later. 
 
§ 15.1.3.2 Claims by either the Owner or Contractor, where the condition giving rise to the Claim is first discovered after 
expiration of the period for correction of the Work set forth in Section 12.2.2, shall be initiated by notice to the other party. In 
such event, no decision by the Initial Decision Maker is required. 
 
§ 15.1.4 Continuing Contract Performance 
§ 15.1.4.1 Pending final resolution of a Claim, except as otherwise agreed in writing or as provided in Section 9.7 and Article 
14, the Contractor shall proceed diligently with performance of the Contract and the Owner shall continue to make payments 
in accordance with the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 15.1.4.2 The Contract Sum and Contract Time shall be adjusted in accordance with the Initial Decision Maker’s decision, 
subject to the right of either party to proceed in accordance with this Article 15. The Architect will issue Certificates for 
Payment in accordance with the decision of the Initial Decision Maker. 
 
§ 15.1.5 Claims for Additional Cost 
If the Contractor wishes to make a Claim for an increase in the Contract Sum, notice as provided in Section 15.1.3 shall be 
given before proceeding to execute the portion of the Work that is the subject of the Claim. Prior notice is not required for 
Claims relating to an emergency endangering life or property arising under Section 10.4. 
 
§ 15.1.6 Claims for Additional Time 
§ 15.1.6.1 If the Contractor wishes to make a Claim for an increase in the Contract Time, notice as provided in Section 15.1.3 
shall be given. The Contractor’s Claim shall include an estimate of cost and of probable effect of delay on progress of the 
Work. In the case of a continuing delay, only one Claim is necessary. 
 
§ 15.1.6.2 If adverse weather conditions are the basis for a Claim for additional time, such Claim shall be documented by data 
substantiating that weather conditions were abnormal for the period of time, could not have been reasonably anticipated, and 
had an adverse effect on the scheduled construction. 
 
§ 15.1.7 Waiver of Claims for Consequential Damages 
The Contractor and Owner waive Claims against each other for consequential damages arising out of or relating to this 
Contract. This mutual waiver includes 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
46 

 

.1      damages incurred by the Owner for rental expenses, for losses of use, income, profit, financing, business and 
reputation, and for loss of management or employee productivity or of the services of such persons; and 

.2      damages incurred by the Contractor for principal office expenses including the compensation of personnel 
stationed there, for losses of financing, business and reputation, and for loss of profit, except anticipated profit 
arising directly from the Work. 

 
This mutual waiver is applicable, without limitation, to all consequential damages due to either party’s termination in 
accordance with Article 14. Nothing contained in this Section 15.1.7 shall be deemed to preclude assessment of liquidated 
damages, when applicable, in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents. 
 
§ 15.2 Initial Decision 
§ 15.2.1 Claims, excluding those where the condition giving rise to the Claim is first discovered after expiration of the period 
for correction of the Work set forth in Section 12.2.2 or arising under Sections 10.3, 10.4, and 11.5, shall be referred to the 
Initial Decision Maker for initial decision. The Architect will serve as the Initial Decision Maker, unless otherwise indicated 
in the Agreement. Except for those Claims excluded by this Section 15.2.1, an initial decision shall be required as a condition 
precedent to mediation of any Claim. If an initial decision has not been rendered within 30 days after the Claim has been 
referred to the Initial Decision Maker, the party asserting the Claim may demand mediation and binding dispute resolution 
without a decision having been rendered. Unless the Initial Decision Maker and all affected parties agree, the Initial Decision 
Maker will not decide disputes between the Contractor and persons or entities other than the Owner. 
 
§ 15.2.2 The Initial Decision Maker will review Claims and within ten days of the receipt of a Claim take one or more of the 
following actions: (1) request additional supporting data from the claimant or a response with supporting data from the other 
party, (2) reject the Claim in whole or in part, (3) approve the Claim, (4) suggest a compromise, or (5) advise the parties that 
the Initial Decision Maker is unable to resolve the Claim if the Initial Decision Maker lacks sufficient information to evaluate 
the merits of the Claim or if the Initial Decision Maker concludes that, in the Initial Decision Maker’s sole discretion, it would 
be inappropriate for the Initial Decision Maker to resolve the Claim. 
 
§ 15.2.3 In evaluating Claims, the Initial Decision Maker may, but shall not be obligated to, consult with or seek information 
from either party or from persons with special knowledge or expertise who may assist the Initial Decision Maker in rendering 
a decision. The Initial Decision Maker may request the Owner to authorize retention of such persons at the Owner’s expense. 
 
§ 15.2.4 If the Initial Decision Maker requests a party to provide a response to a Claim or to furnish additional supporting data, 
such party shall respond, within ten days after receipt of the request, and shall either (1) provide a response on the requested 
supporting data, (2) advise the Initial Decision Maker when the response or supporting data will be furnished, or (3) advise the 
Initial Decision Maker that no supporting data will be furnished. Upon receipt of the response or supporting data, if any, the 
Initial Decision Maker will either reject or approve the Claim in whole or in part. 
 
§ 15.2.5 The Initial Decision Maker will render an initial decision approving or rejecting the Claim, or indicating that the 
Initial Decision Maker is unable to resolve the Claim. This initial decision shall (1) be in writing; (2) state the reasons 
therefor; and (3) notify the parties and the Architect, if the Architect is not serving as the Initial Decision Maker, of any 
change in the Contract Sum or Contract Time or both. The initial decision shall be final and binding on the parties but subject 
to mediation and, if the parties fail to resolve their dispute through mediation, to binding dispute resolution. 
 
§ 15.2.6 Either party may file for mediation of an initial decision at any time, subject to the terms of Section 15.2.6.1. 
 
§ 15.2.6.1 Either party may, within 30 days from the date of receipt of an initial decision, demand in writing that the other 
party file for mediation. If such a demand is made and the party receiving the demand fails to file for mediation within 30 days 
after receipt thereof, then both parties waive their rights to mediate or pursue binding dispute resolution proceedings with 
respect to the initial decision. 
 
§ 15.2.7 In the event of a Claim against the Contractor, the Owner may, but is not obligated to, notify the surety, if any, of the 
nature and amount of the Claim. If the Claim relates to a possibility of a Contractor’s default, the Owner may, but is not 
obligated to, notify the surety and request the surety’s assistance in resolving the controversy. 
 
§ 15.2.8 If a Claim relates to or is the subject of a mechanic’s lien, the party asserting such Claim may proceed in accordance 
with applicable law to comply with the lien notice or filing deadlines. 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
47 

 

 
§ 15.3 Mediation 
§ 15.3.1 Intentionally Deleted 
 
§ 15.3.2 The parties may, by their independent written agreement, on a case by case basis, agree to submit any one or more 
Claims, disputes, or other matters in controversy arising out of or related to the Contract to mediation. Mediation, if agreed to 
by both parties, shall be administered by the American Arbitration Association in accordance with its Construction Industry 
Mediation Procedures in effect on the date of the Agreement. A request for mediation shall be made in writing, delivered to 
the other party to the Contract, and filed with the person or entity administering the mediation; provided, neither party to the 
Contract is required or mandated to submit to mediation. No response to a written mediation request within 21 days of receipt 
shall mean the request was rejected. Mediation is not a prerequisite to voluntary arbitration or other form of dispute resolution. 
In the event both parties agree to mediation, a mediation. The request may be made concurrently with the filing of binding 
dispute resolution proceedings but, in such event, mediation shall proceed in advance of binding dispute resolution 
proceedings, which shall be stayed pending mediation for a period of 60 days from the date of filing, unless stayed for a 
longer period by agreement of the parties or court order. If an arbitration is stayed pursuant to this Section 15.3.2, the parties 
may nonetheless proceed to the selection of the arbitrator(s) and agree upon a schedule for later proceedings. 
 
§ 15.3.3 Either party may, within 30 days from the date that mediation has been concluded without resolution of the dispute or 
60 days after mediation has been requested without resolution of the dispute, demand in writing that the other party file for 
binding dispute resolution. If such a demand is made and the party receiving the demand fails to file for binding dispute 
resolution within 60 days after receipt thereof, then both parties waive their rights to binding dispute resolution proceedings 
with respect to the initial decision. 
 
§ 15.3.4 The parties shall share the mediator’s fee and any filing fees equally. The mediation shall be held in the place where 
the Project is located, unless another location is mutually agreed upon. Agreements reached in mediation shall be enforceable 
as settlement agreements in any court having jurisdiction thereof. 
 
§ 15.4 Arbitration 
§ 15.4.1 If the parties have selected arbitration as the method for binding dispute resolution in the Agreement, any Claim 
subject to, but not resolved by, mediation shall be subject to arbitration which, unless the parties mutually agree otherwise, 
shall be administered by the American Arbitration Association in accordance with its Construction Industry Arbitration Rules 
in effect on the date of the Agreement. The Arbitration shall be conducted in the place where the Project is located, unless 
another location is mutually agreed upon. A demand for arbitration shall be made in writing, delivered to the other party to the 
Contract, and filed with the person or entity administering the arbitration. The party filing a notice of demand for arbitration 
must assert in the demand all Claims then known to that party on which arbitration is permitted to be demanded. 
 
§ 15.4.1.1 A demand for arbitration shall be made no earlier than concurrently with the filing of a request for mediation, but in 
no event shall it be made after the date when the institution of legal or equitable proceedings based on the Claim would be 
barred by the applicable statute of limitations. For statute of limitations purposes, receipt of a written demand for arbitration 
by the person or entity administering the arbitration shall constitute the institution of legal or equitable proceedings based on 
the Claim. 
 
§ 15.4.2 The award rendered by the arbitrator or arbitrators shall be final, and judgment may be entered upon it in accordance 
with applicable law in any court having jurisdiction thereof. 
 
§ 15.4.3 The foregoing agreement to arbitrate and other agreements to arbitrate with an additional person or entity duly 
consented to by parties to the Agreement, shall be specifically enforceable under applicable law in any court having 
jurisdiction thereof. 
 
§ 15.4.4 Consolidation or Joinder 
§ 15.4.4.1 Subject to the rules of the American Arbitration Association or other applicable arbitration rules, either party may 
consolidate an arbitration conducted under this Agreement with any other arbitration to which it is a party provided that (1) 
the arbitration agreement governing the other arbitration permits consolidation, (2) the arbitrations to be consolidated 
substantially involve common questions of law or fact, and (3) the arbitrations employ materially similar procedural rules and 
methods for selecting arbitrator(s). 
 



AIA Document A201 – 2017. Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The 
American Institute of Architects. This draft was produced at 12:39:53 CST on 01/08/2025 under Subscription No.20240059985 which expires on , is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright 
violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes:  (640e2aedf442e4498d0967fa) 

 
48 

 

§ 15.4.4.2 Subject to the rules of the American Arbitration Association or other applicable arbitration rules, either party may 
include by joinder persons or entities substantially involved in a common question of law or fact whose presence is required if 
complete relief is to be accorded in arbitration, provided that the party sought to be joined consents in writing to such joinder. 
Consent to arbitration involving an additional person or entity shall not constitute consent to arbitration of any claim, dispute 
or other matter in question not described in the written consent. 
 
§ 15.4.4.3 The Owner and Contractor grant to any person or entity made a party to an arbitration conducted under this Section 
15.4, whether by joinder or consolidation, the same rights of joinder and consolidation as those of the Owner and Contractor 
under this Agreement. 
 



Resolution Executive Summary 
Prepared By: Department of Information Technology 
Committee Name: Operations and Administrative Committee 
Committee Date: November 20, 2025 
Board Date: November 25, 2025  

Resolution Title: Resolution Awarding IT Ticketing and Patch Management 3 Year Renewal 

Budget Information: 

Budgeted? YES   Amount Budgeted?  $35,162.40  

Over or Under approved amount? N/A    By: N/A 

ORG/OBJ/Project Codes: 19500-43167    Descriptor: IT Budget 
Budget Impact? N/A 
 

Background Information: 
The Winnebago County Department of Information Technology (WinCo DoIT) is required to provide a 
secure and reliable information technology infrastructure for public safety, public health, a nursing 
home, the circuit courts, elections and all other Elected and Appointed officials.  WinCo DoIT currently 
tracks various tickets from users and monitors a complex software environment. To enhance the 
reliability, predictability and stability of this environment, WinCo DoIT selected Atera as our ticketing 
and patch management platform. This resolution is an annual renewal of this licensing. 

Recommended By:  Chief Information Officer, Dan Magers 

Follow-Up Steps:  WinCo DoIT will pay Atera using their Purchasing Card in the amount of $35,163.00. 



County Board Meeting:  November 25, 2025 

R E S O L U T I O N 
of the 

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

Sponsored by:   Paul Arena, Committee Chairman 
Submitted by:   Operations and Administrative Committee 

2025 CR 

RESOLUTION AWARDING IT TICKETING AND PATCH MANAGEMENT 3 YEAR
RENEWAL 

WHEREAS, the Code of Ordinances for the County of Winnebago, Illinois, provides as in 
Section 2-357 (b) (1), Conditions for use.  All procurements whose value equals or exceeds the 
competitive bidding threshold of $35,000 shall be awarded by competitive sealed bidding in 
accordance with this section except as otherwise provided in 2-357(c) (Request for Proposals), 2-
357(d) (Professional Services), 2-357(e) (Sole-Source), 2-357(f) (Emergency Procurements), 2-357 
(g) (Cooperative Joint Purchasing) or as provided by State statute; and,

WHEREAS, the Winnebago County Department of Information Technology (WinCo DoIT) 
is required to provide a secure and reliable information technology infrastructure for all 
departments; and 

 

WHEREAS,  WinCo DoIT uses Atera as a ticketing and patch management solution to 
monitor County infrastructure and software patching; and  

WHEREAS, Atera is the County’s chosen ticketing and patch management platform; and 
WHEREAS, the Operations and Administrative Committee concurs with this request and 

recommends approval by the Winnebago County Board. 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the County Board of the County of Winnebago, 
Illinois., hereby authorizes the Department of Information Technology to purchase the renewal 
to Atera, via Purchasing Card, for the 2nd year of a 3 year term, in the amount of $35,163.00. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be in full force and effect 
immediately upon its adoption. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Clerk of the County Board is hereby directed to 
prepare and deliver certified copies of this Resolution to the Chief Information Officer, Director 
of Purchasing, Board Office, Finance Director and County Auditor. 



 Respectfully Submitted, 
 OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 

AGREE DISAGREE 

PAUL ARENA, CHAIR PAUL ARENA, CHAIR 

VALERIE HANSERD VALERIE HANSERD 

KEITH MCDONALD KEITH MCDONALD 

JOHN BUTITTA JOHN BUTITTA 

JOE HOFFMAN JOE HOFFMAN 

CHRISTINA VALDEZ CHRISTINA VALDEZ 

MICHAEL THOMPSON MICHAEL THOMPSON 

The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this _____day of ___________________________2025. 

ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH CHIARELLI 
CHAIR OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 



Order Form 

Subscription Licenses Description Subscription 
Term 

Annual Price Per 
Unit 

Disc (%) Total 

EnterpriseITD 5 Atera ITDEnterprise, 
annual subscription, 
pay per technician 

Sept 30, 2024 - 
Sept 29, 2027 

$3,588.00 10% $48,438 

EnterpriseITD 2 Atera ITDEnterprise, 
annual subscription, 
pay per technician 

Sept 30, 2024 - 
Sept 29, 2027 

$3,588.00 30% $15,070 

EnterpriseITD 2 Atera ITDEnterprise, 
annual subscription, 
pay per technician 

Sept 30, 2024 - 
Sept 29, 2027 

$3,588.00 50% $10,764 

EnterpriseITD 2 Atera ITDEnterprise, 
annual subscription, 
pay per technician 

Sept 30, 2024 - 
Sept 29, 2027 

$3,588.00 30% $15,070 

EnterpriseITD 1 Atera ITDEnterprise, 
annual subscription, 
pay per technician 

Sept 30, 2024 - 
Sept 29, 2027 

$3,588.00 30% $7,535 

EnterpriseITD 1 Atera ITDEnterprise, 
annual subscription, 
pay per technician 

Sept 30, 2024 - 
Sept 29, 2027 

$3,588.00 100% $0 

EnterpriseITD 2 Atera ITDEnterprise, 
annual subscription, 
pay per technician 

Sept 30, 2024 - 
Sept 29, 2027 

$3,588.00 60% $8,611 

Quote #: Q-08108 

Date issued: 8/4/2024 

Client: Winnebago County 

Subscription Term: Sept 30, 2024 - Sept 29, 2027 

Expires: Aug 28, 2024 

Currency: USD 

List Amount 

Discount (35%) 

Net Total 

$161,460 

($55,973) 

$105,487 

Docusign Envelope ID: 1512115C-E871-43A3-ACA1-7272F460C116



Payment Terms: 

● Payment Method: Wire Transfer

● Payment Terms: 30 days from invoice issue date

Billing Schedule: 

The total amount due shall be divided into 5 installments. For the first year, amount split into 2 payments and the 

subsequent 2 years of the term, 1 annual payment. Each payment due within 30 days of receipt of an invoice, 

according to the following payment schedule: 

Year 1:   

First Payment: Amount: $15,000  Date: September 30th, 2024 

Second Payment: Amount: $20,162.4 Date: October 2nd, 2024 

Year 2:  Amount: $35,162.4 Date: October 2nd, 2025 

Year 3:  Amount: $35,162.4  Date: October 2nd, 2026 

General Terms: 

 This Order Form confirms the purchase of the subscriptions identified above from Atera Networks Ltd. (“Atera”), by the
entity identified below (“Client”), in accordance with the terms of this Order Form and Atera’s term of use located at
https://www.atera.com/terms-of-use/ (“Terms”), which Client hereby acknowledges and agrees to be bound by, and are
incorporated herein by reference. To the extent that the Terms are in conflict with the provisions of this Order Form, the
provisions of this Order Form shall prevail.

 Payment shall be due and payable based on the above payment terms.

 The prices shown above do not include any taxes that may apply. All payments are non-refundable.

 All apps included in the Atera App Center are Third Party Services (as defined in the Terms) and are subject to their
respective terms of service and fees. The Client may only use the apps included in their order form(s). If the Client’s usage
exceeds the specified amount or uses apps not specified in the order form, the Client authorizes Atera to invoice for the
applicable amounts based on the app’s standard monthly rates, which must be paid within 30 days of Atera’s invoice.
Amounts paid for App Center apps are non- refundable and may not be utilized after the term stated in the order form.

Docusign Envelope ID: 1512115C-E871-43A3-ACA1-7272F460C116



Winnebago County: 

Name: \n1\ 

Title: \t1\ 

Date: \d1\ 

Signature: \s1\ 

Atera Networks LTD. 

Name: \n2\ 

Title: \t2\ 

Date: \d2\ 

Signature: \s2\ 

Billing Information: 

Billing Contact Name: /billingContactName_1/ 

Email: /BillingContactEmail_1/ 

Phone Number: /BillingContactPhoneNumber_1/ 

Billing Address: 

 Street: /BillToStreet_1/ 

 City: /BillToCity_1/ 

 State: /BillingState_1/ 

 Country: /BillingCountry_1/ 

 Postal Code: /BillToPostalCode_1/ 

Atera Account Representative: 

Name: Moshe Alexander 
Email: moshe@atera.com 
Phone Number: +1 332 877 9752 

Docusign Envelope ID: 1512115C-E871-43A3-ACA1-7272F460C116

815-319-4312

Rockford

United States

404 Elm St. Suite 506

Chief Information Officer

Illinois

Dan Magers

61101-1225

MBradley@doit.wincoil.gov

Michaela Bradley

August 5, 2024

Head of FP&A

אוגוסט 5, 2024

Meytal Soffer



Ordinance Executive Summary 

Prepared By: Human Resources Department 
Committee Name: Operations and Administrative Committee 
Committee Date: November 20, 2025 
Board Date: November 25, 2025 
Resolution Title: Ordinance Amending Section 62-242 [Claim Settlement Policies] of the 

Winnebago County Code of Ordinances 

Budget Information 
Was item budgeted? N/A     Approximate Appropriation Amount: 
If not, explain funding source:   
ORG/OBJ/Project Code:   Budget Impact:   N/A 

Background Information: The attached ordinance is amending the claim settlement policies 
specific to workers compensation claims. Per the recommendation of our insurance company and 
the attached pooling agreement, working directly with Illinois Public Risk Fund (IPRF) to handle 
claim settlement policies would be the course of action.  

This will provide confidentiality to the claims process as well as stream line these matters in an 
appropriate time frame.  

Recommendation:  Debbie Crozier, Human Resources Director 

Follow-Up: Staff will work directly with legal to implement and follow ordinance amendments. 



             County Board Meeting: November 25, 2025 
 

 ORDINANCE 
OF THE 

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 

2025 CO ______ 
 

SUBMITTED BY: PAUL ARENA 
 
 
ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 62-242 (CLAIM SETTLEMENT POLICIES) OF 

THE WINNEBAGO COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 WHEREAS, the County Board of the County of Winnebago, Illinois (County) desires to 
amend its ordinances related to settling workers’ compensation claims against the County; and 

WHEREAS, Chapter 62, Article VI, Division 7, Section 62-242 provides levels of 
authority for settlement of workers’ compensation claims against the County; and 

WHEREAS, on December 6, 2021, the County entered into an Illinois Public Risk Fund 
(IPRF) Pooling Agreement (Agreement), which purpose is to establish an intergovernmental joint 
insurance pool providing for the defense and payment when due of all compensation and other 
benefits under the Illinois Workers’ Compensation Act and the Illinois Workers’ Occupational 
Diseases Act (“Workers’ Compensation Laws”); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Agreement and as a member of the IPRF, the County 
appointed the IPRF as its agent “to make or arrange for payment of claims, medical expenses, and 
all other things required or necessary insofar as they affect the Member’s liability under the 
Workers’ Compensation Laws”; and  

WHEREAS, the Winnebago County Board deems it necessary and appropriate to amend 
Section 62-242 (Claim Settlement Policies) of the Winnebago County Code of Ordinances to 
effectuate the County’s duties under the Agreement and settle all workers’ compensation claims 
in a timely manner. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois, that Chapter 62, Article VI, Division 7, Section 62-242 of the Winnebago 
County Code of Ordinances, is hereby amended to read as follows: 

 
Sec. 62-242. - Claim settlement policies.  
 
Workers' compensation claims filed against the county shall be handled in the following 

manner, unless the county is an active member of the Illinois Public Risk Fund, in which event the 
terms and conditions of the pooling agreement shall apply: 

 



(1) All recommended settlements in excess of $25,000.00 must be approved by the county 
board. 

(2) The county administrator shall have the authority to settle workers' compensation 
claims in excess of $10,000.00 and up to $25,000.00 with approval of the finance committee or its 
successor committee. 

 
(3) The county administrator shall have the authority, with the concurrence of the chief 

financial officer, to settle all workers' compensation claims up to $10,000.00. The county 
administrator shall report to the finance committee or its successor committee, on a quarterly basis, 
the number and dollar amounts of any workers' compensation claims settled. 
 

BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, that all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict 
herewith are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, that this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect 
immediately upon signing. 

BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, that the Clerk of the County Board is hereby directed to 
prepare and deliver a certified copy of this Ordinance to the County Auditor, the County Finance 
Director, County Human Resources Director, State’s Attorney and the County Board Office. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



        Respectfully submitted, 
                                                        OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 

 

AGREE       DISAGREE 

 
__________________________________       __________________________________  
Paul Arena, Chair                                    Paul Arena, Chair 
 
_________________________________         __________________________________ 
Valerie Hanserd, Vice Chair        Valerie Hanserd, Vice Chair     
 
_________________________________         __________________________________ 
John Butitta                   John Butitta  
 
_________________________________         __________________________________ 
Joe Hoffman         Joe Hoffman 
 
__________________________________       __________________________________ 
Keith McDonald                              Keith McDonald 
  
__________________________________       __________________________________ 
Michael Thompson                   Michael Thompson                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       
__________________________________       __________________________________ 
Christina Valdez                                         Christina Valdez 

 
 
The above and foregoing Ordinance was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this _____ day of _________________, 2025. 
 

                      ________________________________  
                                                                             Joseph V. Chiarelli, Chairman of the 

     County Board of the County of    
     Winnebago, Illinois 

ATTEST: 
 

______________________________   
Lori Gummow, Clerk of the   
County Board of the 
County of Winnebago, Illinois 
 
 



Member No. / 5 3 J 

ILLINOIS PUBLIC RISK FUND 

POOLING AGREEMENT 

<As Amended and Restated in 2018) 

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into by and among the ILLINOIS PUBLIC 
RISK FUND (the "IPRF" or "Fund"), an Illinois not for profit corporation organized and 
operating as an intergovernmental joint insurance pool, and each of the members of the Fund 
(individually referred to herein as a "Member" and collectively as the "Members"). 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the purpose of the Fund is to establish an intergovernmental joint insurance 
pool providing for the defense and payment when due of all compensation and other benefits 
under the Illinois Workers' Compensation Act and the Illinois Workers' Occupational Diseases 
Act (hereinafter referred to as the "Workers' Compensation Laws"), on behalf of "public agency 
members," as such term is defined by section 6 of the Illinois Intergovernmental Cooperation Act 
(5 ILCS 220/6), and other units of local government and public entities within the State of 
Illinois which may become eligible for membership from time to time according to the 
Intergovernmental Cooperation Act, or Article VII, Section IO of the Illinois Constitution of 
1970. 

WHEREAS, the Illinois Intergovernmental Cooperation Act expressly authorizes public 
agencies to enter into intergovernmental contracts to jointly self-insure and utilize their funds to 
protect, wholly or partially, themselves and any public agency member of the contract against 
liability or loss in a designated insurable area; and 

WHEREAS, the IPRF was established in 1985 to provide a means by which the public 
agency Members of the Fund could contract with each other pursuant to the Intergovernmental 
Cooperation Act in order to protect each other against liability or loss under the Workers' 
Compensation Laws; and 

WHEREAS, the parties to this Agreement intend to create a valid, enforceable 
intergovernmental contract pursuant to the provisions of the Intergovernmental Cooperation Act 
by execution of this Agreement. 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements contained 
herein, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

AGREEMENT 

I. FUND OPERA TIO NS AND CLAIMS ADMINISTRATION.

The IPRF will pay promptly when due the compensation and other benefits, including 
medical benefits, required of the Member by the Workers' Compensation Laws. The affairs of 
the Fund shall be managed by or under the direction of its Board of Trustees which shall provide 

Illinois Public Risk Fund/ General Corporate I Pooling Agreement- February 2018 /266703 



for the efficient administration of claims under the Workers' Compensation Laws and otherwise 
under any applicable law of the State of Illinois imposing employer liability for bodily injury by 
accident or disease. In that regard, the Board of Trustees shall be vested with all powers 
necessary to properly manage and direct the affairs of the IPRF, including but not limited to the 
power, as may be deemed necessary by the Board of Trustees in its full and complete discretion, 
to: 

A. Provide for the efficient administration of claims by either employing or
contracting for the services of an independent third party claims administrator (the "Fund
Claims Administrator" or "Fund Administrator"), or by employing or contracting for the
services of claims administration personnel or staff, (the "Fund Claims Administration"

or "Fund Administration"). The Fund Administrator or Fund Administration, as the case
may be, shall have the responsibilities for claims processing and administration; the
investigation and adjustment of claims; the management and reporting of claims;
compensation, claims, and benefits payments; and, risk data management and reports,
including the establishing and monitoring of reserves, among other duties as may be
authorized, directed, or delegated from time to time by the Board of Trustees;

B. Provide or contract for safety and loss control programs and services for the

benefit of the Fund and its Members;

C. Employ or contract for the services of an independent accountant (the "Fund
Accountant") who, at the direction of the Board of Trustees and the Treasurer, shall be
responsible for IPRF's day-to-day financial matters, including the collection of Members'
current, past due, and delinquent accounts, premiums, contributions, assessments, and
penalties; the keeping and maintenance of the Fund's financial records, statements,

reports, and books of account; and, the satisfaction and payment of the Fund's bills,
debts, and other financial obligations;

D. Employ or contract for the services of an independent, fiduciary investment

advisor (the "Fund Advisor"), if deemed necessary by the IPRF's Board of Trustees, to
provide advice and management concerning the Fund's assets and investments in
accordance with the purposes and investment guidelines established by the IPRF, the
Intergovernmental Cooperation Act, and all other applicable duties and policies,
standards, guidelines established, created by law, regulation, or resolution of the Board
of Trustees;

E. Employ or contract for the services of an exclusive Marketing Agent who shall
be responsible for the promotion and marketing of the Fund, and its program and
services;

P. Authorize and direct the Fund Accountant and the Marketing Agent in the
collection of delinquent accounts resulting from any unpaid premiums, contributions,
assessments, or penalties;

G. Cause each Member to execute this Pooling Agreement, governing, among other
matters and things, the liability of all Members for claims against the Fund;

H. Obtain excess reinsurance coverage along with errors and omissions liability
(E&O) and directors and officers (D&O) liability coverages for the Fund's Board of

Illinois Public Risk Fund/ General Corporate I Pooling Agreement- February 2018 /266703 



Trustees, officers, and employees with insurance companies acceptable to the Board of 
Trustees, and in amounts considered reasonably adequate to cover the liabilities of the 

Fund, its Board of Trustees, officers, and employees, and to keep and maintain such 
insurance policy coverages in full force and in effect at all times along with such other 

insurance coverages as the Board of Trustees may determine to be reasonably prudent 
and necessary to protect the Fund and its assets; and, to procure and maintain a fidelity 
bond covering the IPRF's Board of Trustees, individually and collectively, the Fund 
Treasurer, the Fund Accountant, and any other person required by law or deemed 
appropriate by the Board of Trustees, having any responsibility respecting the IPRF's 

monies and securities, in an amount sufficient to protect the Fund against loss, 

misappropriation, or misuse of any monies or securities; 

I. Set standards for the admission of Members to the Fund which shall include such

requirements, guidelines, and precautions as the Board of Trustees from time to time

shall deem to be reasonable and appropriate to promote the safe, prudent, proper, and
responsible operation of the Fund for the benefit of duly qualified and financially suitable
Members that are seriously committed to sound safety practices, risk management, and

loss control programs;

J. To employ or contract for the services of such other persons, parties, providers,

vendors, or consultants as the Board of Trustees may from time to time deem reasonably
necessary or desirable to carry out the purposes of the Fund and to assure the continuous,
efficient, and cost-effective operations of its programs.

II. COST OF MEMBERSHIP.

The Member's cost will be determined by the Board of Trustees. The Member's 

contribution or premium will be developed by an examination and audit of all the Member's 

records that relate to the coverages provided by this Agreement, including ledgers, journals, 
registers, contracts, tax reports, payroll and disbursement records, and programs for storing and 

retrieving data (the "payroll audit"). Rates, classifications, experience modification factors, and 
discounts approved by the Board of Trustees will be used to determine the Member's 

contribution or premium subject to the payroll audit. 

III. ASSESSMENT PROVISIONS.

Whenever the Board of Trustees determines by means of an audit, annual certified 
financial statements, actuarial opinion, or otherwise that the assets of the Fund are less than the 
reserves which prudently should be maintained by the Fund, or which are required to be 
maintained by any applicable law, rule or regulation, then the Fund shall direct its Treasurer and 
the Fund Accountant (as defined in the Fund's By-Laws) to assess each Member of the Fund that 
was a Member during the Fiscal Year (as defined below) in which the events or occurrences 
giving rise to such assessment occurred, the amount necessary (in the aggregate) to correct the 
deficiency. Members will be assessed pro rata based upon their annual contributions, provided 
that, in no event shall the annual total of any Member's assessment exceed the greater of ten 
percent (10%) of that Member's gross annual premium or contribution to the Fund for the most 
recent Fiscal or Fund Year, as such terms are defined herein and by the IPRF's By-Laws, or the 
amount required under the applicable rule, law or regulation giving rise to the assessment. In the 
event of the inability of one or more Members, by reason of insolvency or otherwise, to pay such 
assessments, the Fund's Treasurer shall assess the other Members of the Fund for such unpaid 

Illinois Public Risk Fund/ General Corporate I Pooling Agreement- February 2018 /266703 



amounts. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Member's liability under this Section for assessments 
shall be limited to the period of such Member's membership in the IPRF and the later of either 
the three (3)-year period commencing with the close of the most recent Fiscal Year during which 
the events, occurrences, or claims giving rise to such assessments happened, or the three (3)-year 
period beginning with the close of the Fiscal Year during which such Member's membership in 
the Fund was terminated. 

IV. MEMBERS, TERMS, WITHDRAWAL, TERMINATION.

A. Membership in the Fund is limited to "public agency members" as such term is
defined by section 6 of the Illinois Intergovernmental Cooperation Act (5 ILCS 220/6),
and other units of local government and public entities within the State of Illinois which
may become eligible for membership from time to time according to the
Intergovernmental Cooperation Act, or Article VII, Section 10 of the Illinois Constitution

of 1970. Membership in the Fund is subject to the approval of the Fund's Board of
Trustees, the Fund Administrator, and the Fund's excess reinsurance carrier.

8. The initial minimum term of IPRF membership is one (I) year, unless terminated
earlier pursuant to this Agreement or Article VIII of the Fund's By-Laws.

C. After the initial one (l) year minimum term, a Member may withdraw or resign
its membership in the Fund for any year thereafter upon the giving of not less than ninety
(90) days written notice to the IPRF Board of Trustees of its intent to withdraw or resign
and, such resignation shall take effect no sooner than ninety (90) days from the date such
notice is given. The ninety (90) day written notice required by this section shall be given,
at least, 90 days prior to the expiration of the Member's then-current term. It is
paramount for the Fund to receive the written notice required by this section ninety (90)
days in advance of the end of the withdrawing Member's term because the Fund must
know which of its Members are covered on an annual basis. The Fund cannot carve out
shortened timeframes for members who terminate on any lesser amount of time as such
shortened termination timeframes may lead to ambiguities in coverage.

D. A Member's written notice tentatively terminating such Member's membership
must be rescinded, if at all, by subsequent written notice received by the IPRF no later
than the final day of the then-current policy term. If the tentative termination is not
rescinded, the Members membership in the IPRF will be terminated as of 11 :59 PM on
the final day of the Member's then-current term. If the Member does timely rescind its
tentative termination as provided in this paragraph, such Member's membership shall be
renewed in the ordinary course, with no interruption in coverage.

E. A Member may be terminated from the IPRF under rules set forth in the Funds
By-Laws for reasons which include, but are not limited to, the following:

(1) When the Member fails to pay the premium, contribution, assessment, or
other amounts due and payable to the Fund in full;

(2) When the Member fails to cooperate with the Fund, or with its Trustees,
Marketing Agent, officers, employees, contractors, or agents, in regards to audits,
payments, financial and claims reporting, safety, loss control, and prevention, or
any other subject having to do or connected in any way with the operations and

Illinois Public Risk Fund/ General Corporate I Pooling Agreement - February 2018 /266703 



purposes of the IPRF as determined by the Board of Trustees in its sole 
discretion; 

(3) When the Member fails to carry out the recommendations of any safety,

loss control, or prevention survey, inspection, or examination, or fails to adhere
to generally accepted accounting or financial practices, or fails to follow the

IPRF's safety, loss control, risk prevention, or claims reduction standards,
policies, or programs as determined by the Board of Trustees in its sole
discretion;

(4) When the Member fails to meet the membership eligibility requirements
set forth in Paragraph IV(A) above, as determined at any time by the Board of

Trustees in its sole discretion;

(5) When the Member engages in conduct detrimental to the integrity,

stability, or strength of the IPRF or any of its programs as determined by the
Board of Trustees in its sole discretion; or

(6) When the member fails to meet other requirements for continued
participation that may be determined by the Board of Trustees in its sole
discretion to preserve the stability and strength of the Fund and which are

consistent with the provisions of the By-Laws, including participation in the

programs or efforts designed to reduce losses or adjust claims in order to carry
out the purposes for which the IPRF was established.

F. REGARDLESS OF THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF ANY MEMBER'S

VOLUNTARY OR INVOLUNTARY TERMINATION OF MEMBERSHIP IN
THE FUND, PAID PREMIUMS WILL NOT BE REFUNDED OR PRO-RATED.

V. COVERAGE INDEMNITY AND DEFENSE.

In consideration of payment of the Member's contributions as described in this
Agreement in general, and as set forth in Part II in particular, the Fund agrees: 

A. Coverage: The Fund will pay promptly when due all compensation and other
benefits, including medical benefits, required of the Member by the Workers'

Compensation Laws and as such Laws may be amended from time to time.

B. Defense. Settlement. Supplementary Payments: As respects the coverage

afforded by the other terms of this Agreement, the Fund shal 1:

(I) Defend any proceeding against the Member seeking such compensation
and other benefits and any suit against the Member alleging work-related

accidental injuries or occupational diseases, as those terms are defined under the

Workers' Compensation Laws and seeking damages on account thereof, even if
such proceeding or lawsuit is groundless, false, or fraudulent, but the Fund may
make such investigation, negotiation, and settlement of any claim or suit as it

deems expedient or necessary.

Illinois Public Risk Fund/ General Corporate I Pooling Agreement- February 2018 /266703 

jjclinton
Highlight

jjclinton
Highlight

jjclinton
Highlight



(2) Pay all expenses incurred by the Fund, all costs truced against the
Member in any such proceeding or suit, and all interest accruing after entry of
award or judgment until the Fund has paid, tendered, or deposited such part of
such judgment as does not exceed the limit of the Fund's liability thereon;

provided, however, that in no event shall the Fund be responsible for payment of
any fines, penalties, or interest thereon imposed upon a Member as a result of
such Member's violation of or misconduct under the Workers' Compensation
Laws or otherwise.

C. Applicability of Coverage: The coverage, compensation, other benefits, defense,
and payments provided under this Agreement apply or is accorded only to accidental
injuries, disablements, exposures, and fatalities (as those terms are defined under the
Workers' Compensation Laws) occurring during the membership term. All states
coverage will be provided by the Fund.

D. Conditions: Classifications, rates, modification factors, and discounts, shall be
determined by the Board of Trustees in its sole discretion. Each Member shall maintain
records of the information necessary for contribution or premium computation, and the
IPRF, its Board of Trustees, the Fund Accountant and its duly authorized agents and
representatives shall be allowed to examine and audit all of the Member's records that
relate to the coverage, indemnity and defense provided by this Agreement, including
ledgers, journals, registers, vouchers, contracts, tax reports, payroll and disbursement
records, and programs for sharing and receiving data. The IPRF may conduct the audits
during regular business hours during the membership or coverage period and within three
(3) years after such membership or coverage period ends. Information developed by audit
will be used to determine the amount of any final premium or contribution due under this
Agreement subject to the right of the Fund through its Board of Trustees to determine
and set the amount of any premium, contribution, assessment, debt, penalty, or other
amount due to be paid the IPRF in its full and sole discretion.

VL MEMBERS' OBLIGATIONS. 

Each Member agrees to be bound by all of the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement, any subsequent amendments, revisions or alterations of this version of the 
Agreement (each version to be retained in IPRF's books and records), the IPRF's By­
Laws, as they may be amended from time to time, and to abide by any rules, resolutions, 
and regulations that are promulgated by the Board of Trustees for the administration of 
the Fund, which shall include, but not be limited to, the following: 

A. Each Member agrees to initiate and maintain a safety program to give its
employees safe and sanitary working conditions and agrees to follow the general
recommendations of the IPRF, its Board of Trustees, and their duly authorized agents
and representatives to promote the general welfare of such Member's employees. Each
Member, however, shall remain solely responsible for all decisions concerning its safety
program and practices and may not rely upon evaluations or recommendations made by
the IPRF, its Board of Trustees, or their duly authorized agents and representatives in
making decisions concerning such Member's safety program and practices.

Illinois Public Risk Fund/ General Corporate I Pooling Agreement- February 2018 /266703 

jjclinton
Highlight

jjclinton
Highlight

jjclinton
Highlight



B. When an injury or disablement to an employee of a Member covered by this

Agreement occurs, the Member shall immediately provide for immediate emergency and

other medical services as provided by Sections 8(a) of the Illinois Workers'
Compensation Act (820 ILCS 305/8(a)), and shall immediately notify the IPRF of the

loss or claim and cause to be prepared and transmitted to the Fund Administrator or Fund

Administration, as the case may be, an Employers First Report of Injury (Form 45) as

prescribed by the IPRF, the Illinois Workers' Compensation Commission and the Federal
Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA).

C. If a claim is made or suit or other proceeding is brought against the Member,

then the Member shall immediately forward to the IPRF every demand, notice,

summons, claim form, suit or other legal or administrative process received by it.

D. The Member shall cooperate with the IPRF and, upon the Funds request, shall

attend all hearings and trials and shall assist in effecting settlements, securing and giving

evidence, obtaining the attendance of witnesses, and otherwise cooperate in the conduct
of all suits, hearings, or proceedings. The Member shall not, except at its own cost,

which shall not be reimbursed by the Fund, voluntarily make any payment, assume any
obligation, or incur any expense other than for such immediate medical and other

services at the time of the injury as are required by the Workers' Compensation Laws or
otherwise.

E. Each Member shall make prompt payment of all contributions, premiums,

assessments, and other amounts due as required under this Agreement and the Fund's By­

Laws.

F. Each Member does hereby appoint the IPRF as its agent to act in the Member's

behalf to file reports and to make or arrange for payment of claims, medical expenses,

and all other things required or necessary insofar as they affect the Member's liability
under the Workers' Compensation Laws or such Member's obligations under the rules,

regulations, and orders of the Illinois Workers' Compensation Commission or any other

administrative agency or court having jurisdiction.

G. Each Member agrees that in the event of the payment of any compensation, other

benefits, defense or other payments by the IPRF under this Agreement, the Fund shall be
subrogated to the extent of such payment to all rights of the Member against any person

or other entity legally responsible for such damages or losses, and in such event, the

Member hereby agrees to render all reasonable assistance, other than pecuniary
assistance, to effect recovery.

H. The IPRF, its Board of Trustees, and any of their duly authorized agents,

employees, and attorneys, and a representative shall be permitted at all reasonable times
to inspect the Member's work places, plants, works, machinery, and appliances covered

by this Agreement, and shall be permitted at all reasonable times and within three (3)
years following termination of membership to examine the Member's books, vouchers,
contracts, documents, and records of any and every kind which show or tend to show or

verify contributions, premiums, or other amounts which are due or payable, or which
were paid to the Fund.

Illinois Public Risk Fund/ General Corporate/ Pooling Agreement- February 2018 /266703 

jjclinton
Highlight



I. In consideration of the rights, privileges, and benefits of IPRF membership, the
Member agrees and consents that it may be sued by the Fund in any Illinois court having 
jurisdiction for any premiums, assessments, contributions, debts, penalties, or other 
monies that are not paid to the Fund on the due date thereof, including but not limited to 
all reasonable attorneys' fees, expenses, and costs incurred by the Fund in the collection 
process through litigation, arbitration, or otherwise. Each Member further specifically 
agrees, consents, and submits to the jurisdiction, venue, and service of process of the 
Circuit Court of DuPage County, Illinois. 

VII. EFFECTIVE TIME AND DATE.

The Fund shall operate on a fiscal year consistent with the calendar year beginning on the 
first day of January and ending on the last day of December (the "Fiscal Year" or "Fund Year"), 
and effective date of this Agreement shall be the date the parties entered into this Amended and 
Restated Pooling Agreement as set forth below. 

VIII. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.

This Amended and Restated Pooling Agreement supersedes any prior Pooling Agreement 
between the parties. 

IX. NO PRESUMPTION ARISES.

This Amended and Restated Pooling Agreement shall be presumed to have been drafted 
by the parties that are signatories hereto. No presumption shall arise against either party if any 
term hereof shall be considered ambiguous. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have entered into this Amended and 
Restated Pooling Agreement as of date set forth below. 

Date: 

ILLINOIS PUBLIC RISK FUND 

By:� h. 8751 fl (L)__

rn1ecIP12.t= S=ndnr :_j 
MEMBER 

r,,r#/t!,J,{_ r�omPsod
(Print name of Member) 

a�� 
Title: {!,un'J' Ad M•H.LS fr4.,fa,r-

Illinois Public Risk Fund / General Corporate I Pooling Agreement - February 2018 /266703 



Discussion Item:  
Regional Board of Education 



Update: Rural Transit 



 
 
Report to Winnebago County OperaƟons and AdministraƟve CommiƩee  
November 20, 2025 / 5:30 PM 
 

1) Ridership  
a. During the first three (3) months of State Fiscal Year 2026, ridership has been 

steadily growing in the Rural Winnebago County transit service area.  
b. During July a total of 26 rides were provided to residents in rural Winnebago 

County. Since then, the ridership has grown to 100 rides in August and then 102 
in September. The full ridership view for the 1st QTR of SFY 26, along with year-to-
date totals, is provided below.  

c. Reagan Mass Transit District has been coordinaƟng rides in the urban area of 
Rockford with Rockford Mass Transit District with transfers being made between 
district operaƟons.  
 
Month Rides Service Hours Miles Traveled 
July   26   19.47    615 
August 100   44.68 1,573 
September 102   41.75 1,462 
1st QTR TOTAL 228 105.90 3,650 
    
October 135 54.34 1,954 
TOTAL, YTD 363 160.24 5,604 

 
2) Vehicle Delivery 

a. During the first quarter of SFY 26, the first minivan for use in RWCPT was picked 
up by Reagan Mass Transit District and ouƞiƩed with a full vehicle wrap.  

b. A second minivan was iniƟally being held at the distributor of the vehicles for a 
re-call noƟce. It is our understanding the re-call work has now been completed 
and the mini-van is now available for scheduling for pickup by Reagan Mass 
Transit District.  

c. There was some confusion about the third vehicle (a 12-passenger light duty bus) 
for use in RWCPT service area. Reagan MTD is working with IDOT to resolve this 
maƩer.  
  

3) Expense Reimbursement 
a. The first three months (July – September) of expense acƟvity have been 

completed and processed by IDOT, following review by the County’s Finance 
Department, specifically Rhonda Meyer-Boeke and Molly Terrinoni.  

b. The three months of payment are being processed by the Illinois Comptroller. 
c. Work will begin shortly on processing the expenses associated with the operaƟon 

during October.  



 
 

 
4) Other Developments 

a. Work is conƟnuing to make more of the rural populaƟon of Winnebago County 
aware of the public transportaƟon service available to residents.  

b. During the first quarter of SFY 26, Reagan MTD staff aƩended community events, 
most recently NaƟonal Night Out in the community of Winnebago to share 
informaƟon about rides, the associated fares and how to schedule a ride.  

c. Also, during the first quarter, Reagan MTD staff met with officials of Rockford 
College to discuss possible partnership in geƫng students to the college’s 
locaƟons.   

d. Reagan MTD is seeking addiƟonal community events within Rural Winnebago 
County where the available transit services can be highlighted. PresentaƟons to 
community organizaƟons can be provided. Contact Greg Gates and/or Steve 
Davis of Reagan MTD at (815) 288-2117.  
 

5) The first quarter of acƟvity also witnessed the execuƟon of contracts – specifically the 
5311 and DOAP (Downstate OperaƟng Assistance Program) agreements – between the 
Illinois Department of TransportaƟon and Winnebago County. An addiƟonal source of 
revenue (CARES) has been earmarked for use in the service area with the specific intent 
to provide greater exposure. This is focused on the acƟvity in promoƟng the system prior 
to its start on July 1, 2025.  

i. 5311 funding ($207,684) 
ii. DOAP funding ($798,800) 

iii. CARES funding ($20,800) 
 

6) Thank you for your conƟnued support of Rural Winnebago County Public TransportaƟon 
 
Report submiƩed by:  
 
Greg Gates, ExecuƟve Director, Reagan MTD 
Steve Davis, Assistant Director of OperaƟons, Reagan MTD 



Discussion Item:  Raffle 


	Agenda
	Approval of Minutes
	Resolution Awarding Renewal with Tokio Marine HCC for Stop-Loss Insurance Coverage on the Group Medical Plans
	Resolution Awarding Renewal Agreement with Arthur J. Gallagher for the Property & Casualty Coverage
	Resolution Awarding Purchase of Recorder’s Office Remodel Using Fee Funds
	Resolution Awarding IT Ticketing and Patch Management 3 Year Renewal
	Ordinance Amending Section 62-242 [Claim Settlement Policies] of the Winnebago County Code of Ordinances
	Discussion Item: Regional Board of Education
	Update: Rural Transit
	Discussion Item: Raffle
	Other Matters
	Future Agenda Items
	Adjournment



